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Part I
Item 1. Business
Organization of Business
Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) are one of the nation’s leading diversified health care benefits
companies, based on membership as of December 31, 2005. Aetna Inc. was incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1982 under the name of United States Health
Care Systems, Inc.

Operating Segments
At December 31, 2005, the Company’s operations included three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. The principal
products included in these segments are as follows:

•

Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefits management, dental and vision plans offered on both a Risk basis (where the Company assumes
all or a majority of the risk for medical and dental care costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor assumes all or a majority of the
risk for medical and dental costs). Medical plans include point-of-service (“POS”), health maintenance organization (“HMO”), preferred provider
organization (“PPO”) and indemnity benefit (“Indemnity”) products. Health plans also include health savings accounts (“HSAs”) and Aetna
HealthFund ®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS, PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an
accumulating benefit account. Health Care also offers network access products in select markets and other products, including medical management
services, behavioral health and stop loss insurance. The Company also provides access to networks of independent dental and vision participating
providers through its Vital Savings by Aetna SM discount program.

•

Group Insurance products include life, disability and long-term care insurance.

•

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for tax qualified pension plans.

The Company derives its revenues primarily from premiums earned on risk-based products, fees from administrative services contracts, investments and
other income. Revenue and profit information by business segment is presented in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations (“MD&A”) and is set forth in Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual
Report.

Company Strategy
The Company’s strategy is to establish a leadership position in the health care benefits industry through consumerism, innovation, information and strategic
acquisitions.

Evolution of the Health Insurance and Related Benefits Industry and the Company’s Businesses
The health insurance and related benefits industry continues to experience significant change. Employers, consumers and the government have increased focus
on health care costs, which continue to drive changes in the structure of health insurance and related benefits products and services. Product features continue
to evolve that are directed at containing rising health care costs, and, for employer-based health coverage, shifting costs among employers and covered
employee members. These economic factors and greater consumer awareness are also leading to increased popularity of products that offer greater flexibility in
design features such as deductibles and co-payments, more consumer choice of health care providers and quality-based physician networks. The industry is
also subject to other forces including legislative and regulatory reforms, advances in medical technology, or industry consolidation that can affect the
competitiveness of product and service offerings, the range of industry competitors and basis of competition.
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The Company believes that these factors will exist for some time, supporting a continuing evolution in the industry. The Company places significant
emphasis on maintaining and developing its product and service offerings to serve existing and new customer markets and has done so through organic and
inorganic growth. In recent periods this focus has led to the introduction of new products, such as the Company’s consumer-directed Aetna HealthFund ®,
HSA plans and recently introduced Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, changes to deductibles, co-payments or other features of its traditional health
plans, and AexcelSM, the Company’s quality-based specialist physician network. As the Company enhances its product capabilities and geographic presence,
it continually evaluates acquisitions and other transactions that present key growth opportunities. In an effort to expand and diversify its products and
capabilities, the Company engaged in the following transactions during 2005, and believes that it will continue to execute business development transactions:

Aetna Behavioral Health – In December 2005, the Company purchased the assets and operations of Magellan Health Services, Inc. (“Magellan”)
previously used to provide behavioral health care services to the Company’s members. The transaction is a result of an agreement the Company negotiated
with Magellan in March 2003. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company launched a full-service behavioral health business.

Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC (“ASP”) – In December 2005, the Company purchased the remaining interest in ASP, a joint venture the Company
launched with Priority Health Care Corporation (“PHCC”) in 2004, to better serve Aetna members with conditions that require specialty pharmaceuticals.
The Company had owned 40% of the joint venture, with an option to purchase the remaining interest, which accelerated upon the change in control of
PHCC in October 2005. This joint venture compliments the Company’s mail-order pharmacy, Aetna Rx Home Delivery ®, which was launched in 2003
and has operations in Missouri and Florida.

HMS Healthcare, Inc. (“HMS”) – In July 2005, the Company acquired HMS, a privately held regional health care network with operations primarily
in Michigan and Colorado.

Active Health Management, Inc. (“Active Health”) – In May 2005, the Company acquired Active Health, a privately held health management and
health care data analytics company.

Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”) – In January 2005, the Company acquired SRC, a privately held administrator of group limited benefit
products for part-time and hourly workers. The Company acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the insurance contracts administered by
SRC.
Additionally, on February 27, 2006, the Company announced its agreement with Broadspire Services, Inc. and Broadspire Management Services, Inc. to
acquire its disability and leave management businesses, which operates as a third party administrator offering absence management services, including shortterm and long-term disability administration and leave management to employers. The Company expects to close this transaction during the second quarter of
2006.
Description of the Business

Health Care
Products and Services
Health Care products consist of medical, dental and pharmacy benefits management plans offered on both a risk basis (where the Company assumes all or a
majority of the financial risk for health care costs) (“Risk”) and an employer-funded basis (where the employer or other plan sponsor under an administrative
services contract (“ASC”) assumes all or a majority of this risk). Medical plans include HMO, POS, PPO and Indemnity products. Medical plans also
include HSAs and Aetna HealthFund ®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible,
with an accumulating benefit account (which may be funded by the plan sponsor or member in the case of HSAs). The Company’s principal commercial
health products (excluding Medicare and Medicaid products) are referred to as “Commercial” and, are described in the following paragraphs.
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HMO Plans
HMO plans offer comprehensive benefits generally through contracts with participating network physicians, hospitals and other providers. When an
individual enrolls in one of the Company’s HMOs, he or she may select a primary care physician (“PCP”) from among the physicians participating in
our network. PCPs generally are family practitioners, internists, general practitioners or pediatricians who provide necessary preventive and primary
medical and dental care, and are generally responsible for coordinating other necessary health care, including making referrals to participating network
specialists. The Company also offers open access HMO plans in certain markets that provides for the full range of benefits available to HMO members
without the requirements of PCP selection or PCP referrals. The Company offers HMO plans with differing benefit designs and varying levels of copayments that result in different levels of premium rates, including to federal government employee groups under the Federal Employees Health Benefits
Program.

Indemnity Plans
Indemnity plans offer the member the ability to select any health care provider for covered services. Some care management features may be included in
these plans, such as inpatient precertification, disease management programs and benefits for preventive services. Coverage typically is subject to
deductibles and coinsurance. In these plans, as with the Company’s other health plans, member cost sharing for covered services generally is limited by
out-of-pocket maximums.

POS Plans
POS plans blend the characteristics of HMO and Indemnity plans. Members can have comprehensive HMO-style benefits for services received from
participating network providers with lower co-payments, but also have coverage, generally at higher co-payment or co-insurance levels, for services
received outside the network. The Company also offers an open access POS plan in certain markets that provides in-network benefits without PCP
selection or referral.

PPO Plans
PPO plans offer coverage for services received from any health care provider, with benefits generally paid at a higher level when care is received from a
participating network provider. Coverage typically is subject to deductibles and co-payments or coinsurance. Group limited benefit products for part-time
and hourly workers utilize PPO plans.

Consumer-Directed Plans
The Company also offers several products that are designed to increase the direct involvement of consumers in the responsibility for accumulation and
spending of health benefit funds. Aetna HealthFund ® and HSA plans are consumer-directed plans that combine a traditional HMO, POS or PPO
coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account allowing members greater flexibility in utilizing a portion of their health benefit
dollars.

Other Products
Through the use of its patented Care Engine ® system, the Company’s Active Health Management business provides evidence-based medical management
and data analytics products and services to a broad range of customers, including health plans, employers and others.

The Company also maintains a regional health care network with operations in Michigan, Colorado and other states. The Company provides access to
this network to a broad range of customers, including health plans and employers, for a fee.
In connection with the administration of ASC plans, the Company offers full-risk stop loss coverage for certain employers. This coverage transfers to the
Company the costs associated with large individual claims and/or aggregate loss experience within the ASC plan above a pre-set annual threshold.

The Vital Savings by Aetna SM discount program provides members access to networks of independent dental, pharmacy, long term care and vision
participating providers who offer services at a discounted fee. Vital Savings by Aetna SM is not an insurance product.
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In addition to Commercial health products, in select markets the Company also offers HMO and PPO-based coverage for Medicare beneficiaries, participates
in a subsidized children’s health insurance program (“CHIP”) and has a Medicaid and a CHIP ASC arrangement. These products include the following:

Medicare
Through annual contracts with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), the Company offers HMO and PPO plans for Medicare-eligible
individuals in certain geographic areas through the Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) program. Members typically receive enhanced
benefits over standard Medicare fee-for-service coverage, including reduced cost-sharing preventative care, vision and other non-Medicare services. Given
recent changes in Medicare resulting from the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Modernization
Act”), the Company expanded its Medicare Advantage program in select markets in 2005 and now offers it in 165 counties in 13 states and Washington
D.C. Medicare Advantage membership totaled .1 million as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
The Company was selected by CMS to be a national provider of the Medicare Part D Prescription Drug program (“PDP”) in all 50 states to both
individuals and employer groups starting in 2006. All Medicare eligible individuals will be eligible to participate in this voluntary prescription drug plan.
Members typically receive coverage for certain prescription drugs, usually subject to a deductible, co-insurance and/or co-payment.

Medicaid and CHIP
The Company participates on a Risk basis in a CHIP contract in Pennsylvania, and provides administrative services in connection with a hospital-based
Medicaid and CHIP contract in Texas.
The Company offers a variety of other health care coverage products either as supplements to health products or as stand-alone products. Such products,
which may be offered on a Risk or an ASC basis, include indemnity and managed dental plans, pharmacy benefit management, vision and behavioral health
programs. The Company is one of the nation’s largest providers of dental coverage, based on membership at December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005,
dental membership totaled 13.1 million compared to 12.0 million as of December 31, 2004 and 10.9 million as of December 31, 2003.
Provider Networks

The Company contracts with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers for services provided to its health plan members and the members of its
customers. The participating providers in the Company’s networks are independent contractors and are neither employees nor agents of the Company, except
for providers in the Company’s mail-order and specialty pharmacy facilities.
The Company uses a variety of techniques designed to help improve optimal utilization of medical resources and maintain affordability of quality coverage. In
addition to contracts with health care providers for negotiated rates of reimbursement, these techniques include the development and implementation of
standards for the appropriate utilization of health care resources and working with health care providers to review data in order to help them improve
consistency and quality. The Company also offers, directly or in cooperation with third parties, a variety of disease management programs related to specific
conditions such as asthma, diabetes, congestive heart failure and lower back pain.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had expansive nationwide provider networks of more than 721,000 health care providers, including over 431,200
primary care and specialist physicians and over 4,300 hospitals.
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Primary Care Physicians
The Company compensates PCPs on both a fee-for-service and capitated basis, with capitation generally limited to HMO products. In a fee-for-service
arrangement, network physicians are paid for health care services provided to the member based upon a fee schedule. Under a capitation arrangement,
physicians receive a monthly fixed fee for each member, regardless of the medical services provided to the member. In recent years, the Company has
eliminated or reduced the use of capitation arrangements in many areas. The percentage of health care costs related to capitation arrangements was 7.9%
for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 9.1% and 10.9% for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Specialist Physicians
Specialist physicians participating in the Company’s networks are generally reimbursed at contracted rates per visit or procedure. In 2004, the Company
introduced AexcelSM, an innovative quality-based specialist network option within the customer’s health plan, in certain geographic areas.

Hospitals
The Company typically enters into contracts with hospitals that provide for per day and/or per case rates, often with fixed rates for ambulatory, surgery
and emergency room services. The Company also has hospital contracts that provide for reimbursement based on a percentage of the charges billed by the
hospital.
The Company’s medical plans generally require notification of elective hospital admissions, and the Company monitors the length of hospital stays.
Participating physicians generally admit their HMO and POS patients to participating hospitals using referral procedures that direct the hospital to contact
the Company’s patient management unit, which confirms the patient’s membership status while obtaining pertinent data. This unit also assists members
and providers with related activities, including the subsequent transition to the home environment and home care, if necessary. Case management
assistance for complex or “catastrophic” cases is provided by a special case unit.

Other Providers
The Company’s plans generally employ fee-for-service payment arrangements for most freestanding laboratory services.

Quality Assessment
The Company’s quality assessment programs for directly contracted providers begin with the initial review of health care practitioners. Practitioners’ licenses
and education are verified, and their work history is collected by the Company or in some cases by the practitioner’s affiliated group or organization. A
committee of participating practitioners in each region reviews this information before the practitioner can participate in the network. Participating practitioners
also periodically undergo a recredentialing process. Participating hospitals are required to have accreditation by CMS and the Joint Commission on
Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations or undergo a detailed site assessment by the Company’s quality management staff.

Recredentialing of practitioners may include an analysis of member grievances filed with the Company, interviews, member surveys and analysis of drug
prescription and other utilization patterns. Committees composed of a peer group of participating practitioners review participating practitioners being
considered for recredentialing.

The Company also offers quality and outcome measurement programs, quality improvement programs and health care data analysis systems to providers and
purchasers of health care services.
The Company seeks accreditation for most of its HMO plans from the National Committee for Quality Assurance (the “NCQA”), a national organization
established to review the quality and medical management systems of HMOs and certain other health care plans. NCQA accreditation is a nationally
recognized standard. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 99% of the Company’s HMO members participated in HMOs that had received accreditation
by the NCQA.
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The Company seeks accreditation for its PPO-based and other products from the American Accreditation Health Care Commission (also known as “URAC”),
a national organization founded in 1990 to establish standards for the health care industry. Purchasers and consumers look to URAC’s accreditation as an
indication that a health care organization has the necessary structures and processes to promote high quality care and preserve patient rights. In addition,
regulators in over half of the states recognize URAC’s accreditation standards in the regulatory process. Aetna Life Insurance Company (“ALIC”), a whollyowned subsidiary of Aetna, has received URAC accreditation extending through May 1, 2006.

Principal Markets and Sales
The Company’s medical membership is dispersed throughout the United States. The Company offers a wide array of benefit plans, many of which are
available in all 50 states. Depending on the product, the Company markets to a range of customers from individuals and small employer groups to large,
multi-site national accounts.
The following table presents total medical membership by region and funding arrangement at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:
2005

(Thousands)

Northeast
Mid-Atlantic
Southeast
North Central
Southwest
West
Other
Total medical
membership

2003

2004

Risk

ASC

Total

Risk

ASC

Total

Risk

ASC

Total

1,205
1,122
894
542
596

2,570
2,627
2,459
2,715
2,150
2,060

2,079
1,376
1,211
8

2,441
2,513
2,242
2,550
1,933
1,884
93

1,054
927
779

1,221
1,457
1,415
2,009
1,294
1,144

174

1,143
1,043
809
471
557
673
85

1,298
1,470

109

1,365
1,505
1,565
2,173
1,554
1,312
65

4

2,275
2,384
2,194
2,422
1,823
1,837
67

5,216

9,539

14,755

4,781

8,875

13,656

4,458

8,544

13,002

748

1,433

413

529
693
63

For membership composition of Health Care’s products by funding arrangement, refer to MD&A — Health Care — Membership in the Annual Report, which
is incorporated herein by reference.
Both Risk and ASC products and services are marketed primarily to employers (also referred to in this report as “plan sponsors”) for the benefit of employees
and their dependents. Frequently, employers offer employees a choice among coverage options, from which the employee makes his or her selection during a
designated annual open enrollment period. Employers pay all of the monthly premiums to the Company and, through payroll deductions, obtain
reimbursement from employees for a percentage, as determined by the employer, of such monthly premium.

Within Risk products, Medicare coverage is sold on an individual basis as well as through employer groups to their retirees. Medicaid and subsidized CHIP
arrangements are marketed on an individual basis.
Health Care products are sold through the Company’s sales personnel, as well as independent brokers and consultants. Sales representatives also sell to
employers on a direct basis. For large plan sponsors, independent consultants and brokers are frequently involved in employer health plan selection decisions
and sales. Marketing and sales efforts are promoted by an advertising program which includes television, radio, billboards and print media, supported by
market research and direct marketing efforts.
Health Pricing

For Commercial Risk plans, employer group contracts are generally established in advance of the policy period, typically for a duration of one year. In
determining the premium rates to be charged to the employer group, prospective and retrospective rating methodologies may be used. Premium rates generally
give consideration to the individual plan sponsor’s historical and anticipated claim experience. Some states may prohibit the use of one or more of these rating
methods for some customers, such as small employer groups, or all customers.
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Under prospective rating, a fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Unanticipated increases in medical costs cannot be
recovered in the current policy year; however, prior experience for a product in the aggregate may be considered, among other factors, in determining premium
rates for future periods. Where required by law, the Company establishes premium rates prior to contract inception without regard to actual utilization of
services incurred by individual members, using approved rating methods. State laws, in some of the states in which the Company operates plans, require the
filing with and approval by the state of plan premium rates (some states only require this for premiums to small groups). In addition to reviewing anticipated
medical costs, some states also review anticipated administrative costs as part of the approval process. Future results of the Company could be adversely
affected if the premium rates requested by the Company are not approved or are adjusted downward by state regulators.
Under retrospective rating, a premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. After the policy period has ended, the actual experience is
reviewed. If the experience is favorable (i.e., actual claim costs and other expenses are less than expected) a refund may be credited to the plan sponsor. If the
experience is unfavorable, the resulting deficit may, in certain instances, be recovered through contractual provisions; otherwise the deficit is considered in
setting future premium levels. If a plan sponsor elects to terminate coverage, these deficits generally cannot be recovered. Retrospective rating may be used for
commercial plans that cover more than 300 lives.

The Company has Medicare Advantage contracts with CMS to provide HMO and PPO coverage to Medicare beneficiaries in certain geographic areas. Under
these annual contracts, CMS pays the Company a fixed capitation payment based on membership and adjusted for demographic and health risk factors.
Inflation, changes in utilization patterns and average per capita fee-for-service Medicare costs are also considered in the calculation of the fixed capitation
payment by CMS. Amounts payable under Medicare Advantage arrangements are subject to annual revision by CMS, and the Company elects to participate
in each Medicare service area or region on an annual basis. In addition to payments received from CMS, most of the Medicare Advantage products offered by
the Company require a supplemental premium to be paid by the member or sponsoring employer. Compared to commercial business, Medicare contracts
generate higher per member per month revenues and medical expenses.

In addition, beginning in 2006, the Company has contracted with CMS to provide Medicare PDP coverage to Medicare beneficiaries. Under these annual
contracts, CMS pays the Company a portion of the premium, reinsures a portion of or pays a capitated fee to the Company for catastrophic drug costs, pays
a portion of the health care costs for low-income Medicare beneficiaries and provides a risk sharing arrangement to limit the Company’s exposure to unexpected
expenses. The portion of the premium CMS pays is based on the average of bids submitted by the private sector plans for particular regions. Catastrophic
drug costs are reinsured when the Medicare beneficiary reaches an out-of-pocket drug cost threshold. The Company offers plans with enhanced benefits that
may pay a portion of the beneficiary’s drug costs in excess of the actuarial equivalent of the standard prescription drug plan. For these products, CMS pays a
capitated amount to the Company in lieu of reinsurance for catastrophic drug costs. Low income beneficiaries, based on their income and asset levels, have
some or all of their costs associated with premiums and drug costs paid by CMS. The risk sharing arrangement provides for payments either to or from CMS
depending on the relationship between allowable drug costs incurred by the Company and established targets. Amounts payable under the prescription drug
plan are subject to annual revision by CMS, and the Company elects to participate on an annual basis.

The Company also has HMO and consumer-directed contracts to serve a variety of federal government employee groups under the Federal Employees Health
Benefit Program. Premium rates are subject to federal government review and audit, which can result in retroactive and prospective premium adjustments.
Contracts with plan sponsors to provide administrative services for employer-funded plans are generally for a period of one year. Some of the Company’s
contracts include guarantees with respect to certain functions such as customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing
turnaround time as well as certain guarantees that claim expenses to be incurred by plan sponsors will fall within a specified range. With any of these
guarantees, the Company is financially at risk if the conditions of the arrangements are not met, although the maximum at risk is typically 10% — 30% of
fees for the customer involved.
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Competition

Competition in the health care industry is highly competitive, primarily due to a large number of competitors, competitor marketing and pricing, and a
proliferation of competing products, including new products that are continually being introduced into the market. New entrants into the marketplace as well
as significant consolidation within the industry have contributed to the competitive environment.

The Company believes that the significant factors that distinguish competing health plans are perceived overall quality (including accreditation status), quality
of service, comprehensiveness of coverage, cost (including both premium and member out-of-pocket costs), product design, financial stability, the geographic
scope of provider networks, and the providers available in such networks. The Company believes that it is competitive on each of these factors. The ability to
increase the number of persons covered by the Company’s plans or to increase revenues is affected by our ability to differentiate ourselves from our
competitors on these factors. In addition, the ability to increase the number of persons enrolled in Risk products is affected by the desire and ability of
employers to self fund their health coverage. Competition may also affect the availability of services from health care providers, including primary care
physicians, specialists and hospitals.

Within Risk products, the Company competes with local and regional managed care plans, in addition to managed care plans sponsored by large health
insurance companies and Blue Cross/Blue Shield plans. Additional competitors include other types of medical and dental provider organizations, various
specialty service providers, integrated health care delivery organizations, and in certain plans, programs sponsored by the federal or state governments.

With regard to ASC plans, the Company competes primarily with other large commercial health benefit companies, Blue Cross/Blue Shield plans and third
party administrators.
Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information

Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Health Care’s business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A —
Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors and the MD&A – Overview in the Annual Report.

Group Insurance
Principal Products
Group Insurance products consist primarily of the following:

•

Life Insurance Products consist principally of renewable term life insurance coverage, the amounts of which may be fixed or linked to individual
employee wage levels. Basic, supplemental, spouse and dependent term life coverage, and group universal life and accidental death and

dismemberment coverage are also available. Life products are offered on a Risk basis. As of December 31, 2005, Life product membership totaled
10.8 million compared to 10.9 million as of December 31, 2004 and 10.0 million as of December 31, 2003.

•

Disability Insurance Products provide employee income replacement benefits for both short-term and long-term disability. The Company also offers
disability products with additional case management features. Similar to Health Care products, disability benefits are offered on both a Risk and
employer-funded basis. As of December 31, 2005, disability membership totaled 2.6 million compared to 2.3 million as of December 31, 2004 and
2.1 million as of December 31, 2003.

•

Long-Term Care Insurance Products provide benefits to cover the cost of care in private home settings, adult day care, assisted living or nursing
facilities. Long term care benefits are offered primarily on a Risk basis. The product is available on both a service reimbursement and disability
basis. The Company does not actively market the disability product although the product and rate filings remain in full effect. Long-term care
membership totaled .2 million as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Group Insurance members may utilize more than one Company product, and multi-product cases have been counted in membership totals for each product
description above.
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Principal Markets and Sales
Products offered by Group Insurance are available in 49 states (Group Insurance products are not offered in New Mexico) as well as the District of Columbia,
Guam, Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands and Canada. Depending on the product, the Company markets to a range of customers from small
employer groups to large, multi-site and/or multi-state employer programs.
Group Insurance products and services are marketed primarily to employers for the benefit of employees and their dependents. Frequently, employers offer
employees a choice of benefits, from which the employee makes his or her selection during a designated annual open enrollment period. Typically, employers
pay all of the monthly premiums to the Company and, through payroll deductions, obtain reimbursement from employees for a percentage, as determined by
the employer, of the monthly premium. Some products are sold on a fully employee-paid basis, and some billing is done on an individual basis.

Group Insurance products are sold through the Company’s sales personnel, as well as independent brokers and consultants who assist in the production and
servicing of business. Sales representatives also sell to employers on a direct basis. For large plan sponsors, independent consultants and brokers are
frequently involved in employer plan selection decisions and sales. Marketing and sales efforts are promoted by an advertising program that may include
television, radio, billboards and print media, supported by market research and direct marketing efforts.
Pricing

For Risk Group Insurance plans, employer group contracts are generally established in advance of the policy period. In determining the premium rates to be
charged to the employer group, prospective and retrospective rating methodologies are used.
Under prospective rating, a fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Unanticipated increases in mortality or morbidity costs
cannot be recovered in the current policy period; however, prior experience for the specific customer and/or the product in aggregate is considered, among other
factors, in determining premium rates for future policy periods.

Under retrospective rating, a premium rate is determined at the beginning of a policy period. After the policy period has ended, the actual experience is
reviewed. If the experience is favorable (i.e., actual claim costs and other expenses are less than expected) a refund may be credited to the plan sponsor. If the
experience is unfavorable, the resulting deficit is considered in setting future premium levels; otherwise, in certain circumstances, the deficit may be recovered
through contractual provisions. Such deficits may be used as offsets against refund credits that develop for future policy periods. If a customer elects to
terminate coverage, deficits may not be recovered. Retrospective rating is most often used for insured employer funded plans that cover more than 3,000 lives
and $500,000 in annual premiums.
Competition

For the group insurance industry, the Company believes that the most significant factors which distinguish competing companies are price, quality of service,
comprehensiveness of coverage, and product array and design. Specialty carriers have increased market penetration in the life and disability business. The
group life market remains highly competitive.
Reinsurance

The Company has several reinsurance agreements with nonaffiliated insurers related to Group Insurance products. For long-term disability products, there are
excess of loss arrangements that provide protection against large claims. Additional reinsurance arrangements include quota share treaties on several large cases
that are established on a case by case basis.
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Group Life Insurance In Force and Other Statistical Data
The following table summarizes changes in group life insurance in force before deductions for reinsurance ceded to other companies for the years indicated:
(Dollars in Millions)

In force, end of year
Terminations (lapses and all other)
Number of policies and contracts in force, end of year:
Group Life Contracts (1)
Group Conversion Policies (2)
(1)

2005

2004

2003

$559,979
$ 64,768

$513,452
$ 50,602

$ 473,483
$ 51,983

18,292
22,277

14,243

11,791

23,160

24,448

Due to the diversity of coverages and size of covered groups, statistics are not provided for average size of policies in force.

(2) Reflects conversion privileges exercised by insureds under group life policies to replace those policies with individual life policies.

Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information

Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Group Insurance’s business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A —
Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors and the MD&A – Overview in the Annual Report.

Large Case Pensions
Principal Products
Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for Internal Revenue Code Section 401
qualified pension plans. Contracts provide non-guaranteed, experience-rated and guaranteed investment options through general and separate account products.
Large Case Pensions’ products that use separate accounts provide contract holders with a vehicle for investments under which the contract holders assume the
investment risk. Large Case Pensions earns a management fee on these separate accounts.

In 1993, the Company discontinued its fully guaranteed Large Case Pensions products. Information regarding these products is incorporated herein by
reference to the MD&A — Large Case Pensions - Discontinued Products in the Annual Report. Additionally, the Company does not actively market its other
Large Case Pensions products, but continues to manage the run-off of existing business.
Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information

Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Large Case Pensions’ business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A —
Overview in the Annual Report.

Other Matters
Access to Reports
Aetna’s reports to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, if any, are available without charge on the Company’s website at http://www.aetna.com as
soon as practicable after they are electronically filed or furnished to the SEC. Copies are also available, without charge, from Aetna’s Investor Relations
Department, 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, CT 06156.

Regulation
Information regarding significant regulations affecting the Company is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A — Regulatory Environment and
Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors, in the Annual Report.

Trademarks
The trademarks Aetna ® and Care Engine ®, together with the corresponding Aetna design logo, are owned by the Company. The Company considers these
trademarks and its other trademarks and trade names important in the operation of its business. However, the business of the Company, including that of
each of its individual segments, is not dependent on any individual trademark or trade name.
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Ratings
Information regarding the Company’s ratings is incorporated herein by reference to the ratings table in the MD&A — Liquidity and Capital Resources –
Ratings in the Annual Report.

Miscellaneous

The Company had approximately 28,200 domestic employees at December 31, 2005.
The federal government is a significant customer of the Health Care segment and the Company, with premiums and fees accounting for approximately 10.1%
of the Health Care segment’s revenue in 2005. Contracts with CMS for coverage of Medicare-eligible individuals accounted for 51.0% of these premiums and
fees, with the balance from federal employee related benefit programs. No individual customer, in any of the Company’s segments, accounted for 10% or more
of the Company’s consolidated revenues in 2005. The Company’s segments are not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers, the loss of which
would have a significant effect on the earnings of a segment. The loss of business from any one, or a few, independent brokers or agents would not have a
material adverse effect on the earnings of the Company or any of its segments. Refer to Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which is
incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report, regarding segment information.

The Company carries excess professional liability insurance.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
The information contained in the MD&A – Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
The principal office of the Company is a building complex located at 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, Connecticut that is approximately 1.2 million square
feet in size. The principal office is used by all the Company’s business segments. The Company also owns or leases other space in the greater Hartford area;
Blue Bell, Pennsylvania; and various field locations throughout the country. Such properties are primarily used by the Company’s Health Care segment. The
Company believes its properties are adequate and suitable for its business as presently conducted.
The foregoing does not include numerous investment properties held by the Company in its general and separate accounts.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Managed Care Class Action Litigation
From 1999 through early 2003, the Company was involved in purported class action lawsuits as part of a wave of similar actions targeting the health care
payor industry and, in particular, the conduct of business by managed care companies. These cases, brought on behalf of health care providers (the “Provider
Cases”), alleged generally that the Company and other defendant managed care organizations engaged in coercive behavior or a variety of improper business
practices in dealing with health care providers and conspired with one another regarding this purported wrongful conduct.
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Effective May 21, 2003, the Company and representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies entered into an agreement (the
“Physician Settlement Agreement”) settling the lead physician Provider Case, which was pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of Florida (the “Florida Federal Court”). The Company believes that the Physician Settlement Agreement, which has received final court approval, resolved all
then pending Provider Cases filed on behalf of physicians that did not opt out of the settlement. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a
charge of $75 million ($115 million pretax) (included in other operating expenses) in connection with the Physician Settlement Agreement, net of an estimated
insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax. The Company believes its insurance policies with its third party insurance carriers apply to this matter and is
vigorously pursuing recovery from those carriers. The Company has not received any insurance recoveries as of December 31, 2005. The Company continues
to work with plaintiffs’ representatives in implementing the Physician Settlement Agreement and the issues that may arise thereunder.

Several Provider Cases filed in 2003 on behalf of purported classes of chiropractors and/or all non-physician health care providers also make factual and legal
allegations similar to those contained in the other Provider Cases, including allegations of violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
Act. These Provider Cases seek various forms of relief, including unspecified damages, treble damages, punitive damages and injunctive relief. These
Provider Cases have been transferred to the Florida Federal Court for consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Company intends to defend each of these cases
vigorously.

Insurance Industry Brokerage Practices Matters
The Company has received subpoenas and other requests for information from the New York Attorney General, the Connecticut Attorney General, other
attorneys general and various insurance and other regulators with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices,
including broker compensation arrangements, bid quoting practices and potential antitrust violations. The Company may receive additional subpoenas and
requests for information from these attorneys general and regulators. The Company is cooperating with these inquiries.

In connection with this industry wide review, the Company may receive additional subpoenas and requests for information from other attorneys general and
other regulators, and the Company could be named in related litigation.

Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings
The Company is involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business operations, including employment
litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with state regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely pay medical
claims, investment activities, intellectual property and other litigation in its Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or
are purported to be class actions. The Company intends to defend these matters vigorously.
In addition, the Company’s current and past business practices are subject to review by, and the Company from time to time receives subpoenas and other
requests for information from, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities and other state and federal authorities. There also continues to be
heightened review by regulatory authorities of the managed health care industry’s business practices, including utilization management, delegated arrangements
and claim payment practices. As a leading national managed care organization, the Company regularly is the subject of such reviews. These reviews may
result, and have resulted, in changes to or clarifications of the Company’s business practices, as well as fines, penalties or other sanctions.
The Company is unable to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of the remaining Provider Cases, the insurance industry brokerage practices investigations
or other litigation and regulatory proceedings, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF AETNA INC.
The Chairman is elected by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and all other executive officers listed below are appointed by the Board at its Annual Meeting,
and such persons hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Board or until their successors are elected or appointed. None of these officers has a family
relationship with any other executive officer or Director. In addition, there exist no arrangements or understandings, other than those with Directors or officers
of the Company acting solely in their capacities as such, pursuant to which these executive officers were appointed.
Name of Executive Officer

Position *

John W. Rowe, M.D.

Chairman

61

Ronald A. Williams

Chief Executive Officer and President

56

Mark T. Bertolini

Executive Vice President, Regional Businesses

49

James K. Foreman

Executive Vice President, National Businesses

47

Alan M. Bennett

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

55

Troyen A. Brennan, M.D.

Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer

51

Craig R. Callen

Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business Development

50

William J. Casazza

Senior Vice President and General Counsel

50

Timothy A. Holt

Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Enterprise Risk Officer

52

Age *

*As of February 28, 2006
Executive Officers’ Business Experience During Past Five Years

John W. Rowe, M.D., became Chairman of the Company on April 1, 2001. He served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company from September 15, 2000
to February 14, 2006 and served as President of the Company from September 15, 2000 to May 27, 2002. Dr. Rowe plans to retire from the Company no later
than the end of 2006.

Ronald A. Williams became Chief Executive Officer of the Company on February 14, 2006, succeeding Dr. Rowe, and has served as President since
May 27, 2002. He served as Executive Vice President and Chief of Health Operations from March 15, 2001 to May 27, 2002.
Mark T. Bertolini became Executive Vice President, Regional Businesses on February 1, 2006, having served as Senior Vice President, Regional Businesses
since September 2005. Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President, Specialty Group from April 2005 to September 2005 and as Senior Vice President,
Specialty Products from February 2003 to April 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Bertolini served as Senior Vice President, Regional Segment and
Middle Market Growth of CIGNA Corporation (“CIGNA”) from November 2002 to February 2003 and as Senior Vice President, National Sales and Delivery
of CIGNA from October 2000 to November 2002.
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James K. Foreman became Executive Vice President, National Businesses on February 1, 2006, having served as Senior Vice President, National
Businesses since September 2005. Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President, National Accounts and Global Benefits from February 2005 to
September 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Foreman served as Managing Director, Global Health and Welfare, Towers Perrin from August 2000 to
February 2005, and managed Towers Perrin’s Chicago consulting office from September 1997 to August 2000.

Alan M. Bennett became Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on September 28, 2001. He served as Vice President and
Corporate Controller from December 2000 to November 2001.

Troyen A. Brennan, M.D., became Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer of the Company on February 21, 2006. Prior to joining the Company,
Dr. Brennan served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Brigham and Women’s Physician Organization, a position he assumed in January 2000, as
Professor of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, since July 1995 and as Professor of Law and Public Health, Harvard School of Public Health, since
July 1992.

Craig R. Callen became Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business Development of the Company on April 28, 2004. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Callen served as a Managing Director of Credit Suisse First Boston and head of U.S. health care in its Investment Banking Group, positions
he assumed in November 2000.

William J. Casazza became Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the Company on September 6, 2005. He served as Senior Vice President and
Deputy General Counsel from July 6, 2004 to September 6, 2005. Prior to that, he served as Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from December 2000
to July 6, 2004. Mr. Casazza also served as Corporate Secretary from October 2000 to January 27, 2006.

Timothy A. Holt became Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Enterprise Risk Officer of the Company on September 24, 2004. He
served as Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer from December 8, 2000 to September 24, 2004.

Part II
Item 5. Market Price for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Aetna Inc.’s common shares (“common stock”) are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. They trade under the symbol AET. As of January 31, 2006, there
were 11,777 record holders of Aetna Inc.’s common stock.

On January 27, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock which was
effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend (the “2006 stock split”). All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 7, 2006 (the
“2006 Shareholders of Record”) received one additional share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional shares of common stock were
distributed to the 2006 Shareholders of Record in the form of a stock dividend on February 17, 2006. All share and per share amounts in this Form 10-K for
periods prior to the 2006 stock split have been adjusted to reflect the 2006 stock split. In connection with the 2006 stock split, the Board approved an
amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. This amendment increased the number of authorized common shares of the Company to 2.9 billion
shares on February 17, 2006.
On February 9, 2005, the Board declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock
dividend (the “2005 stock split”). All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2005 (the “2005 Shareholders of Record”) received one
additional share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional shares of common stock were distributed to the 2005 Shareholders of
Record in the form of a stock dividend on March 11, 2005. All share and per share amounts in this Form 10-K for periods prior to the 2005 stock split have
been adjusted to reflect the 2005 stock split. In connection with the 2005 stock split, the Board approved an amendment to the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation. This amendment increased the number of authorized common shares of the Company to 1.5 billion shares on March 11, 2005.
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On February 25, 2005 and September 29, 2005, the Board authorized (and the Company announced) two share repurchase programs for the repurchase of
up to $750 million of common stock each ($1.5 billion in aggregate).
For the three months ended December 31, 2005, the Company repurchased 9.2 million shares of common stock at a cost of $431 million, completing the
February 25, 2005 authorization and utilizing a portion of the September 29, 2005 authorization. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had authorization
to repurchase up to $581 million of common stock remaining under the September 29, 2005 authorization. On January 27, 2006, the Board authorized (and
the Company announced) an additional $750 million share repurchase program which will commence upon completion of the September 29, 2005
authorization.

The following table provides information about the monthly share repurchases by the Company as part of publicly announced programs for the three months
ended December 31, 2005:
Issuer Purchases Of Equity Securities

Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased Paid per Share

(Millions, except per share amounts)

.2
5.3

October 1, 2005 - October 31, 2005
November 1, 2005 - November 30, 2005
December 1, 2005 - December 31, 2005
Total

$

3.7

9.2

44.27

45.86
$

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or Programs

.2
5.3

48.07

3.7

46.72

9.2

Approximate Dollar

Value of Shares
that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

$

1,001.6
759.6
580.9
N/A

The Company declared, and subsequently paid, an annual cash dividend in the amount of $.02 per share of common stock in 2005 and $.01 per share of
common stock in each of 2004 and 2003. Refer to the MD&A – Liquidity and Capital Resources – Dividends in the Annual Report, incorporated herein by
reference, for additional information regarding dividend payments. Information regarding restrictions on the Company’s present and future ability to pay
dividends is incorporated herein by reference to Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the MD&A — Liquidity and Capital Resources in
the Annual Report. Information regarding quarterly common stock prices is incorporated herein by reference to the Quarterly Data (unaudited) included in the
Annual Report.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The information contained in Selected Financial Data in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The information contained in the MD&A in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The information contained in the MD&A — Investments in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information contained in Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm and Quarterly Data (unaudited) in the Annual Report are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005 was conducted under the supervision and
with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and designed to ensure that material
information relating to Aetna Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others
within those entities, particularly during the periods when periodic reports under the Exchange Act are being prepared. Refer to the Certifications by the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such control, that occurred
during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Executive officers named in the Company’s Proxy Statement (“Named Officers”) are paid annual bonuses under the Aetna Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (the
“Plan”), based on performance goals established by the Company’s Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization (the “Compensation
Committee”) and the Compensation Committee’s discretion. On February 24, 2006, the Compensation Committee established the 2006 performance goals for
the Plan, which are based primarily on consolidated net income and secondarily on consolidated revenue, each for the year ended December 31, 2006. The
maximum bonus payable to a Named Officer under the Plan is $3 million. The Compensation Committee will determine individual bonus amounts in early
2007 based on a review of corporate and individual performance. The Compensation Committee has the right to reduce the maximum amount of any bonus
payment under the Plan.

Part III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
Information concerning Executive Officers of Aetna Inc. is included in Part I pursuant to General Instruction G to Form 10-K.

Information concerning Directors of Aetna Inc., compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company’s Code of Conduct (its
written code of ethics), its audit committee and audit committee financial experts, governance guidelines and related matters is incorporated herein by reference
to the information under the captions “Nominees for Directorships”, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”, “Aetna’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines”, “Aetna’s Code of Conduct”, “Board and Committee Membership; Committee Descriptions” and “Certain Transactions and
Relationships” in the Proxy Statement.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information under the captions “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in 2005,” “Other Information Regarding Directors” and “Executive
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors, Nominees and Executive Officers” and “Executive
Compensation – Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
The information under the captions “Other Information Regarding Directors” and “Certain Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information under the captions “Fees Incurred for 2005 and 2004 Services Performed by the Independent Accountants” and “Nonaudit Services and Other
Relationships Between the Company and the Independent Accountants” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

Financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are
incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report.

Financial statement schedule
The supporting schedule of the consolidated entity is included in this Item 15. Refer to Index to Financial Statement Schedules below.

Exhibits*
Exhibits to the Form 10-K are as follows:

3

Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 8-K filed on February

21, 2006.
3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 8-K filed on October 4, 2005.
4

Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures

4.1 Form of Aetna Inc. Common Share certificate, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement
on Form 10 filed on December 1, 2000.
4.2 Senior Indenture between Aetna Inc. and U. S. Bank National Association, successor interest to State Street Bank and Trust Company, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2001.
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4.3

Form of Subordinated Indenture between Aetna Inc. and U. S. Bank National Association, successor interest to State Street Bank and Trust
Company, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Aetna Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on January 19, 2001.

10

Material contracts

10.1

Form of Distribution Agreement between Aetna’s former parent company and Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Annex C to Aetna’s former
parent company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on October 18, 2000.

10.2

Term Sheet for Agreement between Aetna’s former parent company and Aetna Inc. in respect of the CityPlace property, situated at 185 Asylum Avenue,
Hartford, Connecticut 06103, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Aetna Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on September 1,
2000.

10.3

$1,000,000,000 Amended and Restated Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of January 20, 2006, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to
Aetna Inc.’s Form 8-K filed on January 23, 2006.

10.4

Amended and Restated Aetna Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on

April 28, 2005. **

10.5

Amended and Restated Aetna Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on
October 30, 2003. **

10.6

Form of Aetna Inc. 2001 Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Annex H to Aetna’s former parent company’s definitive proxy
statement on Schedule 14A filed on October 18, 2000. **

10.7

Aetna Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan as Amended through February 17, 2006. **

10.8

1999 Director Charitable Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna’s former parent company Form 10-Q filed on

April 28, 1999. **
10.9

Employment Agreement dated as of September 6, 2000 by and between Aetna’s former parent company and John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Aetna Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on October 18, 2000. **

10.10 Memorandum dated December 6, 2002, from Elease E. Wright to John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Aetna
Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003. **

10.11 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003 between Aetna Inc. and John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2003. **
10.12 Amendment 2 to Employment Agreement dated as of January 3, 2006 between Aetna Inc. and John W. Rowe, M.D. **
10.13 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of December 5, 2003 by and between Aetna Inc. and Ronald A. Williams, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2004. **
10.14 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of January 27, 2006 between Aetna Inc. and Ronald A. Williams. **

10.15 Incentive Stock Unit Agreement between Aetna Inc. and Ronald A. Williams dated as of February 14, 2006, pursuant to the Aetna Inc. 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan. **
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10.16 Employment Agreement dated as of September 28, 2001 between Aetna Inc. and Alan M. Bennett, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003.**

10.17 Letter agreement dated September 22, 2004 between Aetna Inc. and Alan M. Bennett, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Aetna Inc.’s
Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2004. **
10.18 Letter agreement dated April 23, 2004 between Aetna Inc. and Craig R. Callen, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10K filed on March 1, 2005. **

10.19 Memorandum dated January 6, 1997 from Mary Ann Champlin to Timothy A. Holt, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Aetna Inc.’s
Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2004. **
10.20 Memorandum dated July 20, 2000 from Elease E. Wright to Timothy A. Holt, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Aetna Inc.’s Form
10-K filed on February 27, 2004. **

10.21 Description of certain arrangements not embodied in formal documents, as described under the headings “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in
2005,” “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in 2006” and “Other Information Regarding Directors” are incorporated herein by reference to the
Proxy Statement. **

*

Exhibits other than those listed are omitted because they are not required to be listed or are not applicable. Copies of exhibits will be furnished without
charge upon written request to the Office of the Corporate Secretary, Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, Connecticut 06156.

**

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

11

Statement re: computation of per share earnings

11.1

Incorporated herein by reference to Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

12

Statement re: computation of ratios

12.1

Computation of ratios.

13

Annual report to security holders

13.1

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Selected Financial Data, Consolidated Financial
Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Management’s
Responsibility for Financial Statements, Audit Committee Oversight, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Quarterly Data (unaudited) are incorporated herein by
reference to the Annual Report and filed herewith in electronic format.

14

Code of Ethics

14.1

Aetna Inc. Code of Conduct incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003.

21

Subsidiaries of the registrant

21.1

Subsidiaries of Aetna Inc.

23

Consents of experts and counsel

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24

Power of Attorney
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31

Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(e) Certifications

31.1 Certification.
31.2 Certification.

32

Section 1350 Certifications

32.1 Certification.
32.2 Certification.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aetna Inc.:
Under date of March 1, 2006, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, as
contained in the 2005 Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders. These consolidated financial statements and our report thereon are incorporated by
reference in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 2005. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also
audited the related financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index. The financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2006
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Schedule I – Condensed Financial Information of Aetna Inc.

Aetna Inc.
Condensed Statements of Income
For the Years Ended December 31,
2005

(Millions)

$

51.7
26.2
—
77.9
90.8
122.8
213.6
(135.7)
45.9
1,724.3
1,634.5
—
$1,634.5

Service fees-affiliates
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains (losses)
Total revenue
Operating expenses
Interest expense
Total expenses
Loss before income tax benefit and equity in earnings of affiliates, net
Income tax benefit
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net (1)
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income
(1)

2003

2004

$

60.4

25.5
1.9
87.8
120.9
104.7

225.6
(137.8)
38.8
1,314.1

1,215.1
1,030.0

$ 2,245.1

$

(.1)
87.9
194.1
102.9
297.0
(209.1)
76.0
1,066.9
933.8
—
$ 933.8

Includes amortization of other acquired intangible assets after tax of $37.3 million for 2005, $27.6 million for 2004 and $33.0 million for 2003.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets
As of December 31,
2005

(Millions)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Other receivables

$

$

101.3

Income taxes receivable
Deferred income taxes

Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Investment in affiliates (1)
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Employee benefit liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 1.4 billion shares authorized,
566.5 million shares issued and outstanding in 2005; 732.5 million shares authorized,
586.0 million shares issued and outstanding in 2004)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
(1)

58.2

2004

.9
58.9
10.5
37.2
267.0
1.1
11,322.9
—
1,294.3
$12,885.3

1,039.8
18.1
10,314.2
261.5
178.5
$11,812.1

$

$

450.0

220.6
670.6
1,155.7
658.5
273.4

22.2
2,780.4

1,885.1
8,169.5
50.3
10,104.9
$12,885.3

Includes goodwill and other acquired intangible assets of $5.2 billion as of December 31, 2005 and $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2004.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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193.3
559.4
137.0
107.4

—
42.7

—
438.0
438.0

1,609.7
661.8
—
21.2
2,730.7

3,076.5
6,546.4
(541.5)
9,081.4
$11,812.1
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Aetna Inc.
Condensed Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Common

(Millions)

Number of

Stock and

Common

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Shares
Outstanding

Accumulated
Other
Retained
Earnings

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$

$ 6,980.0

Balance at December 31, 2002
Comprehensive income:

599.9

$ 4,070.9

$ 3,379.5

Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative gains (1)
Pension liability
adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

—

—

933.8

—

933.8

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

5.6

5.6

4.3

4.3

.7

.7

—
—

—
—

—
—

51.8
62.4

51.8
62.4

Common shares issued for
benefit plans
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends declared ($.01 per
share)

41.0
(30.6)

399.1
(445.2)

(470.4)

—
—

—
—

(445.2)

(6.1)

—

(6.1)

—

Balance at December 31, 2003
Comprehensive income:

610.3

4,024.8

4,307.2

Net income
Other comprehensive loss:
Net unrealized losses on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative gains (1)
Pension liability
adjustment
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income

—

—

2,245.1

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(41.9)
1.5
1.2

(41.9)
1.5
1.2

—
—

—
—

—
—

(94.3)
(133.5)

(94.3)
(133.5)

Common shares issued for
benefit plans
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends declared ($.01 per
share)

40.2

(64.5)

546.5
(1,494.8)

—

2,245.1

—
—

546.5
(1,494.8)

(5.9)

—

(5.9)

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2004
Comprehensive income:

586.0

3,076.5

6,546.4

Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized losses on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative losses (1)
Pension liability
adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

—

—

1,634.5

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(141.6)
.7
(.3)

—
—

—
—

—
—

733.0

733.0

591.8

591.8

—
—

—
—

477.7
(1,669.1)

—

(11.4)

Common shares issued for
benefit plans
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends declared ($.02 per
share)

22.3
(41.8)

477.7
(1,669.1)

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2005
566.5
(1)
Net of reclassification adjustments.

$ 1,885.1

—

(11.4)

$8,169.5

$

50.3

933.8

$

62.4
996.2

7,924.0

—
—

(541.5)

$

399.1

—

(408.0)

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$ 2,245.1

(133.5)
$ 2,111.6

9,081.4
1,634.5

$ 1,634.5

(141.6)
.7
(.3)

$ 10,104.9

591.8
$ 2,226.3

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31,
2005

(Millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used for) operating
activities:
Income from discontinued operations
Equity earnings of affiliates (1)
Net realized capital (gains) losses
Net change in other assets and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities of continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

2003

2004

$ 1,634.5
—
(1,724.3)

—
128.1

$ 2,245.1
(1,030.0)

(1,314.1)

$

933.8

—
(1,066.9)
.1
(628.4)
(761.4)
—
(761.4)

68.8
107.1

(1.9)
(95.5)
(196.4)
666.2
469.8

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds (cost) of investments, net
Dividends received from affiliates, net
Cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other, net
Net cash provided by investing activities

458.1
1,085.2
(395.4)
—
1,147.9

(61.1)
528.9
—
—
467.8

Cash flows from financing activities:
Common shares issued under benefit plans
Common shares repurchased
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash used for financing activities

271.3
(1,650.0)
(11.4)
(1,390.1)

316.0
(1,493.0)

(445.2)

(5.9)
(1,182.9)

(6.1)
(157.7)

38.3

(263.9)
1,007.4

—
.1
743.6

293.6

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
(135.1)
(245.3)
(175.5)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
193.3
438.6
614.1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
$
58.2
$ 193.3
$ 438.6
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
$ 121.0
$
104.0
$ 103.5
Income taxes paid (received)
246.6
(331.3)
488.1
(1)
Includes amortization of other acquired intangible assets after tax of $37.3 million, $27.6 million and $33.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
1. Organization
The condensed financial statements reflect financial information for Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) only (the “Parent Company”). The condensed
financial information presented herein includes the balance sheet of Aetna Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The accompanying condensed financial statements should be
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in the Annual Report.

All share and per share amounts in the accompanying condensed financial statements have been adjusted to reflect a 2005 and a 2006 two-for-one stock split
for all periods presented. Refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for additional information on these stock splits.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for the summary of significant accounting policies.

3. Acquisitions and Dispositions
Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of acquisitions and dispositions.

4. Income Taxes
Refer to Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of income taxes.

5. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Refer to Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

6. Debt
Refer to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of debt.
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S IGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 1, 2006

Aetna Inc.

By: /s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak
Ronald M. Olejniczak
Vice President and Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signer

Title

Date

/s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.
John W. Rowe, M.D.

Chairman and Director

March 1, 2006

/s/ Ronald A. Williams
Ronald A. Williams

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 1, 2006

/s/ Alan M. Bennett
Alan M. Bennett

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 1, 2006

/s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak
Ronald M. Olejniczak

Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 1, 2006

Betsy Z. Cohen *
Molly J. Coye, M.D. *
Barbara Hackman Franklin *
Jeffrey E. Garten *
Gerald Greenwald *
Ellen M. Hancock *
Michael H. Jordan *
Edward J. Ludwig *
Joseph P. Newhouse *

Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

* By:

/s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak
Ronald M. Olejniczak
Attorney-in-fact
March 1, 2006
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10

Material Contracts

10.7

Aetna Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan as Amended through February 17, 2006.

Electronic
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Amendment 2 to Employment Agreement dated as of January 3, 2006 between Aetna Inc. and John W. Rowe, M.D.

Electronic
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Electronic
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Electronic
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Exhibit 10.7

AETNA INC.
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION PLAN
SECTION 1. ESTABLISHMENT OF PLAN; PURPOSE.
The Plan is hereby established to permit Eligible Directors of the Company, in recognition of their contributions to the Company, to receive Shares in the
manner described below. The Plan is intended to enable the Company to attract, retain and motivate qualified Directors and to enhance the long-term mutuality
of interest between Directors and stockholders of the Company.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS.
When used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the definitions set forth in this Section:

“Accounts” shall mean an Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account and Interest Account, as described in Section 9.
“Affiliate” shall mean any corporation or other entity (other than the Company or one of its Subsidiaries) in which the Company directly or indirectly owns
at least twenty percent (20%) of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of such entity or at least twenty percent (20%) of the ownership interests in
such entity.
“Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder.
“Committee ” shall mean the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors or such other committee of the Board as the
Board shall designate from time to time.
“Company ” shall mean Aetna U.S. Healthcare Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation. Following consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, Aetna U.S. Healthcare Inc. will change its name to Aetna Inc.
“Compensation ” shall mean the annual retainer fees earned by an Eligible Director for service as a Director, the annual retainer fee, if any, earned by an
Eligible Director for service as a member of a committee of the Board of Directors; and any fees earned by an Eligible Director for attendance at meetings of the
Board of Directors and any of its committees.
“Director” shall mean any member of the Board of Directors, whether or not such member is an Eligible Director.
“Disability ” shall mean an illness or injury that lasts at least six months, is expected to be permanent and renders a Director unable to carry out his/her
duties.
“Effective Date ” shall mean the date on which the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are consummated.
“Eligible Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors who is not an employee of the Company.
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Page 1

“Fair Market Value” shall mean on any date, with respect to a Share, the closing price of a Share as reported by the Consolidated Tape of the New York
Stock Exchange Listed Shares on such date, or if no shares were traded on such Exchange on such date, on the next date on which the Common Stock is
traded.
“Government Service ” shall mean the appointment or election of the Eligible Director to a position with the federal, state or local government or any
political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof.
“Grant” shall mean a grant of Units under Section 5, Options under Section 7 and Other Stock Based Awards under Section 12.
“Interest Account” shall mean the bookkeeping account established to record the interests of an Eligible Director with respect to deferred Compensation that
is not deemed invested in Units.
“Merger Agreement” shall mean the Agreement and Plan of Restructuring and Merger among ING America Insurance Holdings, Inc., ANB Acquisition
Corp., the Former Parent and for limited purposes only, ING Groep N.V., dated as of July 19, 2000.
“Option” shall mean the right granted under Section 7 to purchase the number of shares of Stock specified by the Board of Directors, at a price and for the
term fixed by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Plan and subject to any other limitations and restrictions as this Plan and the Board of Directors
shall impose, which such option is not intended to qualify as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code.
“Other Stock Based Awards” means any right granted under Section 12.
“Prior Plan ” shall mean the Aetna Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Stock and Deferred Compensation Plan.
“Retirement” shall mean termination of service as a Director on account of the Company’s mandatory Director retirement policy as may be in effect on the
date of such termination of service.
“Shares” shall mean shares of Stock.
“Stock” shall mean the Common Shares, $.01 par value, of the Company.
“Stock Unit Account ” shall mean, with respect to an Eligible Director who has elected to have deferred amounts deemed invested in Units, a bookkeeping
account established to record such Eligible Director’s interest under the Plan related to such Units.
“Subsidiary ” shall mean any entity of which the Company possesses directly or indirectly fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power
of all classes of stock of such entity.
“Unit” shall mean a contractual obligation of the Company to deliver a Share or pay cash based on the Fair Market Value of a Share to an Eligible Director
or the beneficiary or estate of such Eligible Director as provided herein.
“Year of Service as a Director” shall mean a period of 12 months of service as a Director, measured from the effective date of a Unit.
Page 2

SECTION 3. ADMINISTRATION.
The Plan shall be administered by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have the responsibility of construing and interpreting the Plan and
of establishing and amending such rules and regulations as it deems necessary or desirable for the proper administration of the Plan. Any decision or action
taken or to be taken by the Board of Directors, arising out of or in connection with the construction, administration, interpretation and effect of the Plan and of
its rules and regulations, shall, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, be within its absolute discretion (except as otherwise specifically provided
herein) and shall be conclusive and binding upon all Eligible Directors and any person claiming under or through any Eligible Director.
Subject to the terms of the Plan and applicable law, and in addition to other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Board of Directors by the
Plan, the Board of Directors shall have full power and authority to: (i) determine the number of Shares to be covered by, or with respect to which payments,
rights, or other matters are to be calculated in connection with, Units and Options; (ii) determine the terms and conditions of any Option; (iii) interpret and
administer the Plan and any instrument or agreement relating to, or Grant made under, the Plan; (iv) establish, amend, suspend, or waive such rules and
regulations and appoint such agents as it shall deem appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan; and (v) make any other determination and take any
other action that the Board of Directors deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.

The Plan shall be administered such that awards under the Plan shall be deemed to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Exchange Act (“Rule 16b-3”), as such Rule is in effect on the Effective Date of the Plan and as it may be subsequently amended from
time to time.

SECTION 4. SHARES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE.

4.1 Maximum Number of Shares. The aggregate number of Shares with respect to which Grants may be awarded to Eligible Directors under the Plan
shall not exceed 250,000 Shares, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.2 below, plus that number of Shares equal to the aggregate number of Shares
credited to each Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account as a result of transfers of stock units from the Prior Plan pursuant to Section 9.10. If any Unit or
Option is settled in cash or is forfeited without a distribution of Shares, the Shares otherwise subject to such Unit or Option shall again be available for Grants
hereunder. [As of March 11, 2005, the shares available for issuance under the Plan were adjusted pursuant to Section 4.2 as a result of the Company’s 2005
2-for-1 stock split. As of February 17, 2006, the shares available for issuance under the Plan were adjusted pursuant to Section 4.2 as a result of the
Company’s 2006 2-for-1 stock split.]
4.2 Adjustment for Corporate Transactions. In the event that any stock dividend, extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, reorganization,
merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, exchange of shares, warrants or rights offering to purchase Stock at a price substantially below Fair
Market Value, or other similar event affects the Stock such that an adjustment is required to preserve, or to prevent enlargement of, the benefits or potential
benefits made available under the Plan, then the Board of Directors shall adjust the number and kind of shares which thereafter may be awarded under the
Plan and the number of Units and Options and the exercise price thereof that have been, or may be, granted under the Plan. Additionally, the Board of
Directors may make provisions for a cash payment to an Eligible Director.
SECTION 5. UNIT GRANTS.

5.1 Unit Awards. Each Eligible Director (other than any Eligible Director who has received an award under the Prior Plan) who is first elected or appointed
to the Board of Directors on or after the Effective Date of the Plan shall be awarded 6,000 Units on such date (or such other number of Units as the Board
shall determine). In addition, on the date of each Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company occurring after 2000 and during the term of the Plan an
eligible Director serving as a Director on such date shall be awarded such number of Units as the Board shall determine.
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5.2 Delivery of Shares. Subject to satisfaction of the applicable vesting requirements set forth in Section 6 and except as otherwise provided in Section 8,
all Shares that are subject to any Units shall be delivered to an Eligible Director and transferred on the books of the Company on the date which is the first
business day of the month immediately following the termination of such Eligible Director’s service as a Director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Eligible
Director may elect that all or a portion of his or her Units shall be payable in cash as soon as practicable following the first business day of the month
immediately following the termination of such Eligible Director’s service as a Director. Any fractional Shares to be delivered in respect of Units shall be settled
in cash based upon the Fair Market Value on the date any whole Shares are transferred on the books of the Company to the Eligible Director or the Eligible
Director’s beneficiary. The amount of any cash payment shall be determined by multiplying the number of Units and the number of Units subject to a cash
payment election by the Fair Market Value on the last business day preceding the payment date. Upon the delivery of a Share (or cash with respect to a whole
or fractional Share) pursuant to the Plan, the corresponding Unit (or fraction thereof) shall be canceled and be of no further force or effect.
5.3 Dividend Equivalents. An Eligible Director shall have no rights as a shareholder of the Company with respect to any Units until Shares are delivered
to the Director pursuant to this Section 5 hereof; provided that, each Eligible Director shall have the right to receive an amount equal to the dividend per Share
for the applicable dividend payment date (which, in the case of any dividend distributable in property other than Shares, shall be the per Share value of such
dividend, as determined by the Company for purposes of income tax reporting) times the number of Units held by such Eligible Director on the record date for
the payment of such dividend (a “Dividend Equivalent”). Each Eligible Director may elect, prior to any calendar year, whether the Dividend Equivalent is
(i) payable in cash, on or as soon as practicable after each date on which dividends are paid to shareholders with respect to Shares; (ii) treated as reinvested in
an additional number of Units determined by dividing (A) the cash amount of any such dividend by (B) the Fair Market Value on the related dividend
payment date; or (iii) deferred and credited to the Eligible Director’s Interest Account pursuant to Section 9.4.
SECTION 6. UNIT VESTING.
6.1 Service Requirements. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 6 or Section 8, an Eligible Director shall vest in his or her Units as provided in
this Section 6.1. If an Eligible Director terminates service prior to the completion of three Years of Service as a Director, the number of Shares to be delivered to
such Eligible Director in respect of Units granted upon his or her election to the Board shall equal the amount obtained by multiplying 3,000 by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the number of full months of service completed by such Director from the applicable date of Unit grant (counting any partial month of
service as a full month) and the denominator of which is 36. If an Eligible Director terminates service prior to the completion of one Year of Service as a
Director from the date of Unit grant with respect to any annual grant of Units made hereunder, the number of Shares to be delivered to such Eligible Director
in respect of such Unit grant shall equal the amount obtained by multiplying the number of Units subject to such Unit grant by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of full months of service completed by such Director from the applicable date of the Unit grant (counting any partial month of service as
a full month) and the denominator of which is 12. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as provided in Section 6.2, if the Eligible Director terminates
service by reason of his/her death, Disability, Retirement, or acceptance of a position in Government Service prior to the completion of the period of service
required to be performed to fully vest in any Unit grant, all Shares that are the subject of such Unit grant (or, if elected by the Eligible Director, the value
thereof in cash) shall be delivered to such Eligible Director (or the Eligible Director’s beneficiary or estate).
6.2 Six Months’ Minimum Service. If an Eligible Director has completed less than six consecutive months of service as a Director, all Units held by
such Eligible Director shall be immediately forfeited. If an Eligible Director has completed less than six consecutive months of service from any date on which
any annual grant of Units is made, all Units held by such Eligible Director that relate to such annual grant of units shall be immediately forfeited.
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6.3 Distribution on Death. Except as provided in Section 6.2, in the event of the death of an Eligible Director, the Shares corresponding to such Units
or, at the election of the Eligible Director’s beneficiary or estate, the Fair Market Value thereof in cash shall be delivered to the beneficiary designated by the
Eligible Director on a form provided by the Company, or, in the absence of such designation, to the Eligible Director’s estate.
SECTION 7. STOCK OPTIONS.
(a) Grant. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to award Options to an Eligible Director and to determine
(i) the number of Shares to be covered by each Option, (ii) subject to Section 7(b), the exercise price of the Option and (iii) the conditions and limitations
applicable to the exercise of the Option.

(b) Exercise Price. The exercise price of an Option shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant.
(c) Exercise. Each Option shall be exercised at such times and subject to such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may specify at the time of
the award of such Option or thereafter. No shares shall be delivered pursuant to any exercise of an Option unless arrangements satisfactory to the Board of
Directors have been made to assure full payment of the exercise price therefor. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, payment of the exercise price
may be made in cash or its equivalent or, if and to the extent permitted by the Board of Directors by exchanging Shares owned by the Eligible Director (which
are not the subject of any pledge or other security interest) either actually or by attestation, or by a combination of the foregoing, provided that the combined
value of all cash and cash equivalents and the Fair Market Value of any such Shares so tendered to the Company, valued as of the date of such tender, is at
least equal to such exercise price.
(d) No Eligible Director shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares to be issued pursuant to any Option under the Plan prior to the
issuance thereof.

SECTION 8. CHANGE IN CONTROL.

8.1 Immediate Vesting. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, each Eligible Director’s right and interest in Units and Options which have not
previously vested shall become vested and nonforfeitable.

8.2 Cash Settlement. (a) (i) Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, in lieu of delivering Shares with respect to the Units then held by an Eligible
Director, the Company shall pay such Eligible Director, not later than 60 days after the Change in Control occurs, cash in an aggregate amount equal to the
product of (x) the number of Shares that are subject to all Units credited to such Eligible Director at the time of the Change in Control multiplied by (y) the Fair
Market Value on the date of the Change in Control.
(ii) Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, the Company shall pay to each Eligible Director cash in an amount equal to the accrued value of such
Eligible Director’s Interest Account.
(b) Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, in lieu of delivering Shares with respect to each Option then held by an Eligible Director, the Company
shall pay such Eligible Director, not later than 60 days after the Change in Control occurs, cash in an aggregate amount equal to the product of (i) the number
of Shares that are subject to each Option held by such Eligible Director at the time of the Change in Control multiplied by (ii) the amount by which the Fair
Market Value on the date of the Change of Control exceeds the exercise price of such Option.
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8.3 Definition. “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i) When any “person” as defined in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and as used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a “group” as defined in
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act but excluding the Company and any Subsidiary thereof and any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the
Company or any Subsidiary (including any trustee of such plan acting as trustee), directly or indirectly, becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in
Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, as amended from time to time), of securities of the Company representing 20 percent or more of the combined voting power
of the Company’s then outstanding securities;

(ii) When, during any period of 24 consecutive months the individuals who, at the beginning of such period, constitute the Board (the “Incumbent
Directors”) cease for any reason other than death to constitute at least a majority thereof, provided that a Director who was not a Director at the beginning of
such 24-month period shall be deemed to have satisfied such 24-month requirement (and be an Incumbent Director) if such Director was elected by, or on the
recommendation of or with the approval of, at least two-thirds of the Directors who then qualified as Incumbent Directors either actually (because they were
directors at the beginning of such 24-month period) or by prior operation of this Paragraph (ii); or

(iii) The occurrence of a transaction requiring stockholder approval for the acquisition of the Company by an entity other than the Company or a
Subsidiary through purchase of assets, or by merger, or otherwise.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall a Change in Control be deemed to have occurred (i) as a result of the formation of a Holding Company, or
(ii) with respect to a Director if the Director is part of a “group”, within the meaning of Section 13(a)(3) of the Exchange Act as in effect on the effective date of
the Change in Control transaction. In addition, for purposes of the definition of “Change in Control” a person engaged in the business as an underwriter of
securities shall not be deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of, or to “beneficially own”, any securities acquired through such person’s participation in good faith
in a firm commitment underwriting until the expiration of forty days after the date of such acquisition.

For purposes of this Section 8.3, the term Holding Company means an entity that becomes a holding company for the Company or its business as part of
any reorganization, merger, consolidation or other transaction, provided that the outstanding shares of common stock of such entity and the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities of such entity entitled to vote generally in the election of directors is, immediately after such reorganization,
merger, consolidation or other transaction, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were the
beneficial owners of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities, respectively, of the
Company immediately prior to such reorganization, merger, consolidation or other transaction in substantially the same proportions as their ownership,
immediately prior to such reorganization, merger, consolidation or other transaction, of such outstanding voting stock.

SECTION 9. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PROGRAM.
9.1 Election to Defer. On or before December 31 of any calendar year, an Eligible Director may elect to defer receipt of all or any part of any
Compensation payable in respect of the calendar year following the year in which such election is made, and to have such amounts credited, in whole or in
part, to a Stock Unit Account or an Interest Account. Any person who shall become an Eligible Director during any calendar year may elect, not later than the
30th day after his or her term as a Director begins, to defer payment of all or any part of his or her Compensation payable for the portion of such calendar year
following such election.
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9.2 Method of Election. A deferral election shall be made by written notice filed with the Corporate Secretary of the Company. Such election shall continue
in effect (including with respect to Compensation payable for subsequent calendar years) unless and until the Eligible Director revokes or modifies such
election by written notice filed with the Corporate Secretary of the Company. Any such revocation or modification of a deferral election shall become effective
as of the end of the calendar year in which such notice is given and only with respect to Compensation payable for services rendered thereafter. Amounts
credited to the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account prior to the effective date of any such revocation or modification of a deferral election shall not be affected
by such revocation or modification and shall be distributed only in accordance with the otherwise applicable terms of the Plan. An Eligible Director who has
revoked an election to participate in the Plan may file a new election to defer Compensation payable for services to be rendered in the calendar year following the
year in which such election is filed.

9.3 Investment Election. At the time an Eligible Director elects to defer receipt of Compensation pursuant to Section 9.1, the Eligible Director shall
designate in writing the portion of such Compensation, stated as a whole percentage, to be credited to the Interest Account (or such other account as may be
established from time to time by the Committee) and the portion to be credited to the Stock Unit Account. If an Eligible Director fails to notify the Corporate
Secretary as to how to allocate any Compensation between the Accounts, 100% of such Compensation shall be credited to the Interest Account. By written
notice to the Corporate Secretary of the Company, an Eligible Director may change the manner in which the Compensation payable with respect to services
rendered after the end of such calendar year are allocated among the Accounts.

9.4 Dividend Equivalents. In addition to the deferral of Compensation permitted under Section 9.1, an Eligible Director may elect, in the manner and at
the time described in Section 5.3, to have Dividend Equivalents payable in respect of his or her Units credited to his or her Interest Account in the manner and
at the time described in such Section 5.3.
9.5 Interest Account. Any Compensation allocated to the Interest Account shall be credited to the Interest Account as of the date such Fees would have been
paid to the Eligible Director. Any amounts credited to the Interest Account shall be credited with interest at the same rate and in the manner in which interest is
credited under the Fixed Investment Fund (or, if such fund no longer exists, the fund with the investment criteria most clearly comparable to that of such
Fund) under the Aetna Inc. Incentive Savings Plan (or any successor thereto).
9.6 Stock Unit Account. Any Compensation allocated to the Stock Unit Account shall be deemed to be invested in a number of Units equal to the quotient
of (i) such Compensation divided by (ii) the Fair Market Value on the date the Fees then being allocated to the Stock Unit Account would otherwise have been
paid. Fractional Units shall be credited, but shall be rounded to the nearest hundredth percentile, with amounts equal to or greater than .005 rounded up and
amounts less than .005 rounded down. Whenever a dividend other than a dividend payable in the form of Shares is declared with respect to the Shares, the
number of Units in the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account shall be increased by the number of Units determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the
number of Units in the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account on the related dividend record date, and (B) the amount of any cash dividend declared by the
Company on a Share (or, in the case of any dividend distributable in property other than Shares, the per share value of such dividend, as determined by the
Company for purposes of income tax reporting), by (ii) the Fair Market Value on the related dividend payment date. In the case of any dividend declared on
Shares which is payable in Shares, the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account shall be increased by the number of Units equal to the product of (i) the
number of Units credited to the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account on the related dividend record date, and (ii) the number of Shares (including any
fraction thereof) distributable as a dividend on a Share.

9.7 Distribution Election. At the time an Eligible Director makes a deferral election pursuant to Section 9.1, the Eligible Director shall also file with the
Corporate Secretary of the Company a written election ( a “Distribution Election”) with respect to whether:
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(i) the aggregate amount, if any, credited to the Interest Account at any time and the value of any Units credited to the Stock Unit Account shall be
distributed in cash, in Shares or in a combination thereof at the election of the Director;
(ii) such distribution shall commence as soon as practicable following the first business day of the calendar month following the date the Eligible Director
ceases to be a Director or on the first business day of any calendar year following the calendar year in which the Eligible Director ceases to be a Director; and

(iii) such distribution shall be in one lump sum payment or in such number of annual installments (not to exceed ten) as the Eligible Director may
designate.
The amount of any installment payment shall be determined by multiplying the amount credited to the Accounts of an Eligible Director immediately prior to
the distribution by a fraction, the numerator of which is one and the denominator of which is the number of installments (including the current installment)
remaining to be paid. An Eligible Director may at any time, and from time to time, change any Distribution Election applicable to his or her Accounts,
provided that no election to change the timing of any final distribution shall be effective unless it is made in writing and received by the Corporate Secretary of
the Company at least one full calendar year prior to the time at which the Eligible Director ceases to be a director.

9.8 Financial Hardship Withdrawal. Any Eligible Director may, after submission of a written request to the Corporate Secretary of the Company and
such written evidence of the Eligible Director’s financial condition as the Committee may reasonably request, withdraw from his Interest Account up to such
amount as the Committee shall determine to be necessary to alleviate the Eligible Director’s financial hardship.
9.9 Timing and Form of Distributions. Any distribution to be made hereunder, whether in the form of a lump sum payment or installments, following
the termination of an Eligible Director’s service as a Director shall commence in accordance with the Distribution Election made by the Eligible Director
pursuant to Section 9.7. If an Eligible Director fails to specify a form of payment for a distribution in accordance with Section 9.7, the distribution from the
Interest Account shall be made in cash and the distribution from the Stock Unit Account shall be made in Shares. If an Eligible Director fails to specify in
accordance with Section 9.7 a commencement date for a distribution or whether such distribution shall be made in a lump sum payment or a number of
installments, such distribution shall be made in a lump sum payment and commence on the first business day of the month immediately following the date on
which the Eligible Director ceases to be a Director. In the case of any distribution being made in annual installments, each installment after the first installment
shall be paid on the first business day of each subsequent calendar year, or as soon as practical thereafter, until the entire amount subject to such Distribution
Election shall have been paid.
9.10 Effect on Prior Plan. Subject to approval of the Company’s sole shareholder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, the amounts standing to the credit of each Eligible Director’s stock unit account under the Prior Plan shall be transferred to the Plan and credited to
the Eligible Director’s Stock Unit Account. Any elections in effect under such Prior Plan shall be deemed to be an election made pursuant to and in accordance
with the terms of this Section 9 unless and until the Eligible Director elects to change such elections in accordance with the provisions of this Section 9.

SECTION 10. UNFUNDED STATUS.
The Company shall be under no obligation to establish a fund or reserve in order to pay the benefits under the Plan. A Unit represents a contractual
obligation of the Company to deliver Shares or pay cash to a Director as provided herein. The Company has not segregated or earmarked any Shares or any of
the Company’s assets for the benefit of a Director or his/her beneficiary or estate, and the Plan does not, and shall not be construed to, require the Company to
do so. The Director and his/her beneficiary or estate shall have only an unsecured, contractual right against the Company with respect to any Units granted or
amounts credited to a Director’s Accounts hereunder, and such right shall not be deemed superior to the right of any other creditor. Units shall not be deemed to
constitute options or rights to purchase Stock.
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SECTION 11. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.
The Plan may be amended at any time by the Board of Directors, provided that, except as provided in Section 4.2, the Board of Directors may not, without
approval of the shareholders of the Company increase the number of Shares which may be awarded under the Plan. The Plan shall terminate on April 30,
2010. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or termination of the Plan shall materially and adversely affect any rights of any Director under any
Grant made pursuant to the Plan. Unless the Board otherwise specifies at the time of such termination, a termination of the Plan will not result in the
distribution of the amounts credited to an Eligible Director’s Accounts.

SECTION 12. OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS.
The Board of Directors shall have authority to grant to Eligible Directors an “Other Stock-Based Award”, which shall consist of any right which is (i) not
a Grant described in Sections 5 or 7 above and (ii) a Grant of Shares or a Grant denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or
otherwise based on or related to, Shares (including, without limitation, securities convertible into Shares ), as deemed by the Board of Directors to be
consistent with the purposes of the Plan; provided that any such rights must comply, to the extent deemed desirable by the Board of Directors, with Rule 16b3 and applicable law. Subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable award agreement, the Board of Directors shall determine the terms and conditions of
any such Other Stock-Based Award.

SECTION 13. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

13.1 No Right to Serve as a Director. This Plan shall not impose any obligations on the Company to retain any Eligible Director as a Director nor shall
it impose any obligation on the part of any Eligible Director to remain as a Director of the Company.
13.2 Construction of the Plan. The validity, construction, interpretation, administration and effect of the Plan, and the rights relating to the Plan, shall
be determined solely in accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut.

13.3 No Right to Particular Assets. Nothing contained in this Plan and no action taken pursuant to this Plan shall create or be construed to create a trust
of any kind or any fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Eligible Director, the executor, administrator or other personal representative or
designated beneficiary of such Eligible Director, or any other persons. Any reserves that may be established by the Company in connection with Units granted
under this Plan shall continue to be treated as the assets of the Company for federal income tax purposes and remain subject to the claims of the Company’s
creditors. To the extent that any Eligible Director or the executor, administrator, or other personal representative of such Eligible Director, acquires a right to
receive any payment from the Company pursuant to this Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company.

13.4 Listing of Shares and Related Matters. If at any time the Board of Directors shall determine in its discretion that listing, registration or
qualification of the Shares covered by this Plan upon any national securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any
governmental regulatory body, is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the delivery of Shares under this Plan, no Shares will be
delivered unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained, or otherwise provided for, free of
any conditions not acceptable to the Board of Directors.
13.5 Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not effect
any other provisions hereof, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provision had not been included.
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13.6 Incapacity. Any benefit payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other person incapable of receipting therefor shall be
deemed paid when paid to such person’s guardian or to the party providing or reasonably appearing to provide for the care of such person, and such payment
shall fully discharge any liability or obligation of the Board of Directors, the Company and all other parties with respect thereto.

13.7 Nontransferability. No Grant may be assigned or transferred, in whole or in part, either directly or by operation of law (except in the event of an
Eligible Director’s death by will or applicable laws of descent and distribution), including, but not by way of limitation, by execution, levy, garnishment,
attachment, pledge, bankruptcy or in any other manner, and no such right or interest of any Eligible Director in the Plan shall be subject to any obligation or
liability of such Eligible Director.
13.8 Headings and Captions. The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be considered part of this
Plan, and shall not be employed in the construction of this Plan.
Page 10

Exhibit 10.12

AMENDMENT 2 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
AMENDMENT dated as of January 3, 2006 (“ Amendment ”) to that certain Employment Agreement (“ Agreement”) dated as of September 6, 2000 by
and between Aetna Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation, and John W. Rowe, M.D. (“ Executive ”) as amended as of June 27, 2003 (certain capitalized terms used
herein being defined in Article 7 of the Agreement).
WHEREAS, the Board and the Executive desire to plan for a successful transition of responsibilities and to amend the Agreement on the terms and
conditions set forth below;
WHEREAS, the Company and Executive desire to enter into this Amendment embodying the terms of such extension and amendment;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants and agreements of the parties set forth in this Amendment, and of other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as
follows:
1. Section 1.01 of the Agreement shall be deleted and replaced in its entirety as follows:

“SECTION 1.01. Position. On February 14, 2006 Executive’s title and job responsibilities shall be that of an executive officer Chairman of the
Board.”
2. Section 2 of the Amendment dated as of June 27, 2003 shall be deleted and replaced in its entirety as follows:

“Effective July 7, 2003, Executive’s Base Salary as referred to in Section 2.01 shall be increased by $100,000 to the annual rate of $1,100,000,
payable in accordance with the payroll and administrative practices of the Company from time to time; provided, however, that such increase and
any future increases shall be mandatorily deferred (but nevertheless remain eligible for benefits) until the later of (i) the date on which said amounts
would be deductible by the Company under IRC Section 162(m), and (ii) the date or dates elected by Executive prior to the effective date of such
increase (subject to the requirements of IRC Section 409A as applicable), but with respect to any salary above $1,000,000 earned on or after
January 1, 2005, no date earlier than six months following Executive’s termination of employment, and said deferrals shall earn a rate of return in
accordance with the Company’s deferral program applicable to the Company’s senior executive officers in effect from time to time.”
3. Section 6.15(b) of the Employment Agreement shall be modified as follows: each reference to “two years after the termination of the Employment Term”
shall be replaced with the phrase “three years after the termination of the Employment Term”, so that the two year nonsolicitation provisions contained therein
shall be extended to three years. Similarly, Section 6.15(c)(i) of the Employment Agreement shall be modified to replace the reference to “one year after the
termination of the Employment Term” with the phrase “three years after the termination of the Employment Term”, so that the one year non-compete provision
contained therein shall be extended to three years. In consideration of these extensions, the Company shall pay the Executive on each of first, second and third
anniversaries of his termination of employment due to “Retirement” the amount of $150,000. The phrase “ Retirement” as used herein shall mean termination
of employment by Executive provided that the Executive’s age and completed years of service total 65 or more points at such termination. In addition, if
Executive’s Consultancy pursuant to Section 5 of the Consulting Agreement (described below) is extended for either one or two years past the initial three-year
term of the consultancy, the Executive shall be entitled to an additional $150,000 (payable on the fourth and fifth anniversary of his termination of
employment due to Retirement) in consideration for each year in which the nonsolicitation and non-compete covenants contained in
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Section 6.15(b) and 6.15(c)(i) of the Employment Agreement are renewed concurrent with the renewal (if any) of the Consultancy term. Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, should the non-compete agreement described in this Section 3 be terminated prior to the time any annual $150,000 payment is
due, the Company shall pay the Executive a pro-rated amount for each full month for which the Executive was subject to the non-compete during such annual
period. For avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that this Section 3 of the Amendment 2 to the Employment Agreement, together with Sections 6.15 and 6.16
of the Employment Agreement, shall survive the Executive’s termination of employment and expiration of the Employment Term.
4. Effective upon the termination of the Executive’s employment due to Retirement, the Company agrees to enter into a Consulting Agreement on the terms,
conditions and in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A which is incorporated herein and made a part hereof.

5. In the event the Executive terminates his employment due to Retirement prior to the end of a fiscal year, he shall be entitled to a pro-rata annual bonus for
performance related to such fiscal year, calculated (consistent with historical practices) and paid at the same time as the Company makes such calculations
and payments to other senior executives of the Company.

6. Upon Executive’s Retirement, the parties agree that all rights and obligations contained in the Agreement shall be extinguished, except as provided in this
Amendment 2 and as provided in Sections 5.01 (Successors), 5.02 (Assignment by Executive), 6.02 (Legal Fees and Expenses), 6.03 (Arbitration), 6.05
(Non-Exclusivity of Benefits), 6.07 (Mitigation), 6.12 (Governing Law), 6.14 (Indemnification), 6.15 (Nondisclosure, Nonsolicitation, Noncompete, and
Nondisparagement) and 6.15 (Material Inducement; Specific Performance), all of which shall survive the Executive’s termination of employment and
expiration of the Employment Term until the later of (i) the three year anniversary from date of Executive’s termination of employment, and (ii) the expiration of
the Consultancy term.

7. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, payments to be made
following termination of employment and entry into the Consulting Agreement shall not be paid until the six month anniversary of the Consultant’s termination
of employment.

Except as modified above, all of the provisions, terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Executive have executed this Amendment, to be effective as of the day and year first written above.

JOHN W. ROWE, M.D.

AETNA INC.

/s/ John W. Rowe

By: /s/ Elease E. Wright
Elease E. Wright
Title: Senior Vice President HR
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Exhibit A: Form of Consulting Agreement

Exhibit A

CONSULTING AGREEMENT
day of

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of the
John W. Rowe, M.D. (“Consultant”). The parties hereto agree as follows:

, 2006, by and between Aetna Inc. (“Company”) and

1. Engagement . Company hereby engages Consultant and Consultant hereby agrees to render at the request of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or
Board of Directors, upon reasonable notice, independent consulting services for Company on matters of an executive and/or high level nature, including but
not limited to design and analysis of Company’s experience with various products and strategies including consumer-directed health plans, Aexcel networks,
Chairman initiatives, Medicare, pharmaceutical programs, wellness programs, and other business matters as agreed by the parties. At the Company’s request,
Consultant will collaborate with the Company on presentation and publication of the results of these analyses for use by the Company, internally or externally.
In addition, at the Company’s request, Consultant shall serve as a director of the Aetna Foundation, Inc. and continue to participate in specific community
activities, including Board-related service, as requested by Company and agreed to by Consultant. In this engagement and all activities hereunder, Consultant
shall serve as an independent contractor and not an employee of Company, as further explained in Section 6 below.
2. Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin as of [
extended pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement.

, 2006] and shall terminate on [

, 2009], unless terminated earlier or

3. Compensation . As compensation for all services rendered by Consultant under this Agreement, Company shall pay Consultant at a per diem rate of
$4,000 per day and at $2,000 per half-day for consulting services excluding any community-related efforts or service as a board director of a charitable or notfor-profit entity, subject to the provisions of Section 5 of this Agreement. All such compensation shall be payable without deduction, including no deduction
for federal income, social security, or state income taxes. All applicable taxes shall be the responsibility of Consultant. Company also shall pay all travelrelated expenses of Consultant for such consulting services including all community-related efforts performed at Company’s and/or Aetna Foundation Inc.’s
request. In connection with any consulting assignment hereunder, (i) Consultant shall have full access (on the same basis then applicable to senior executives
of the Company) to the Company’s travel facilities (e.g., car, driver, aircraft and helicopter services), (ii) Company shall provide an office with appropriate
support services for Consultant at Company’s facilities in either New York or Boston (at Consultant’s election), unless Consultant assumes another
professional position that provides office and support services, provided, however, that if Company does not maintain facilities in the city in which
Consultant desires to work, it shall provide Consultant facilities at another location in such city, and (iii) Company shall provide Consultant with computers
(including upgrades), software, printers, monitors and access to information technology and communications support staff (on the same basis as such items
and support are made available to senior executives of the Company) in his office and at his two principal residences.
4. Performance of Duties . Consultant shall render services conscientiously and shall devote his best efforts and abilities thereto, at such times during the
term hereof, and in such manner, as Company and Consultant shall mutually agree, not to exceed 25 full days per calendar quarter, it being acknowledged
that Consultant’s services shall be performed at such places and at such times as are reasonably convenient to Consultant, upon reasonable notice. Consultant
shall observe all policies and directives promulgated from time to time by Company.
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5. Termination. This Agreement will terminate by either party upon reasonable notice to the other. This Agreement also will terminate on Consultant’s death
or, upon Consultant’s acceptance of an academic or government position, upon Consultant’s request. The term of this Agreement may be extended for two
additional one-year periods on the same terms and conditions upon mutual agreement of Consultant and Company. Consultant’s obligations under Section 7
(Confidential Information), Section 8 (Return of Confidential Information and Other Company Property), Section 9 (Rights of Authorship), Section 10
(Remedy), Section 11 (Arbitration) and Section 12 (Miscellaneous) shall survive termination hereof.
6. Independent Contractor . It is expressly agreed that Consultant is acting as an independent contractor in performing services hereunder. Company shall
carry no workers’ compensation insurance or any health or accident insurance (other than standard Aetna retiree medical care benefits to which the Consultant
is otherwise entitled) to cover Consultant. Company shall not pay any contributions to Social Security, unemployment insurance, federal or state withholding
taxes, nor provide any other contributions or benefits that might be expected in an employer-employee relationship. Company shall, however, pay all expenses
associated with the arrangement contemplated herein, including but not limited to advice, consulting, negotiation and preparation of documents memorializing
such arrangement.
7. Confidential Information . Consultant desires to act as a consultant to Company and he understands and agrees that his duties for the Company in the
past have required, and his consulting duties may require, access to Confidential Information of a competitive nature, which Company makes available only
to select persons who have a need to know such confidential information, and/or information subject to the attorney-client and work product privileges.
Consultant understands and agrees that for purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” includes all trade secrets and all information furnished by
Company to Consultant, or to which Consultant gains access during the course of his or her consulting relationship with Company, which is either nonpublic, confidential or proprietary in nature, including, but not limited to financial statements, client lists or information, supplier lists or information,
subcontractor lists or information, prospect lists or information, information pertaining to Company’s channels of distribution, marketing, work product,
pricing policy and records, sales representative commission policy, sales volume by products, customer or geographic area, personnel history, accounting
procedures, invoice forms, contracts, leases, business plan, information about the structure and marketing of the Company’s products and policies, revenue
and/or commission information, commission percentages, rating discounts and/or client costs, products, inventions, services, pricing, databases, lead
generation sources, debt information, employment manuals, employee benefit cards, employee benefit statements, computer systems, software, computer
hardware, computer codes, passwords, programs and formula, technology, designs, secret processes, proprietary or technical information, procedures or
manuals, trademarks or copyrighted material in use or under consideration for use, together with analyses, proposals, compilations, forecasts, studies, or
other documents or work product prepared by Company, its agents, representatives (including attorneys, accountants and financial advisors) or employees
which contain or otherwise reflect such information. Consultant will not retain, use or disclose, directly or indirectly, any of Company’s Confidential
Information. Consultant recognizes that this Confidential Information is a unique asset of Company, developed and perfected over a considerable time and at
substantial expense to Company and the disclosure of which may cause injury, loss of profits and loss of goodwill to Company. Consultant agrees to protect
the confidentiality of all Confidential Information during the term of this Agreement and thereafter. Consultant agrees to keep all documents containing or
referring to Confidential Information in secure locations and not to duplicate, use or reveal to third parties any Confidential Information except as necessary for
the business purposes of Company. Consultant agrees to inform all other persons to whom the Confidential Information might be disclosed or made available
of Company’s proprietary interest and of the recipient’s obligations under this Agreement and to take such other protective measures as may be or become
reasonably necessary to preserve the confidentiality of such Confidential Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, “Confidential Information”
shall not include such information that the Consultant is required by law or a governmental agency to disclose, or information that has come into the public
domain by means other than breach of this Agreement.
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8. Return of Confidential Information and Other Company Property . Consultant acknowledges that all papers, photographs and apparatus related to the
business of Company, including those prepared or made by Consultant, including but not limited to the Confidential Information, shall be and remain at all
times the property of Company. When the consulting relationship with the Company terminates for any reason, or upon request by Company, Consultant will
promptly deliver (within five calendar days) to Company all of Consultant’s files and copies thereof and other property of Company in the Consultant’s
possession, including but not limited to any security pass or ID card, pagers, voice mail passwords or passcodes, company credit card, keys, computer
disks and software, work product, brochures or customer data, all originals and copies of the Confidential Information and all originals and copies of
documents relating to the Confidential Information.
9. Rights of Authorship . Consultant acknowledges that all original works of authorship that are made by him (solely or jointly with others) within the
scope of this Agreement and which are protectable by copyright are “works made for hire” as that term is defined in the United States Copyright Act (17
U.S.C., Section 101).
10. Remedy. Consultant understands that Company would not have any adequate remedy at law for the material breach or threatened breach by the
Consultant of Sections 7 (Confidential Information), 8 (Return of Confidential Information and Other Company Property) or 9 (Rights of Authorship) of this
Agreement, and agrees that in the event of any such material breach or threatened breach, Company may, in addition to the other remedies which may be
available to it, file a suit in equity to enjoin Consultant from the breach or threatened breach of such covenant(s).

11. Arbitration. Any matter, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or to any breach of this Agreement, except claims set forth in
Section 10 of this Agreement, as to which Company has elected to seek a court remedy, shall be settled by arbitration before one arbitrator in accordance with
the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgments on the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered in any court
having jurisdiction thereof. Each party shall pay: the fees of his or its attorneys; the expenses of his or its witnesses; and all other expenses connected with
presenting his or its case. Other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of any record or transcripts of the arbitration hearing, administrative fees, the fees
of the arbitrator, and all other fees and costs shall be borne equally by the parties.
12. Miscellaneous .
(a) Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and if sent by registered or certified mail to
Company or Consultant at the address set forth below to such other address as they shall notify each other in writing.
If to Company:
Chief Executive Officer
Aetna Inc.
151 Farmingdale Avenue

Hartford, CT 06156
With a copy to:
General Counsel
Aetna Inc.
151 Farmington Avenue

Hartford, CT 06156
If to Consultant: at Consultant’s last known address as reflected on the books and records of the Company
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With a copy to:
Pearl Meyer & Partners
445 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022

(b) Assignment . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Company and its successors and assigns. This Agreement shall not
be assignable by Consultant.
(c) Applicable Law . This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut in every respect, without regard to its
rules regarding conflicts of law.

(d) Headings. Section headings and numbers herein are included for convenience of reference only and this Agreement is not to be construed with
reference thereto. If there is any conflict between such numbers and headings and the text hereof, the text shall control.
(e) Severability . If for any reason any portion of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the parties agree that it is their intent that such
provision shall be enforced to the maximum extent possible under applicable law, and that the court or arbitrator shall reform such provision to make it
enforceable in accordance with the intent of the parties, and that notwithstanding such invalidity, unenforceability or reformation of any provision, the
remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

(f) Entire Agreement . This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all previous
agreements between the parties, provided, however, that the parties acknowledge that certain provisions of the Employment Agreement dated as of
September 6, 2000, as amended, may remain in effect as provided in such agreement and amendments thereto, during all or a portion of the term of this
Agreement. No officer, employee, or representative of Company has any authority to make any representation or promise in connection with this Agreement or
the subject matter hereof that is not contained herein, and Consultant represents and warrants that he has not executed this Agreement in reliance upon any
such representation or promise. No modification, extension or renewal of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and signed by the parties hereto.
(g) Waiver of Breach. The waiver by Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by Consultant shall not operate or be construed as a
waiver of any subsequent breach by Consultant.

(h) Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one agreement.
Aetna Inc.

John W. Rowe, M.D.

By:
Its:
Date:

Date:
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Exhibit 10.14

AMENDMENT
TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

AMENDMENT (“Amendment”) made as of this 27th day of January 2006 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of
December 5, 2003 (the “Employment Agreement”) by and between Aetna Inc. (“Aetna”), a Pennsylvania corporation and Ronald A. Williams (“Executive”).

WHEREAS , Aetna and Executive have previously entered into the Employment Agreement; and
WHEREAS , Aetna and Executive desire to amend the Employment Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, effective February 14, 2006, the Employment Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
1. Sections 1.01(a) and (b) of the Employment Agreement are amended in their entirety to read as follows:

“(a) On February 14, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), Executive shall assume the position, duties and responsibilities as the Company’s President and
Chief Executive Officer.

(b) In such position, Executive shall have the duties and authority commensurate with such position and such other duties and authority, consistent
with such position, as shall be assigned to him from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). Executive shall report only to
the Board.”
2. Section 1.02 of the Employment Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

“SECTION 1.02. Term. Executive shall continue to be employed by the Company for a period commencing on the Effective Date and, subject to earlier
termination or extension as provided herein, ending on December 31, 2008 (the “Employment Term”). On December 31, 2008 and on December 31st of each
subsequent year up to and including December 31, 2013, the Employment Term shall automatically be extended for one additional year (but not beyond
Executive’s sixty-fifth (65th) birthday) unless not later than 90 days prior to such date the Company or Executive shall have given written notice of its or his
intention not so to extend the Employment Term. Unless earlier terminated, the Employment Term shall end on Executive’s sixty-fifth (65th) birthday.”
3. Section 2.01 of the Employment Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

“SECTION 2.01. Base Salary . Starting on the Effective Date, the Company shall pay Executive an annual base salary (the “Base Salary”) at the initial
annual rate of $1,100,000, payable in equal monthly installments or otherwise in accordance with the payroll and personnel practices of the Company from
time to time. The Base Salary shall be reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”) for possible increase in the sole
discretion of the Committee. Executive’s Base Salary, as in effect from time to time, may not be reduced by the Company without Executive’s consent, except
in the event of a ratable reduction affecting all senior officers of the Company. Any amount of Base Salary in excess of $1,000,000 for a fiscal year shall be
mandatorily deferred on an annual basis and in compliance with Code Section 409A (but nevertheless remain eligible for benefits, if otherwise eligible) until
the fiscal year after the fiscal year in which Executive’s employment terminates; provided, however, to the extent permissible under Code Section 409A without
causing any additional tax on Executive under Code Section 409A, if the Company reasonably anticipates that the Company’s tax deduction with respect to
such payment would be limited or eliminated by application of Code Section 162(m), such payment shall be delayed to the earliest date in which the
Company anticipates that its tax deduction for such payment will not be limited or eliminated. Any deferral of Base Salary under this Section 2.01 shall earn a
rate of return in accordance with the Company’s deferral program applicable to the Company’s senior executive officers in effect from time to time.”
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4. Section 2.02(a) of the Employment Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

“(a) With respect to each fiscal year all or part of which is contained in the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to participate in the Company’s
annual incentive plan, with a target bonus opportunity of 150% of Base Salary, a threshold bonus opportunity of 75% of Base Salary and a maximum bonus
opportunity of 300% of Base Salary or such other greater amount as the Committee may determine in its sole discretion; provided, however, that in no event
shall Executive’s bonus payment exceed the maximum limit prescribed under the Company’s annual incentive plan.”
5. Section 2.03 of the Employment Agreement is amended to add a new subsection (e) as follows:

“(e) With respect to all grants on or after the Effective Date under any Company equity or incentive plan, including without limitation, the Company’s
current long-term incentive plan, on Executive’s termination of employment (other than for Cause) Executive will be deemed to have satisfied any and all
criteria required to be considered “retired” (with the maximum benefit payable under any such grant as a retiree, including based on age or service) for
purposes of any such grants. In any event, all such vested Awards that are exercisable shall remain exercisable under the earlier of (i) the last date on which
such Award would otherwise have been exercisable, and (ii) the second anniversary of Executive’s termination of employment.”
6. Article 2 of the Employment Agreement is amended to add a new Section 2.05 as follows:

“SECTION 2.05. Restricted Stock Unit Grant . The Company shall cause the grant to Executive of 75,000 restricted stock units on the Effective Date,
which units shall vest, subject to Executive’s continued employment with the Company, in three equal annual installments commencing on the first
anniversary of the Effective Date; provided that the units shall fully vest on a Qualifying Event. Such grant shall include dividend equivalent rights (invested
into additional restricted stock units) and distribution of shares of the Company’s common stock registered under a Registration Statement on Form S-8 (that
is kept current) with the Securities and Exchange Commission representing the vested restricted stock units shall be made to Executive six months following
termination of employment; provided, however, to the extent permissible under Code Section 409A without causing any additional tax on Executive under
Code Section 409A, if the Company reasonably anticipates that the Company’s tax deduction with respect to such payment would be limited or eliminated by
application of Code Section 162(m), such payment shall be delayed to the earliest date in which the Company anticipates that its tax deduction for such
payment will not be limited or eliminated.“
7. Section 3.03(c) of the Employment Agreement is amended to replace “second anniversary” with “third anniversary.”
8. Article 3 of the Employment Agreement is amended to add a new Section 3.06 as follows:

“SECTION 3.06. Six-Month Delay Distribution Requirement . Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any payment or
benefit to be made hereunder in connection with a termination of Executive’s employment does not comply with the “short-term deferral” exception under
Proposed Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) or any other rule or regulation exempting such payment from the six-month delay required under Code
Section 409A(B)(i), without causing such amounts or other amounts to be subject to additional tax under Code Section 409A, (a) such payment shall be
delayed until the earlier of (i) the date which is six months after Executive’s termination of employment for any reason other than death or (ii) the date of
Executive’s death, and (b) the full cost of any benefit shall be paid by Executive during such period and the Company shall promptly reimburse Executive for
said costs on the earlier of the date set forth in subsections (a)(i) or (ii) of this Section 3.06. The provisions of this Section 3.06 shall only apply if required to
comply with Code Section 409A.”
8. Section 6.02 of the Employment Agreement is amended to add the following sentence at the end of the section:

“In addition, the Company shall pay the reasonable legal fees and expenses associated with entering into the amendment to this Agreement dated

January 27, 2006.”
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9. Section 6.15 of the Employment Agreement is amended to insert a new subsection (g) as follows:
“(g) With respect to all awards of compensation after the Effective Date, including equity compensation or benefits, notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in the governing terms of such compensation award(s), Executive’s compliance with the restrictive covenants contained in Section 6.15 of
this Agreement shall be deemed to be compliance in all respects with any and all restrictive covenants contained in, incorporated by or otherwise referred to in
any document governing the terms of such compensation award(s).”
10. Article 6 of the Employment Agreement is amended to insert a new Section 6.17 as follows:

“SECTION 6.17. Code Section 409A . If any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity compensation or benefits)
would cause Executive to incur any additional tax or interest under Code Section 409A or any regulations or Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder, the
Company shall, after consulting with Executive, reform such provision to comply with Code Section 409A; provided that the Company agrees to maintain, to
the maximum extent practicable, the original intent and economic benefit to Executive of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of Code
Section 409A.”
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the undersigned has caused this Amendment to be executed this 27th day of January, 2006 .

AETNA INC.
By: /s/: John W. Rowe
Title: Chairman and CEO
EXECUTIVE
/s/: Ronald A. Williams
Ronald A. Williams
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Exhibit 10.15

AETNA INC.
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
INCENTIVE STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
Pursuant to its 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), Aetna Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to the person named below the stated number of Incentive
Stock Units on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth in this Agreement (the “Agreement”). All capitalized terms used herein which are not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meaning specified in the Plan.
Effective Date

Social Security No.

Grantee

Number of Incentive Stock Units

75,000

RONALD A. WILLIAMS

02/14/2006
Installment

1
2
3

Shares

Vesting Date

25,000
25,000
25,000

02/14/2007
02/14/2008
02/14/2009

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
(a)

“Change in Control” shall be as defined in the Employment Agreement.

(b)

“Cause” shall be as defined in the Employment Agreement.

(c)

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(d)

“Common Stock” means shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share.

(e)

“Effective Date” means the date of grant of this award of Incentive Stock Units as set forth above.

(f)

“Employment Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Grantee dated as of December 5, 2003,
as amended January 27, 2006 and as further amended from time to time.

(g)

“Fair Market Value” means the closing price of the Common Stock as reported by the Consolidated Tape of the New York Stock Exchange Listed
Shares on the date such value is to be determined, or, if no shares were traded on such date, on the next preceding day on which the Common Stock was
traded.

(h)

“Grantee” means the person named above to whom this award of Incentive Stock Units has been granted.

(i)

“Installment” means a portion of this award of Incentive Stock Units as set forth above.

(j)

“Qualifying Event” shall be as defined in the Employment Agreement.
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(k)

“Restricted Period” means the period during which this award of Incentive Stock Units is not vested.

(l)

“Successor” means the legal representative of the estate of a deceased Grantee or the person or persons who shall acquire the right to the Incentive Stock
Units by bequest or inheritance or by reason of the death of the Grantee.

(m)

“Vesting Date” means the date any Installment shall vest in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(n)

“Section 162(m) of the Code” means the exception for performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code and any applicable Treasury
regulations thereunder.

(o)

“Section 409A of the Code” means the nonqualified deferred compensation rules under Section 409A of the Code and any applicable Treasury
regulations thereunder.

ARTICLE II
RESTRICTED PERIOD; DISTRIBUTION
(a)

The Incentive Stock Units will vest in Installments on the dates set forth above or on such earlier date(s) as provided in Article IV or under the terms of
the Employment Agreement.

(b)

The Incentive Stock Units, to the extent vested, shall be paid to Grantee by distribution in whole shares of Common Stock, registered under a
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (that is kept current) with the Securities and Exchange Commission, six months after Grantee’s termination of
employment. The number of shares distributable shall be equal to the number of vested Incentive Stock Units on the distribution date. In addition, any
cash representing fractional shares shall be paid on the same distribution date. The distribution of shares of Common Stock shall be delayed beyond the
date six months after Grantee’s termination of employment to a date later in the same fiscal year, to the extent permissible under Section 409A of the
Code without causing any additional tax on Executive under Section 409A of the Code, if the Company reasonably anticipates that the Company’s tax
deduction with respect to such payment would be limited or eliminated by application of Section 162(m) of the Code, such payment shall be delayed to
the earliest date in which the Company anticipates that its tax deduction for such payment will not be limited or eliminated.

(c)

When distributed, the Incentive Stock Units will be settled on a net basis. Prior to issuing shares of Common Stock, the Company will withhold an
amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum federal, state, local and withholding tax requirements related to the Incentive Stock Units.

ARTICLE III

CAPITAL CHANGES
The Incentive Stock Units shall be adjusted in the same manner as the underlying shares of Common Stock in the event of a Fundamental Corporate Event.
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ARTICLE IV

ACCELERATED VESTING
Upon the occurrence of a Qualifying Event or a Change in Control, each Incentive Stock Unit shall become immediately vested.

ARTICLE V
TERMINATION OF INCENTIVE STOCK UNIT
Except as otherwise provided herein, in the Plan or in the Employment Agreement, if any Installment of this Incentive Stock Unit is not yet vested on or before
the Grantee’s termination of employment, such unvested Installment shall be forfeited.

ARTICLE VI
EMPLOYEE COVENANTS
(a)

As consideration for the award of Incentive Stock Units evidenced hereby, the nondisclosure, nonsolicitation, noncompete and nondisparagement
employee covenants included in the Employment Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof as set forth herein.

(b)

If any provision of the provisions incorporated herein pursuant to Article VI(a) is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction not to be enforceable in
the manner set forth herein, the Company and Grantee agree that it is the intention of the parties that such provision should be enforceable to the
maximum extent possible under applicable law and that such court shall reform such provision to make it enforceable in accordance with the intent of
the parties.

(c)

Grantee acknowledges that a material part of the inducement for the Company to award the Incentive Stock evidenced hereby is Grantee’s covenants
incorporated herein pursuant to Article VI(a) and that the covenants and obligations of Grantee relate to special, unique and extraordinary matters and
that a violation of any of the terms of such covenants and obligations will cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are not
available at law. Therefore, Grantee agrees that, if Grantee shall breach any of those covenants or obligations, Grantee shall not be entitled to vest in the
Incentive Stock evidenced herein or be entitled to retain any income therefrom and the Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or
such other equitable relief (without the requirement to post bond) restraining Grantee from committing any violation of the covenants and obligations
incorporated herein pursuant to Article VI(a). The remedies in the preceding sentence are cumulative and are in addition to any other rights and remedies
the Company may have at law or in equity as a court or arbitrator shall reasonably determine.

ARTICLE VII
OTHER TERMS
(a)

Neither the execution and delivery hereof nor the granting of the Incentive Stock Units shall constitute or be evidence of any agreement or understanding,
express or implied, on the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to employ or continue the employment of the Grantee for any period.

(b)

Grantee shall not have any rights as a stockholder by virtue of this grant of Incentive Stock Units.
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(c)

Grantee shall be entitled to dividend equivalents on the Incentive Stock Units, which dividend equivalents shall be invested into additional Incentive
Stock Units based on the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date such dividend equivalents are paid. Any such additional Incentive Stock
Units shall vest ratably in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth herein for the underlying Incentive Stock Units in effect on the date such
dividend equivalents are paid. Upon distribution of the Incentive Stock Units, any fractional shares shall be distributed in cash.

(d)

The Incentive Stock Units shall represent an unfunded contractual obligation of the Company to pay to Grantee shares of Common Stock; provided,
however, that nothing in this Agreement shall permit Grantee a claim against particular assets of the Company or require the Company to segregate or
otherwise set aside assets for payment of any obligation hereunder.

(e)

During the Restricted Period, the Incentive Stock Units shall be nontransferable and nonassignable except by will or the laws of descent and
distribution.

(f)

This Agreement is subject to the Plan heretofore adopted by the Company and approved by its shareholders. The terms and provisions of the Plan or a
successor plan (including any subsequent amendments thereto) are hereby incorporated herein by reference. In the event of a conflict between any term or
provision contained herein and a term or provision of the Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the Plan will govern and prevail.

(g)

If any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity compensation or benefits) would cause Grantee to incur any
additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Code, the Company shall, after consulting with Grantee, reform such provision to comply with
Section 409A of the Code; provided that the Company agrees to maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent and economic benefit to
Grantee of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of Section 409A of the Code.

[Remainder of Page Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on the Effective Date, and Grantee has accepted the terms and
provisions hereof.

AETNA INC.

By: /s/: John W, Rowe
Chairman
Accepted:

/s/: Ronald A. Williams
(Signature)

Name:

Ronald A. Williams

This Agreement will not be effective and will automatically expire unless it is signed by Grantee and returned to Executive Compensation Administration,
Aetna Human Resources within forty-five days (45) of receipt of this Agreement.
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Exhibit 12.1
Computation of Ratios
The computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:
2005

2004

Years Ended December 31,
2003

Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations
Add back fixed charges
Income (loss), as adjusted

$ 2,547.4
177.5
$2,724.9

$1,898.9
165.5
$ 2,064.4

$ 1,441.6
161.1
$1,602.7

$ 544.8
178.3
$ 723.1

$ (378.7)(1)
218.8
$(159.9)

Fixed charges:
Interest on indebtedness
Portion of rents representative of interest factor
Total fixed charges

$ 122.8
54.7
$ 177.5

$

60.8
$ 165.5

$ 102.9
58.2
$ 161.1

$119.5
58.8
$ 178.3

$ 142.8
76.0
$ 218.8

12.47

9.95

4.06

(Millions)

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
(1)

15.35

104.7

2002

2001

(.73)(1)

For the year ended December 31, 2001, pretax loss from continuing operations reflects a severance and facilities charge of $192.5 million. Additional
pretax income from continuing operations necessary to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed
charges of 1.0 was approximately $378.7 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the terms “we”, “our”, or “us” used throughout this MD&A, refer to Aetna Inc. (“Aetna”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”).
OVERVIEW
We are one of the nation’s leading diversified health care benefits companies, serving approximately 27.9 million unique members with information and
resources to help them make better informed decisions about their health care. We offer a broad range of traditional and consumer-directed health insurance
products and related services, including medical, pharmacy, dental, behavioral health, group life, long-term care and disability plans, and medical
management capabilities. Our customers include employer groups, individuals, college students, part-time and hourly workers, health plans and governmentsponsored plans. Our operations are conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions.
The following MD&A provides a review of our financial condition as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. This Overview should be read in conjunction with the entire MD&A, which contains detailed information that is
important to understanding our results of operations and financial condition. This Overview is qualified in its entirety by the full MD&A below.

During 2005, we continued to improve our operating earnings, cash flows from operations and financial position
The period of 2002 to 2004 was one of financial turnaround for us as a company. After recording operating losses in 2001, we returned to profitability in 2002
due primarily to significant premium rate increases, targeted reductions of unprofitable membership and an increased focus on managing rising health care
costs. During 2003, our financial performance improved, although our medical membership and revenue declined. During the last two years, significant
accomplishments that have helped improve our operating earnings, cash flows from operations as well as overall financial position include:

Ø

Growth in medical membership and our specialty products combined with premium and fee rate increases contributed to increases in total revenues.

Ø

Disciplined pricing and our continued focus on managing medical costs led to improved health care underwriting results.

Ø

Consistent focus on operating expenses led to greater efficiencies.

Ø

Effective deployment of substantial capital for share repurchases, strategic acquisitions and pension plan funding.

During 2004 and 2005, we experienced membership increases in both our fully-insured and our administrative service contract (“ASC”) books of business.
Our medical membership increased by 1.1 million members in 2005 and 654,000 members in 2004. In addition, during this period we had growth in our
specialty products of dental, pharmacy and group insurance. As of December 31, 2005, we served approximately 14.8 million medical members, 13.1 million
dental members, 9.4 million pharmacy members and 13.6 million group insurance members. Premium and fee rate increases, coupled with the growth in
membership, helped expand our total revenues, which increased approximately $2.6 billion in 2005 and $1.9 billion in 2004.
The underwriting results in our health care business reflect our focus on medical cost management and our pricing policy of achieving premium yields that are
in-line with medical cost trends. These factors contributed to comparatively stable medical cost ratios during the years 2003 through 2005.
The combination of total revenue growth, consistent underwriting approach and increased operating expense efficiency has contributed to an improvement in
our operating earnings. These efforts have also contributed to improved cash flows from operations (refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources”). In addition,
our cash position was further benefited from certain tax refund claims approved in 2004. Approximately $735 million of the total refund claims were received
in 2005 and 2004. An additional $40 million was received in February 2006.
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Summary of Consolidated Results
(Millions, except per share amounts)

2005

$22,491.9
1,634.5
1,634.5
2.70
2.70

Total revenues
Income from continuing operations (1)
Net income (2)
Income from continuing operations per common share
Net income per common share

2004

$19,904.1
1,215.1
2,245.1
1.94
3.58

2003

$17,976.4
933.8
933.8
1.48
1.48

(1)

Income from continuing operations reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $159 million
($250 million pretax) (including approximately $65 million ($103 million pretax) related to the release of reserves related to the New York Market
Stabilization Pool) for 2005, approximately $57 million ($90 million pretax) for 2004 and approximately $148 million ($228 million pretax) for 2003.
This development was recorded in the Health Care segment and is discussed in further detail below in the discussion of Health Care’s results. Other
items reflected in income from continuing operations include:

Ø

In 2005, we reduced the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products in the Large Case Pensions segment by $43 million ($67 million
pretax).

Ø

In 2003, we recorded a charge of $75 million ($115 million pretax) in connection with a physician class action settlement, net of an estimated insurance
recoverable of $72 million pretax, reflected in the Health Care segment.

(2)

Net income for 2005, 2004 and 2003 includes net realized capital gains of $21 million, $46 million and $42 million, respectively. Additionally, net
income for 2004 includes income from discontinued operations of $1.03 billion related to the completion of certain Internal Revenue Service audits
associated with businesses previously sold (refer to Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).

During 2004 and 2005, we managed our capital in support of both new and ongoing initiatives
In 2005 and 2004 we used substantial capital to: fund targeted acquisitions relevant to our strategy, repurchase our common stock and make voluntary
contributions to our tax qualified pension plan.
During 2005, we spent approximately $1.2 billion on the following acquisitions, which we believe will enhance our existing product capabilities and future
growth opportunities:

Aetna Behavioral Health — In December 2005, we purchased the assets and operations of Magellan Health Services, Inc. (“Magellan”) previously used
to provide behavioral health care services to our members. The transaction is a result of an agreement we negotiated with Magellan in March 2003. The
purchase price was not material to our financial condition. Effective January 1, 2006, we launched a full-service behavioral health business.
Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC (“ASP”) — In December 2005, we purchased the remaining interest in ASP, a joint venture we launched with Priority
Health Care Corporation (“PHCC”) in 2004 to better serve Aetna members with conditions that require specialty pharmaceuticals. We had owned 40% of
the joint venture, with an option to purchase the remaining interest, which accelerated upon the change in control of PHCC in October 2005. The purchase
price was not material to our financial condition. ASP compliments our mail-order pharmacy, Aetna Rx Home Delivery ®, which was launched in 2003
and has operations in Missouri and Florida.

HMS Healthcare, Inc. (“HMS”) — In July 2005, we acquired HMS, a privately held regional health care network with operations in Michigan,
Colorado and other states, for $394 million. This transaction was financed from available cash. We recorded approximately $291 million of goodwill
associated with the acquisition of HMS, representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which included
approximately $117 million of customer list, non-compete and trade name intangible assets).
Active Health Management, Inc. (“Active Health”) — In May 2005, we acquired Active Health, a privately held health management and health care
data analytics company, for approximately $405 million. This transaction was financed from available cash. We recorded approximately $309 million of
goodwill associated with the acquisition of Active Health, representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which
included approximately $92 million of customer list, technology and trademark intangible assets).
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Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”) — In January 2005, we acquired SRC, a privately held administrator of group limited benefit products for parttime and hourly workers. For approximately $256 million, financed through available cash, we acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the
insurance contracts administered by SRC. At December 31, 2005, approximately $67 million of the purchase price was held in escrow pending
resolution of certain future events (of which $20 million was released in February 2006 upon resolution of one of the contingencies). We recorded
approximately $140 million of goodwill, representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which included
approximately $82 million of customer list, trademark and non-compete intangible assets).
In 2005, we repurchased approximately 42 million shares of common stock at a cost of approximately $1.7 billion under share repurchase programs
authorized by our Board of Directors (the “Board”). In addition to funding ordinary course operating activities, approximately $150 million of cash was used
to pay a prior year physician class action settlement and $245 million was used to make a voluntary contribution to our tax qualified pension plan.
In 2005, we continued to introduce or further develop new products and services including continued developments of our consumer-directed health care plan
products such as the Aetna HealthFund ®, changes to our other health products and medical cost management programs and changes to our Medicare product
portfolio resulting from the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”).
We intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitions and other business development activities that support our strategy for growth and profitability. We also
intend to continue to deploy our capital through share repurchases.

On February 27, 2006, we announced that we entered into an agreement with Broadspire Services, Inc. and Broadspire Management Services, Inc.
(collectively, “Broadspire”) to acquire its disability and leave management businesses, which operate as a third party administrator offering absence
management services, including short-term and long-term disability administration and leave management to employers. We will acquire Broadspire’s
disability and leave management businesses for approximately $160 million and expect to finance the transaction from available cash. The transaction is
subject to customary closing conditions and federal Hart-Scott-Rodino antitrust regulatory approval. We expect to close the transaction in the second quarter of
2006.
Outlook for 2006

Our goals for 2006 are to profitably grow market share and operating earnings; demonstrate superior medical cost, quality and clinical integration for our
customers; achieve competitive operating expenses; use technology to enhance our competitive position; and deliver best-in-class service for all our
constituents. Our 2006 outlook is as follows:

Health Care membership is targeted for growth in 2006. We continue to take actions to increase membership, including efforts to reach customers via
an integrated product approach in generating sales to new customers, as well as increased cross-sell penetration within our existing membership base and
targeted geographic marketing, to achieve membership growth in 2006. If we achieve these projected membership increases combined with price increases,
it would contribute to higher revenue and operating earnings in our Health Care business.

Group Insurance operating earnings are expected to remain approximately level with 2005. We expect Group Insurance operating earnings in 2006 to
be generally level with those of 2005.

Large Case Pensions earnings are expected to reflect continued run-off of business. We expect operating earnings in our Large Case Pensions segment
to be lower than in 2005, consistent with the continued run-off of underlying liabilities and assets. However, operating earnings for Large Case Pensions
can vary from current expectations depending on, among other matters, future investment performance of the assets supporting existing liabilities.

Operating expense ratio (operating expenses divided by revenue) is targeted to improve. We continue to take actions to improve the efficiency of our
operations, including efforts to leverage existing infrastructure to support additional growth as well as improvements in systems and processes. We will
continue to focus 2006 spending on operational improvements including self-service and administrative technologies that will yield future benefits.
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Refer to “Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors” for information regarding other important factors that may materially affect us.

Management Update
Effective February 14, 2006, Ronald A. Williams became Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) succeeding John W. Rowe, M. D., who plans to retire no later than
the end of 2006. Dr. Rowe will serve as executive Chairman until his retirement. As CEO, Mr. Williams will be responsible for the management of the
Company. As executive Chairman, Dr. Rowe will continue to be an active, full-time executive. In addition to chairing the Board of Directors, he will manage
corporate priorities related to employee engagement, internal audit and risk management, public policy, public health leadership initiatives and corporate public
involvement.

Effective September 6, 2005, William J. Casazza became Senior Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. Casazza succeeded Louis J. Briskman, who
resigned in the third quarter of 2005. Mr. Casazza reports to Mr. Williams and serves as a member of the Office of the Chairman, our most senior
management group.

Effective February 1, 2006, Mark T. Bertolini became Executive Vice President, Regional Businesses. Also on February 1, 2006, James K. Foreman became
Executive Vice President, National Businesses. Messrs. Bertolini and Foreman report to Mr. Williams.

Effective February 21, 2006, Troyen A. Brennan, M.D., became Chief Medical Officer. Dr. Brennan reports to Mr. Williams. William C. Popik, M.D., Chief
Medical Officer and Head of National Medical Services, retired on September 30, 2005. Charles M. Cutler, M.D. served as interim Chief Medical Officer
through February 20, 2006, reporting to Mr. Williams. Dr. Cutler is currently our National Medical Director for Quality.
Board of Directors Update
Effective October 1, 2005, Molly J. Coye, M.D., founder and CEO of the Health Technology Center, was appointed to our Board. With the addition of
Dr. Coye, the Board expanded to 12 members. Dr. Coye also serves as a member of the Board’s Medical Affairs and Investment and Finance Committees.
Pursuant to our Corporate Governance Guidelines regarding retirement age, Jack D. Kuehler, age 72, retired from the Board effective at the 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
Judith Rodin did not stand for re-election to the Board at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Discussion of segment results and operating earnings
The discussion of our results of operations that follows is presented based on our reportable segments in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
(“FAS”) No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information , and is consistent with our segment disclosure included in Note
19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Each segment’s discussion of results is based on operating earnings, which is the measure reported to our
Chief Executive Officer for purposes of assessing the segment’s financial performance and making operating decisions, such as allocating resources to the
segment. Our operations are conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions.
Our discussion of the results of operations of each business segment is based on operating earnings, which exclude realized capital gains and losses as well as
other items from net income reported in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). We believe excluding realized capital gains
and losses from net income to arrive at operating earnings provides more useful information as to our underlying business performance. Realized capital gains
and losses arise from various types of transactions, primarily in the course of managing a portfolio of assets that support the payment of liabilities; however
these transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting or servicing of products for our customers and are not directly related to the core performance of our
business operations. We also may exclude other items from net income to arrive at operating earnings should those other items similarly not relate to the
ordinary course of our business. In each segment discussion below, we present a table that reconciles operating earnings to net income reported in accordance
with GAAP. Each table details the realized capital gains and losses and any other items excluded from net income, and the footnotes to each table describe the
nature of each other item and why we believe it is appropriate to exclude that item from net income.
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HEALTH CARE
Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefits management, dental and vision plans offered on both a Risk basis (where we assume all or a majority of
the risk for medical and dental care costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor assumes all or a majority of the risk for medical and dental
costs). Medical plans include point-of-service (“POS”), health maintenance organization (“HMO”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and indemnity
benefit (“Indemnity”) products. Health plans also include health savings accounts (“HSAs”) and Aetna HealthFund ®, consumer-directed health plans that
combine traditional POS, PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account. Health Care also offers network access
products in select markets and other products, including medical management services, behavioral health, and stop loss insurance.

Operating Summary
(Millions)

Premiums:
Commerical Risk (1)
Medicare
Total premiums
Fees and other revenue
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Total revenue
Health care costs (2)
Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses (3)
Total operating expenses
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets
Total benefits and expenses
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

2005

2004

2003

$15,919.6
1,005.1
16,924.7
2,385.8
295.0
10.6
19,616.1
13,107.9

$ 13,924.1
938.7
14,862.8
2,051.6
262.1
24.1
17,200.6
11,637.7

$ 12,329.3
906.2
13,235.5
1,862.6
244.6

763.3

630.9
3,155.0
3,785.9
42.5
15,466.1
1,734.5
639.5
$ 1,095.0

3,334.0

4,097.3
57.4
17,262.6
2,353.5
859.6
$ 1,493.9

34.4

15,377.1
10,135.8
510.7
3,408.7

3,919.4
50.8
14,106.0
1,271.1
461.5
$ 809.6

(1)

Commercial Risk includes all medical and dental risk products, except Medicare and Medicaid.

(2)

The percentage of health care costs related to capitated arrangements with primary care physicians (a fee arrangement where we pay providers a monthly
fixed fee for each member, regardless of the medical services provided to the member) was 7.9% for 2005 compared to 9.1% for 2004 and 10.9% for
2003.

(3)

Includes salaries and related benefit expenses of $2.0 billion in 2005, $1.9 billion in 2004 and $2.0 billion in 2003.

The table below reconciles operating earnings to net income reported in accordance with GAAP:
(Millions, after tax)

Net income
Other items included in net income:
Net realized capital gains
Physician class action settlement
Operating earnings
(1)

2005

$ 1,493.9
(7.0)

—
$1,486.9

(1)

2004

2003

$1,095.0

$809.6

(15.6)
—
$ 1,079.4

(22.2)
75.0
$ 862.4

In 2003, we entered into a settlement agreement with representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies resolving a national
class action lawsuit as well as multiple state court actions filed against us. As a result of this physician class action settlement, we recorded a charge of
$75 million ($115 million pretax), net of an estimated insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax (refer to Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information). We believe the settlement of this significant litigation does not relate to the ordinary course of our business and
does not reflect the underlying performance of our business and have excluded it from net income to arrive at operating earnings.
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Improved underwriting margins and operating expense efficiencies contributed to strong earnings growth in 2005
Operating earnings for 2005 increased $408 million from 2004. The increase in operating earnings reflects higher total underwriting margins (premiums less
health care costs), fees and other revenue and net investment income as well as improved operating expense efficiencies. The total underwriting margin reflects
growth in premiums and a lower Commercial Risk medical cost ratio, as further discussed below. The growth in premiums and fees and other revenue
resulted from increases in membership levels (refer to “Membership”), including approximately 170,000 Risk members associated with the acquisition of
SRC, as well as rate increases for renewing membership. Furthermore, growth in fees and other revenue reflects our recent acquisitions of Active Health and
HMS. Net investment income increased due to higher yields from debt securities and higher mortgage prepayment fees.
We continued to gain operating expense efficiencies as a percentage of revenue. However, total operating expenses increased in 2005 due to expenses related to
the growth in membership and acquisitions. Total selling expenses increased due to higher overall premiums and a higher proportion of premiums in certain
customer markets which have higher selling costs. General and administrative expenses increased due to higher employee related costs, outside services and
claim services costs, in each case associated with higher membership. Furthermore, enrollment and marketing costs increased due to the new Medicare
Prescription Drug Plan (refer to our discussion of Medicare below).

Improved underwriting margins and lower general and administrative expenses contributed to continued improvement in results for 2004
Operating earnings for 2004 reflected an increase of $217 million from 2003. The increase in 2004 operating earnings reflected higher total underwriting
margins, higher fees and other revenue and lower general and administrative expenses. The total underwriting margin reflected growth in premiums, a higher
Commercial Risk medical cost ratio, as further discussed below, and less favorable development of prior period health care costs in 2004 ($57 million after
tax ($90 million pretax)) when compared to 2003 ($148 million after tax ($228 million pretax)). The growth in premiums and fees and other revenue resulted
from rate increases for renewing membership and increases in membership levels (refer to “Membership”). General and administrative expenses were lower
primarily due to lower employee-related performance-based compensation, lower pension costs and lower rent expense due to an $18 million pretax expense in
2003 that was not present in 2004, associated with the exit of a real estate facility no longer being used in our operations. Lower expenses were offset in part by
a voluntary contribution of $29 million ($45 million pretax) to the Aetna Foundation, Inc., a separate and distinct charitable organization, in 2004. The
increase in operating earnings for 2004 was partially offset by increased selling expenses consistent with higher overall premiums and a higher proportion of
premiums in certain customer markets which have higher selling costs. Operating expenses also include a curtailment benefit of $21 million after tax
($32 million pretax) recorded in the first quarter of 2004 related to the elimination of the dental subsidy for all retirees.

The performance of our Commercial Risk products improved in 2005 and 2004
Commercial Risk premiums increased approximately $2.0 billion in 2005, when compared to 2004, and increased approximately $1.6 billion in 2004, when
compared to 2003. The increases in 2005 and 2004 reflect increases in membership levels (refer to “Membership”) and premium rate increases on renewing
business.

The Commercial Risk medical cost ratio (health care costs divided by premiums) was 76.9% for 2005, 77.8% for 2004 and 76.0% for 2003. Commercial
Risk health care costs for 2005, 2004 and 2003 reflect favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates, on a pretax basis, of approximately
$233 million (including approximately $103 million related to the release of reserves related to the New York Market Stabilization Pool, discussed below),
$78 million, and $215 million, respectively. The favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates recognized in each of these three years
primarily relates to health care costs incurred in the preceding year and is primarily a result of the actual claim submission time being shorter than we
anticipated, as well as lower than expected health care cost trends. As a result of the acceleration in claim submission time, the volume of claims incurred but
not reported was estimated to be higher than we actually experienced. Additionally, our health care cost trend rate was lower than we anticipated in determining
our health care costs payable at December 31 of each of the preceding years. These factors resulted in the favorable development of prior period health care
estimates recognized in 2005, 2004 and 2003. The calculation of Health Care Costs Payable is a critical accounting estimate (refer to Critical Accounting
Estimates — Health Care Costs Payable for more information).
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In 2005, we entered into an agreement with certain other carriers and the New York State Insurance Department as to our participation in the New York State
Market Stabilization Pool under New York Regulation 146 (“Regulation 146”) for the years 1999 through 2004. Regulation 146 requires all carriers with
small group and/or individual business in New York State to participate in a market stabilization pooling mechanism under which carriers that experience
higher than average cost factors in providing services to members with specified medical conditions receive payments from the pool, and carriers that
experience lower than average cost factors make payments to the pool. From 1999 through 2004, in the absence of any pool data regarding relative average cost
factors of the carriers doing business in New York State, we made provisions for our estimate of liabilities incurred in this pool based on discussions with the
New York State Insurance Department and historical experience. As of December 31, 2004 we had recorded reserves (included in health care costs payable) of
approximately $89 million based on these estimates.
In June 2005, we entered into an agreement with the New York State Insurance Department and other carriers participating in the pool that modified the
mechanism by which the amounts due to (or receivable from) the pool were to be settled. Under this agreement, we were a net receiver of approximately
$14 million in cash from the pool in satisfaction of all our remaining obligations relating to the pool for the years 1999 through 2004. Accordingly, in 2005 we
released the $89 million liability recorded as of December 31, 2004, which combined with the $14 million cash received to result in a $103 million pretax
favorable development of prior period health care costs. This agreement also eliminates any further payment obligation we have for 2005. The New York State
Insurance Department intends to propose a new pooling mechanism for years subsequent to 2005.

Excluding the favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates, the adjusted Commercial Risk medical cost ratio was 78.4% for 2005, 78.3%
for 2004 and 77.7% for 2003 (refer to the reconciliations of Commercial Risk health care costs to adjusted Commercial Risk health care costs below). The
medical cost ratio in 2005 was comparable to the medical cost ratio in 2004 as increases in per member health care costs kept pace with increases in per
member premiums. Increases in per member health care costs were primarily due to increases across all medical cost categories, with larger increases in
outpatient and ancillary services than in physician, inpatient and pharmacy services. The increase in the medical cost ratio in 2004 when compared to 2003
reflects a percentage increase in per member health care costs that slightly outpaced the percentage increase in per member premiums. The increase in per
member health care costs in 2004 was due primarily to increases in costs related to inpatient, pharmacy, outpatient and physician services.
2005

(Millions)

Commercial Risk health care costs (included in total health care costs above)
Approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates:
Favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates
Release of reserves related to participation in the New York Market Stabilization
Pool

Subtotal approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost
estimates
Adjusted Commercial Risk health care costs

2003

2004

$ 12,244.1

$ 10,828.8

$9,365.4

130.0

78.0

215.0

103.0

—

—

233.0

78.0
$10,906.8

215.0
$ 9,580.4

$12,477.1

For Medicare products, our medical cost ratios remained constant in 2005 and increased in 2004
Our Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) contracts with the federal government are renewable for a one-year period each January 1. In 2005, we
offered a Medicare Advantage option in all of the markets we served in 2004. In addition, we expanded into select markets and now offer Medicare Advantage
in 165 counties in 13 states and Washington D.C. We intend to provide Medicare Advantage products to all these markets in 2006. Also in 2005, we were
selected to be a national provider of the new Medicare Part D prescription drug plan, effective January 1, 2006.

Medicare premiums increased approximately $66 million in 2005, when compared to 2004, and increased approximately $33 million in 2004, when compared
to 2003. The increase in 2005 reflects increases in supplemental premiums paid to us by Medicare members and rate increases by CMS. The increase in 2004
reflects increases in premiums due to rate increases by CMS, partially offset by reductions in supplemental premiums and decreases in membership.
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The Medicare medical cost ratio for 2005 was 86.0%, compared to 86.2% for 2004 and 85.2% for 2003. Health care costs for 2005, 2004 and 2003 reflect
favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates on a pretax basis of approximately $17 million, $12 million and $13 million, respectively.
Excluding this favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates, the adjusted Medicare medical cost ratio was 87.6% for 2005, 87.5% for 2004
and 86.6% for 2003 (refer to the reconciliations of Medicare health care costs to adjusted Medicare health care costs below). The medical cost ratio in 2005 was
comparable to the medical cost ratio in 2004 as increases in per member health care costs kept pace with increases in per member premiums. Increases in per
member health care costs were primarily due to higher unit cost and utilization of health care services. The increase in the medical cost ratio for 2004 when
compared to 2003 reflects a percentage increase in per member health care costs that slightly outpaced the percentage increase in per member premiums. The
increase in per member health care costs in 2004 was due primarily to higher utilization of health care services.
2005

(Millions)

$863.9
17.0
$ 880.9

Medicare health care costs (included in total health care costs above)
Approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates
Adjusted Medicare health care costs

2004

$ 809.0
12.0
$ 821.0

2003

$771.8
13.0

$ 784.8

Other Sources of Revenue
Fees and other revenue for 2005 increased $334 million compared to 2004, reflecting growth in ASC membership levels (refer to “Membership”), rate
increases, sales of add-on services and other revenue resulting from our acquisitions of Active Health and HMS. Fees and other revenue for 2004 increased
$189 million compared to 2003, reflecting an increase in rates and ASC membership levels.
Net investment income for 2005 increased $33 million compared to 2004, reflecting higher average yields and higher mortgage loan prepayment fees. Net
investment income for 2004 increased $18 million compared to 2003, due primarily to higher average asset levels.

Net realized capital gains of $11 million ($7 million after tax) for 2005 are due primarily to real estate gains and gains on debt securities from rebalancing our
investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment and recoveries from investments previously written-down. Net realized capital gains of $24 million
($16 million after tax) for 2004 primarily reflect gains on debt securities resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment partially offset by losses from
the write-down of other invested assets. Net realized capital gains of $34 million ($22 million after tax) for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt securities
resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment.

Membership
Health Care’s membership as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 was as follows:
2005

(Thousands)

Medical:
Commercial
Medicare
Medicaid
Total medical membership

Dental (2)

Risk

5,115

2004

ASC

Total

Risk

ASC

Total

14,521

8,762
—
113
8,875

13,446
97
113
13,656

7,259

11,967

—
5,216

9,406
19(1)
114
9,539

14,755

4,684
97
—
4,781

5,078

8,020

13,098

4,708

101

120
114

Pharmacy (3)
Consumer-directed health plans (4)

9,445

8,447

453

224

(1)

Medicare ASC members represent those served through our participation in the Medicare Health Support Program.

(2)

In 2005, we began including Aetna Global Benefits dental membership. Dental membership for 2004 has been revised accordingly.

(3)

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, pharmacy members (in thousands) include 8,885 and 7,989 members, respectively, receiving pharmacy benefit
management services and 560 and 458 members, respectively, who purchased medications through our mail order pharmacy during the fourth quarter
of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(4)

Represents our consumer-directed membership included in Commercial medical membership above.
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Total medical membership as of December 31, 2005 increased by approximately 1.1 million compared to December 31, 2004. For the same period, dental
membership also increased by approximately 1.1 million members. The percentage of Risk and ASC medical membership was approximately 35% and 65%,
respectively, at both December 31, 2005 and 2004.

GROUP INSURANCE

Group Insurance includes primarily group life insurance products offered on a Risk basis, including basic term group life insurance, group universal life,
supplemental or voluntary programs and accidental death and dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes disability products offered on both a
Risk and an employer-funded basis, which consist primarily of short-term and long-term disability insurance (and products which combine both), as well as
long-term care products, which provide benefits offered to cover the cost of care in private home settings, adult day care, assisted living or nursing facilities.

Operating Summary
2005

(Millions)

Premiums:
Life
Disability
Long-term care
Total premiums
Fees and other revenue
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Total revenue
Current and future benefits
Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Total benefits and expenses
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income
(1)

2004

$ 1,329.1
379.7
94.9
1,803.7
31.6
293.1
13.4

2,141.8
1,708.0
80.2
163.0
243.2
1,951.2
190.6
52.2
$ 138.4

(1)

$ 1,226.4
315.1
83.4

1,624.9
30.6
274.1
30.5
1,960.1
1,531.1
69.1
153.9
223.0

1,754.1
206.0
59.7
$ 146.3

2003

$1,146.7
287.3
73.2
1,507.2
34.4

268.7
22.6
1,832.9
1,406.2
56.7
159.5
216.2
1,622.4
210.5
61.2
$ 149.3

Includes salaries and related benefit expenses of $103.4 million in 2005, $88.5 million in 2004 and $90.5 million in 2003.

The table presented below reconciles operating earnings to net income reported in accordance with GAAP:
(Millions, after tax)

2005

$ 138.4

Net income
Net realized capital gains
Operating earnings

(8.7)

$129.7

2004

2003

$ 146.3
(19.8)
$126.5

$ 149.3
(14.5)
$ 134.8

Operating earnings for 2005 increased $3 million, when compared to 2004, and operating earnings for 2004 decreased $8 million, when compared to 2003.
The increase in operating earnings for 2005 reflects higher premiums from increased membership and higher net investment income (due to mortgage loan
prepayment fees, higher average yields and asset levels, and limited partnership income), substantially offset by higher benefits and operating expenses. The
Group Insurance benefit cost ratios were 94.7% for 2005, 94.2% for 2004 and 93.3% for 2003. Operating expenses increased in 2005 and 2004 primarily due
to higher employee related costs and selling expenses associated with higher premium revenue.
The decrease in operating earnings for 2004 reflects an increase in the benefit cost ratio (current and future benefits divided by premiums), higher selling
expenses and lower fees and other revenue, partially offset by lower general and administrative expenses and higher net investment income levels. The increase
in the benefit cost ratio in 2004 reflects unfavorable prior year disability reserve experience of approximately $4.5 million after tax related to a reinsurance
agreement in which we no longer participate as well as lower net favorable
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effects from changes in long-term disability and long-term care reserve assumptions when compared to 2003.

Net realized capital gains for 2005 are due primarily to real estate gains and gains on debt securities recoveries from investments previously written-down and
from rebalancing our investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment, partially offset by losses from futures contracts used for correlating the maturities
of invested assets with the payment of expected liabilities. Net realized capital gains for 2004 reflect gains on debt securities resulting from sales in a low
interest rate environment and gains on the sale of certain real estate investments partially offset by losses from the write-down of other invested assets. Net
realized capital gains for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt securities resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment.

Membership
Group Insurance’s membership as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 was as follows:
(Thousands)

Life

Disability
Long-term care
Total

2005

2004

10,812
2,571
235
13,618

10,930
2,341
223
13,494

Total Group Insurance membership as of December 31, 2005 increased by approximately 124,000 members, compared to December 31, 2004. New
membership in Group Insurance was 1.5 million and 2.3 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively. Lapses and in-force membership reductions were 1.4
million for 2005, compared to 1.2 million for 2004.

LARGE CASE PENSIONS
Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for tax qualified pension plans. These
products provide a variety of funding and benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain
discontinued products.

Operating Summary
2005

(Millions)

$

Premiums
Net investment income
Other revenue
Net realized capital gains
Total revenue
Current and future benefits
General and administrative expenses (1)
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Total benefits and expenses
Income before income taxes

$

8.3

Assets under management: (2)
Fully guaranteed discontinued products
Experience-rated
Non-guaranteed (3)
Total assets under management

743.4

656.5
18.1
(66.7)
607.9
126.1

660.4
19.9
—
680.3
63.1
21.3
41.8

$

82.0

$

$

4,466.9
4,268.1
12,229.6
20,964.6

$

$

189.0
526.3
11.9
16.2

734.0

44.1

Income taxes
Net income

2003

2004

199.3
514.9
11.5

$

4,584.2
4,509.4
10,632.9
19,726.5

$

$
$

$

161.3
581.7
15.2
8.2
766.4
684.6
18.9
—
703.5
62.9
21.1
41.8
4,578.3
5,146.1
9,234.1
18,958.5

(1)

Includes salaries and related benefit expenses of $14.6 million, $14.3 million and $14.4 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

(2)

Excludes net unrealized capital gains of $362.6 million, $558.8 million and $537.6 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Refer
to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information on expected future reductions in these assets.

(3)

The increases in non-guaranteed assets under management in 2005 and 2004 primarily reflect investment appreciation and additional deposits accepted
from customers.
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The table presented below reconciles operating earnings to net income reported in accordance with GAAP:
2005

(Millions)

Net income
Other items included in net income:
Net realized capital gains
Reduction of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Operating earnings
(1)

$ 82.0
(5.4)
(1)

(43.4)

$ 33.2

2004

$ 41.8
(10.5)
—

$ 31.3

2003

$ 41.8
(5.3)

—
$36.5

In 1993, we discontinued the sale of our fully guaranteed large case pension products and established a reserve for anticipated future losses on these
products, which we review quarterly. Changes in this reserve are recognized when deemed appropriate. In 2005, we reduced the reserve for anticipated
future losses on discontinued products by $43.4 million ($66.7 million pretax). We believe excluding any changes to the reserve for anticipated future
losses on discontinued products provides more useful information as to our continuing products and is consistent with the treatment of the results of
operations of these discontinued products, which are credited/charged to the reserve and do not affect our results of operations.

Operating earnings in 2005 increased $2 million when compared to 2004, and decreased $5 million in 2004 when compared to 2003. Operating earnings in
2005 benefited from favorable experience related to a run-off product, and decreased in 2004 when compared to 2003 reflecting the continued run-off of
underlying assets and liabilities. Large Case Pensions’ operating earnings are expected to decline in the future in keeping with the run-off nature of the
business.
The reduction of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products in 2005 is primarily due to favorable investment performance and favorable
mortality and retirement experience compared to prior assumptions.
General account assets supporting experience-rated products (where the contract holder assumes investment and other risks subject to, among other things,
certain minimum guarantees) may be subject to participant or contract holder withdrawal. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, experiencerated contract holder and participant withdrawals were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

Scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments (1)
Contractholder withdrawals other than scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments (2)
Participant-directed withdrawals (2)

$379.6
45.6
18.4

2004

2003

$731.5
81.9
25.7

$768.0
78.9
27.6

(1)

Includes payments made upon contract maturity and other amounts distributed in accordance with contract schedules.

(2)

Approximately $674.4 million, $638.7 million and $644.1 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of experience-rated pension
contracts allowed for unscheduled contract holder withdrawals, subject to timing restrictions and formula-based market value adjustments. Further,
approximately $312.4 million, $339.0 million and $700.7 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of experience-rated pension
contracts supported by general account assets could be withdrawn or transferred to other plan investment options at the direction of plan participants,
without market value adjustment, subject to plan, contractual and income tax provisions.

Discontinued Products
We discontinued the sale of our fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium annuities (“SPAs”) and guaranteed investment contracts
(“GICs”)) in 1993. We established a reserve for anticipated future losses on these products based on the present value of the difference between the expected
cash flows from the assets supporting these products and the cash flows expected to be required to meet the product obligations.
Results of operations of discontinued products, including net realized capital gains (losses), are credited (charged) to the reserve for anticipated future losses.
Our results of operations would be adversely affected to the extent that future losses on the products are greater than anticipated and favorably affected to the
extent future losses are less than anticipated.
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The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss, realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains
or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the
carrying value of assets sold and any other-than-temporary impairments. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality and retirement experience related to
SPAs. A mortality gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant or a beneficiary dies sooner (later) than expected. A retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant
retires later (earlier) than expected.

The results of discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
(Millions)

Interest deficit (1)
Net realized capital gains
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products
Other, net
Results of discontinued products, after tax

Results of discontinued products, pretax
Net realized capital gains from bonds, after tax (included above)
(1)

2005

2004

2003

$ (12.1)

$ (23.1)

$ (25.0)
72.3
18.4
21.8
$ 87.5
$132.9
$ 53.8

14.3

24.4

19.9
9.2

19.6
9.2

$ 31.3
$ 39.1
$ 6.4

$ 30.1
$ 44.0
$ 12.8

The interest deficit is the difference between earnings on invested assets and interest credited to contract holders.

Net realized capital gains in 2005 reflect gains from the sale of debt and equity securities as well as gains on futures contracts. Net realized capital gains in
2004 reflect gains on the sale of debt securities in a low interest rate environment, receipt of mortgage loan equity participations, gain on the sale of a real estate
investment and gains from futures contracts. Net realized capital gains in 2003 reflect gains on the sale of debt securities in a declining interest rate
environment, as well as a gain on the sale of a real estate investment and the sale of an equity investment, partially offset by the write-down of certain debt and
equity securities.
At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the net present value of the anticipated cash flow
shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. Total
assets supporting discontinued products and the reserve include a receivable from continuing products of $372 million at December 31, 2005 and
$395 million at December 31, 2004, net of related deferred taxes payable. These amounts were eliminated in consolidation.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-free rate of return at the time of discontinuance,
consistent with the duration of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash
flows expected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future losses requires projection of
both the amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next 30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results,
participant withdrawal and mortality rates, as well as the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have been no significant changes
to the assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the projection of the amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and performance of mortgage loans and real estate.
Mortgage loan cash flow assumptions represent management’s best estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon
market conditions at each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most recent forecasts available. Since
1997, a bond default assumption has been included to reflect historical default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall
investment portfolio and reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with declines in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate portfolios.
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The previous years’ actual participant withdrawal experience is used for the current-year assumption. Prior to 1995, we used the 1983 Group Annuitant
Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries (the “Society”). In 1995, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality table, which
we have used since then.
Our assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual investment and general expenses allocated over invested assets.

The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products was as follows (pretax):
2005

(Millions)

$1,079.8
12.4
22.0

Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, beginning of period
Operating income (loss)
Net realized capital gains
Mortality and other
Reserve reduction
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, end of period

4.7

(66.7)
$1,052.2

2003

2004

$ 1,035.8
(6.6)
37.5
13.1
—
$1,079.8

$ 902.9
(3.3)
111.3
24.9
—
$1,035.8

Management reviews the adequacy of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products quarterly and, as a result, in 2005, $67 million
($43 million after tax) of the reserve was released, primarily due to favorable investment performance and favorable mortality and retirement experience
compared to prior assumptions. The reserve was found to be adequate, and no release or charge was required during 2004 and 2003. The current reserve
reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated future losses.

The anticipated run-off of the December 31, 2005 reserve balance (assuming that assets are held until maturity and that the reserve run-off is proportional to
the liability run-off) is as follows:
(Millions)

$ 41.4
41.5
41.8

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011-2015
2016-2020
2021-2025
2026-2030
Thereafter

42.0
42.0

206.0
184.4
149.7
113.9
189.5

The expected liability as of December 31, 1993 and actual liability balances at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the GIC and SPA liabilities are as
follows:
Actual

Expected
(Millions)

$

2003
2004

2005

GIC

SPA

51.7
31.8

$3,984.7
3,849.1
3,708.6

30.0

$

GIC

SPA

35.2

$ 4,217.9
4,065.6
3,908.4

24.0

23.5

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period because several contract holders redeemed their contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA
balances were higher than expected in each period because of additional amounts received under existing contracts.
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The discontinued products investment portfolio at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was as follows:
2005

2004

Amount

(Millions)

Percent

$ 3,032.3
289.3
3,321.6
644.9
103.6

Debt securities available for sale
Loaned securities (1)
Total debt securities
Mortgage loans
Investment real estate
Equity securities available for sale
Other (2)
Total

64.3%

6.1
70.4

13.7

2.2
.9
12.8

43.1
603.3

$4,716.5

100.0%

Amount

Percent

$ 3,383.6
322.8
3,706.4
560.3
114.8
57.2
514.4
$4,953.1

68.3%
6.5
74.8
11.3
2.3

1.2
10.4
100.0%

(1)

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our securities lending program.

(2)

Amount includes restricted debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $21.3 million at December 31, 2005 and $20.9 million at
December 31, 2004 included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The discontinued products investment portfolio has changed since inception. Mortgage loans have decreased from $5.4 billion (37% of the investment
portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to their current level. This was a result of maturities, prepayments and the securitization and sale of commercial mortgages.
Also, real estate decreased from $.5 billion (4% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to its current level, primarily as a result of sales. The
resulting proceeds were primarily reinvested in debt and equity securities.
The change in the composition of the overall investment portfolio resulted in a change in the quality of the portfolio since 1993. As the Company’s exposure to
commercial mortgage loans and real estate has diminished, additional investment return has been achieved by increasing the risk in the bond portfolio. At
December 31, 1993, 60% of the debt securities had a quality rating of AAA or AA, and at December 31, 2005, 22% of the debt securities had a quality rating
of AAA or AA. However, management believes the level of risk in the total portfolio of assets supporting discontinued products was lower at December 31,
2005 than at December 31, 1993 due to the reduction of the portfolio’s exposure to mortgage loan and real estate investments.

Distributions on discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
2005

2004

2003

$ 492.2
.2

$ 515.6

$ 566.9
.2

(Millions)

Scheduled contract maturities, settlements and benefit payments
Participant-directed withdrawals

.3

Cash required to fund these distributions was provided by earnings and scheduled payments on, and sales of, invested assets.
At December 31, 2005, scheduled contract maturities, future benefit payments and other expected payments, including future interest, were as follows:
(Millions)

$

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011-2015
2016-2020
2021-2025
2026-2030
Thereafter

495.8
483.3
474.4

459.7
444.1

1,996.5
1,584.1
1,178.1
826.2
1,162.6

Refer to Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and “Investments” below for additional information.
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CORPORATE INTEREST
Corporate interest expense represents interest incurred on our debt and is not recorded in our business segments. After-tax interest expense was $80 million for
2005, $68 million for 2004 and $67 million for 2003. The increase in interest expense for 2005 compared to 2004 was related to higher interest rates and the
sale of the interest rate swap agreements discussed below.
In December 2001 and 2002, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements to convert the fixed rate on $550 million of our senior notes to variable rates
based on a three-month LIBOR rate. These two interest rate swap agreements were accounted for as fair value hedges. In May 2005, we sold both of these
interest rate swap agreements. At the time of the sale of the interest rate swap agreements, the cumulative fair value adjustment of the debt on the balance sheet
was a gain of $7.8 million. As a result of the sale, the cumulative fair value adjustment will be amortized as a reduction of interest expense over the remaining
life of the applicable senior notes. Additionally, interest expense no longer benefits from these interest rate swap agreements.

INVESTMENTS
Investments disclosed in this section relate to our total portfolio (including assets supporting discontinued products and experience-rated products but
excluding Separate Account assets).
Total investments at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
2005
(Millions)

Debt securities available for sale:
Available for use in current operations
Loaned securities
On deposit, as required by regulatory
authorities
Debt securities available for sale
Equity securities available for sale
Short-term investments
Mortgage loans
Investment real estate
Other investments
Total investments

Current

$13,216.9
1,115.7
—
14,332.6
34.5
114.8
86.7
7.4
2.7
$ 14,578.7

2004

Total

Current

—
—

$13,216.9
1,115.7

$ 14,013.6
1,150.1

522.4
522.4
26.7
—
1,460.8
207.2
1,113.0

522.4
14,855.0
61.2
114.8
1,547.5
214.6
1,115.7
$ 17,908.8

—
15,163.7
34.5
194.5
52.7
—
5.0
$ 15,450.4

Long-term

$

$ 3,330.1

Total

Long-term

$

—
—

$ 14,013.6
1,150.1

553.4
553.4

553.4
15,717.1
74.7
194.5
1,400.9
274.8
1,129.5
$18,791.5

40.2

—
1,348.2
274.8
1,124.5
$ 3,341.1

Debt and Equity Securities
Debt securities represented 83% at December 31, 2005 and 84% at December 31, 2004 of our total invested assets and supported the following types of
products:
(Millions)

Supporting discontinued products
Supporting experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total debt securities

2005

2004

$ 3,342.9
1,920.8
9,591.3
$14,855.0

$ 3,727.3
2,083.9
9,905.9
$15,717.1

The debt securities in our portfolio are generally rated by external rating agencies and, if not externally rated, are rated by us on a basis believed to be similar to
that used by the rating agencies. Our investments in debt securities had an average quality rating of A+ at December 31, 2005 and 2004 (34% and 36% were
AAA at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively). “Below investment grade” debt securities carry a rating of below BBB-/Baa3. Total debt securities include
below investment grade securities of $967 million at December 31, 2005 and $927 million at December 31, 2004, of which 25% at December 31, 2005 and
28% at December 31, 2004, support discontinued and experience-rated products. Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures
related to debt securities by market sector.
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Debt securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $494 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $623 million and gross unrealized losses of
$129 million) at December 31, 2005 compared with net unrealized capital gains of $910 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $949 million
and gross unrealized losses of $39 million) at December 31, 2004. Of the net unrealized capital gains at December 31, 2005, $250 million relate to assets
supporting discontinued products and $103 million relate to experience-rated products. Of the net unrealized capital gains at December 31, 2004, $369 million
relate to assets supporting discontinued products and $177 million relate to experience-rated products.
Equity securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $10 million (comprised principally of gross unrealized capital gains) at December 31, 2005 compared
with gross unrealized capital gains of $13 million at December 31, 2004.
If management believes a decline in the value of a particular investment is temporary, the decline is recorded as an unrealized loss in Shareholders’ Equity. If
the decline is determined to be “other-than-temporary,” the carrying value of the investment is written down and a realized capital loss is recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Income consistent with the guidance of FAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and
FASB Staff Position FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments (“FSP
115-1”) and the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 59, Accounting for Noncurrent Marketable & Equities Securities
(“SAB 59”) . Our impairment analysis is discussed in more detail in “Investment Impairment Analysis and Realized Capital Gains and Losses” below. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 the amount of gross unrealized losses and related fair value, by investment type, were as follows:
2005
(Millions)

Debt securities:
Supporting discontinued and experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total

Equity securities:
Supporting discontinued and experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total

Fair Value

$ 1,242.0
4,718.0
$5,960.0

$

$

$

4.1

$

—
$

4.1

2004

Unrealized Losses

$

Fair Value

Unrealized Losses

36.9
92.5
129.4

$

473.4

$

2,682.2
$3,155.6

$

.2
—
.2

$

$

4.3

9.5
29.9
39.4

—
$

4.3

$

—
—
—

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, debt and equity securities which were non-investment grade and non-rated represented approximately 6.7% and 6.2%,
respectively, of the total debt and equity security portfolio (5.0% and 5.3%, respectively, related to securities supporting experience-rated and discontinued
products). At December 31, 2005 and 2004 approximately 11.5% and 18.5%, respectively, of total unrealized losses related to securities which were noninvestment grade and non-rated (15.5% and 2.4%, respectively, related to securities supporting experience-rated and discontinued products).
At December 31, 2005, the amount of unrealized losses and related fair value of debt and equity securities in an unrealized loss position for greater than twelve
months were $41 million and $1.3 billion, respectively, and such amounts were $10 million and $252 million, respectively, at December 31, 2004. Based on
our evaluation of these investments during 2005 and 2004, no other-than-temporary impairments were deemed to have occurred. We had no material unrealized
losses on individual debt or equity securities at December 31, 2005 or 2004. Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information.
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The maturity dates for debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2005 were as follows:

(Millions)

Due to mature:
Less than one year
One year through five years
After five years through ten years
Greater than ten years
Mortgage-backed securities
Total

Supporting remaining
products
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses

Supporting discontinued
and experience-rated products
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses

$

$

12.4
162.2
496.4
494.2
76.8
1,242.0

$

.1
5.5
12.2
17.4
1.7
36.9

$

$

210.0

1,250.0
1,158.4
1,306.5
793.1
$ 4,718.0

$

1.3

19.5
20.3

33.5

$

17.9
92.5

Total
Fair

Value

$

222.4
1,412.2
1,654.8
1,800.7
869.9
$5,960.0

Unrealized
Losses

$

1.4

25.0
32.5
50.9
19.6
$ 129.4

We have classified our debt and equity securities as available for sale and carry them at fair value. Fair values for such securities are based on quoted market
prices. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third-party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an internal analysis of
the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. The carrying value of non-traded debt and equity securities at December 31, 2005 and 2004
were as follows:
2005

Debt
Securities

(Millions)

Debt securities:
Supporting discontinued and experiencerated products
Supporting remaining products
Total non-traded securities

$ 199.3
$

2.4
201.7

$
$

2004

Equity
Securities

Total

26.6
.2
26.8

$ 225.9
2.6
$ 228.5

Equity
Securities

Debt
Securities

$ 289.8
$

10.3
300.1

$

39.9
.3

$

40.2

Total

$ 329.7
10.6
$ 340.3

Investment Impairment Analysis and Realized Capital Gains and Losses
We periodically review our debt and equity securities to determine whether a decline in fair value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. If a decline
in market value is considered other-than-temporary, the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of the write-down is
included in earnings. We analyze all relevant facts and circumstances for each investment when performing this analysis, in accordance with the guidance of
FAS No. 115, FSP 115-1 and SAB 59. The available guidance on the determination of whether a decline in the value of an investment is other-thantemporary requires management to exercise significant diligence and judgment.

Among the factors considered in evaluating whether a decline is other-than-temporary, management considers whether the decline in fair value results from a
change in the quality of the investment security itself, whether the decline results from a downward movement in the market as a whole, the prospects for
realizing the carrying value of the security based on the investee’s current and short-term prospects for recovery and other factors. For unrealized losses deemed
to be the result of market conditions (e.g., increasing interest rates, volatility due to conditions in the overall market, etc.) or industry-related events, we
determine if there exists an expectation for a sufficient market recovery within a reasonable period of time and whether management has the intent and ability to
hold the investment until maturity or market recovery is realized. In such a case, an other-than-temporary impairment is generally not recognized.

We identify other-than-temporary losses based on the valuation of an investment, including in-house credit analyst expectations of future performance, the
current market environment and current market values. Based on our evaluation, if any factors reviewed, individually or in combination, indicate that a
decline in fair value below an investment’s carrying value is other-than-temporary, we record an impairment charge in earnings.

The risks inherent in assessing the impairment of an investment include the risk that market factors may differ from our expectations; facts and
circumstances factored into our assessment may change with the passage of time; or we may decide to subsequently sell the investment.
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Net realized capital gains were $32 million ($21 million after tax) in 2005 and included recoveries from investments previously written-down of $3 million
($2 million after tax) primarily related to asset backed securities partially offset by investment write-downs related to investments in the automotive industry.
For 2004, net realized capital gains were $71 million ($46 million after tax) and included net investment write-downs of $4 million ($3 million after tax). The
majority of the 2004 impairments related to other invested assets. For 2003, net realized capital gains were $65 million ($42 million after tax) and included net
investment write-downs of $4 million ($3 million after tax). The majority of the 2003 impairments were taken in the energy sector and asset backed securities.
We had no individually material losses on debt or equity securities that impacted our results of operations in 2005, 2004, or 2003.

Mortgage Loans
Our mortgage loan investments, net of impairment reserves, supported the following types of products:
(Millions)

$

Supporting discontinued products
Supporting experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total mortgage loans

2005

2004

644.9

$ 560.3

320.8

305.3

581.8
$1,547.5

535.3
$ 1,400.9

The mortgage loan portfolio balance represented 9% and 7% of our total invested assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Problem, restructured
and potential problem loans included in mortgage loans were $2 million at December 31, 2005 and $20 million at December 31, 2004. There were no specific
impairment reserves on these loans at December 31, 2005. Specific impairment reserves on these loans were $4 million at December 31, 2004. Refer to Notes 2
and 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
At December 31, 2005 scheduled mortgage loan principal repayments were as follows:
(Millions)

$

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter

74.3

192.0
41.6
105.5
107.7
1,026.4

Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments
We manage interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a tight match between the durations of our assets and liabilities where appropriate, while credit risk is
managed by seeking to maintain high average quality ratings and diversified sector exposure within the debt securities portfolio. In connection with our
investment and risk management objectives, we also use financial instruments whose market value is at least partially determined by, among other things,
levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit ratings/spreads. Our use of these
derivatives is generally limited to hedging purposes and has principally consisted of using interest rate swap agreements, warrants, forward contracts and
futures contracts. These instruments, viewed separately, subject us to varying degrees of interest rate, equity price and credit risk. However, when used for
hedging, the expectation is that these instruments will reduce overall risk. Refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Financings, Financing Capacity and
Capitalization” and Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
We regularly evaluate the risk of market-sensitive instruments by examining, among other things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term or longterm), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit ratings/spreads. We also regularly evaluate the appropriateness of investments relative to our
management-approved investment guidelines (and operates within those guidelines) and the business objective of the portfolios.
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The risks associated with investments supporting experience-rated pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business are assumed by those
contract holders and not by us (subject to, among other things, certain minimum guarantees). Anticipated future losses associated with investments supporting
discontinued fully guaranteed large case pension products are provided for in the reserve for anticipated future losses (refer to “Large Case Pensions —
Discontinued Products”).
Management also reviews, on a quarterly basis, the impact of hypothetical net losses in our consolidated near-term financial position, results of operations and
cash flows assuming certain reasonably possible changes in market rates and prices were to occur. The potential effect of interest rate risk on near-term net
income, cash flow and fair value was determined based on commonly used models. The models project the impact of interest rate changes on a wide range of
factors, including duration, prepayment, put options and call options. Fair value was estimated based on the net present value of cash flows or duration
estimates using a representative set of likely future interest rate scenarios. The assumptions used were as follows: an immediate increase of 100 basis points in
interest rates (which we believe represents a moderately adverse scenario and is approximately equal to the historical annual volatility of interest rate movements
for our intermediate-term available-for-sale debt securities) and an immediate decrease of 25% in prices for domestic equity securities.
Based on our overall exposure to interest rate risk and equity price risk, we believe that these changes in market rates and prices would not materially affect
our consolidated near-term financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of December 31, 2005.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows
Generally, we meet our operating requirements by maintaining appropriate levels of liquidity in our investment portfolio and using overall cash flows from
premiums, deposits and income received on investments. We monitor the duration of our debt securities portfolio (which is highly marketable) and mortgage
loans, and execute purchases and sales of these investments with the objective of having adequate funds available to satisfy our maturing liabilities. Overall
cash flows are used primarily for claim and benefit payments, contract withdrawals and operating expenses.

The following table for 2005 breaks out the operating cash flows of Health Care and Group Insurance separately from Large Case Pensions, as changes in
Large Case Pensions’ insurance reserves are funded from the sale of investments, which impacts cash flows from investing activities (and not operating cash
flows). Refer to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for additional information.

(Millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization (accretion) of net investment premium (discount)
Net realized capital gains
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accrued investment income
(Increase) decrease in premiums due and other receivables
Net change in income taxes
Net change in other assets and other liabilities
Net increase (decrease) in health care and insurance liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities of continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities
(1)

Large

Health Care
and Group
Insurance (1)

Includes corporate interest
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$ 1,552.5
204.4
34.4
(24.0)

.9
(97.6)
567.1
(240.7)
75.4
(4.9)
2,067.5
68.8
$ 2,136.3

Case

$

Pensions

Total

82.0

$1,634.5

—
(11.8)
(8.3)
12.8
2.0

29.4
(10.9)
(299.1)
(39.0)
(242.9)
—
$ (242.9)

204.4

22.6
(32.3)

13.7
(95.6)
596.5
(251.6)
(223.7)
(43.9)
1,824.6
68.8
$ 1,893.4

Cash flows provided by operating activities of continuing operations were approximately $1.8 billion for 2005. Cash flows provided by operating activities of
continuing operations for Health Care and Group Insurance were approximately $2.1 billion. Included in this amount were payments of approximately
$150 million pretax related to a prior year physician class action settlement and $245 million pretax in voluntary pension contributions, reflected in net
change in other assets and liabilities.
On July 8, 2004, we were notified that the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation approved a tax refund of approximately $740 million after tax, including
interest, related to businesses that were sold in the 1990s by Aetna’s former parent company. Also in 2004, we filed for, and were approved for a $35 million
tax refund, related to businesses that were sold by Aetna’s former parent company. The tax refunds were recorded as income from discontinued operations in
the Consolidated Statement of Income in 2004. We received approximately $666 million of the cash refunds in 2004, $69 million in 2005 and the remainder
in February 2006. We used these monies to fund capital deployment initiatives, particularly share repurchases. Refer to Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

In January 2006, we made a voluntary contribution of $180 million to our pension plan and currently intend to make an additional $65 million voluntary
contribution in 2006. In 2006, we intend to allocate funds to share repurchase programs, invest in our business by funding internal growth and may also
make acquisitions (refer to “Overview” and “Common Stock Transactions” below).

Financings, Financing Capacity and Capitalization
In December 2005, we filed a universal shelf registration statement. Under this registration statement, we may issue debt securities, common stock, preferred
stock, purchase contracts, warrants to purchase common stock or warrants to purchase debt securities, or units that may include any of these securities or
securities of other entities. The specific terms of any securities we issue under this registration statement will be provided in the applicable prospectus
supplements. This registration statement replaced our February 2001 shelf registration statement which was not fully utilized. We have not yet issued any
securities under this shelf registration statement. We may publicly offer securities from time to time at prices and terms to be determined at the time of offering.
In August 2005, we entered into two forward starting swaps in order to hedge the anticipated change in cash flows associated with interest payments generated
by the forecasted future issuance of long-term debt (expected to be issued between March 1, 2006 and December 31, 2006). Refer to Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

We continually monitor existing and alternative financing sources to support our capital and liquidity needs, including, but not limited to, debt issuance,
preferred or common stock issuance and pledging or selling of assets.

Long-Term Debt
At December 31, 2005, our borrowing consists of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006, which is reflected as the current portion of long-term debt
in our Consolidated Balance Sheet, $448 million of 7.875% senior notes due in 2011 and $708 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041, which are callable
beginning in June 2006.

Short-Term Debt
We have significant short-term liquidity supporting our businesses. We use short-term borrowings from time to time to address timing differences between
cash receipts and disbursements. During 2005, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. Our short-term borrowing capacity consists of a $1 billion
credit facility which terminates in January 2011. The credit facility also provides for the issuance of letters of credit at our request, up to $150 million, which
count as usage of the available commitments under the facility. The credit facility permits the aggregate commitments under the facility to be expanded to a
maximum of $1.35 billion upon the agreement of us and one or more financial institutions. Various interest rate options are available under the facility. Any
revolving borrowings mature on the termination date of the credit facility. We pay facility fees on the facility ranging from .05% to .175% per annum,
depending upon our long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee at December 31, 2005 was at an annual rate of .11%. Our total debt to capital ratio
(total debt divided by shareholders’ equity plus total debt) was 13.7% at December 31, 2005. Refer to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.
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Common Stock Transactions
On January 27, 2006, the Board declared a two-for-one stock split of our common stock, which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend
(the “2006 stock split”). All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 7, 2006 (the “2006 Shareholders of Record”) received one additional
share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional shares of common stock were distributed to the 2006 Shareholders of Record in the
form of a stock dividend on February 17, 2006. In connection with the 2006 stock split, the Board approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation.
This amendment increased the number of our authorized common shares to 2.9 billion shares on February 17, 2006.
On February 9, 2005, the Board declared a two-for-one stock split of our common stock, which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend
(the “2005 stock split”). All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2005 (the “2005 Shareholders of Record”) received one additional
share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional shares of common stock were distributed to the 2005 Shareholders of Record in the
form of a stock dividend on March 11, 2005. In connection with the 2005 stock split, the Board approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation.
This amendment increased the number of our authorized common shares to 1.5 billion shares on March 11, 2005.
All share and per share amounts in this MD&A and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes have been adjusted to reflect the
2006 and 2005 stock splits for all periods.

During the period 2003 through 2005, we repurchased common stock under various repurchase programs authorized by the Board. In 2005, we repurchased
approximately 42 million shares of common stock at a cost of $1.7 billion. In 2004, we repurchased approximately 64 million shares of common stock at a
cost of $1.5 billion. In 2003, we repurchased approximately 30 million shares of common stock at a cost of $445 million. As of December 31, 2005, the
Company has authorization to repurchase up to $581 million of common stock under the remaining Board authorization. On January 27, 2006, the Board
authorized an additional $750 million share repurchase program.
For the full year 2005, the Company had weighted average common shares, including common share equivalents, of approximately 605 million (refer to Note
4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information).

On September 29, 2005, the Board declared an annual cash dividend of $.02 per common share to shareholders of record at the close of business on
November 16, 2005. The dividend was paid on November 30, 2005. While the Board reviews our common stock dividend annually, we currently intend to
maintain an annual dividend of $.04 per common share. Among the factors considered by the Board in determining the amount of the dividend are our results
of operations and the capital requirements, growth and other characteristics of our businesses.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes certain future obligations (estimated) by period as of December 31, 2005, under our various contractual obligations. The table
below does not include future payment of claims to health care providers or pharmacies because certain terms are not determinable at December 31, 2005 (e.g.,
the timing and volume of future services provided under fee-for-service arrangements or the level of future membership levels for capitated arrangements). We
believe that funds from future operating cash flows, together with cash, investments and funds available under our credit agreements or from public or private
financing sources, will be sufficient for existing commitments, future operations and other strategic transactions.
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(Millions)

Long-term debt obligations (1)
Operating lease obligations (2)
Purchase obligations (3)
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet: (4)
Future policy benefits (5)

Unpaid claims (5)
Policyholders’ funds (6)
Other long-term liabilities (7)
Total

2006

2007 - 2008

2009 - 2010

Thereafter

Total

$ 550.5
159.6
274.9

$ 189.9

$ 189.9

244.0

147.0

157.3

35.9

$2,980.6
68.8
—

$ 3,910.9
619.4
468.1

794.5
737.7
653.8
1,734.7
$4,905.7

1,297.4
336.8
177.7
80.1
$ 2,483.2

1,046.5
233.8

4,192.9
523.2

115.5
81.0
$1,849.6

164.7
$8,362.6

432.4

7,331.3

1,831.5
1,379.4
2,060.5
$17,601.1

(1)

Debt payments include interest payments and exclude the cumulative fair value adjustment amount associated with terminated interest rate swap
agreements. Debt payments could be accelerated upon violation of debt covenants, the likelihood of which we believe is remote. Refer to Note 13 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

(2)

We did not have any material capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2005. We have operating leases for office space and certain computer and
other equipment.

(3)

Purchase obligations include investment commitments and purchase obligations with a total minimum remaining commitment in excess of $1 million at
December 31, 2005 which meet the following criteria:

•

Commitments to purchase goods or services of either fixed or minimum quantities that are noncancellable.

•

Commitments to purchase goods or services where we could incur a penalty if the agreement was cancelled. If the agreement is cancelable with a
penalty, the amount of the penalty is included.

•

Commitments to purchase goods or services whereby we must make specified minimum payments even if we do not take delivery of the products
or services. In these cases, the minimum amount specified in the contract is included. Ordinary course of business contracts that do not specify
fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased are not considered purchase obligations.

(4)

Payments of other long-term liabilities exclude Separate Account liabilities of approximately $14.5 billion. Separate Account liabilities represent funds
maintained to meet specific investment objectives of contract holders who bear the investment risk. These liabilities are supported by assets that are
legally segregated (i.e., Separate Account assets) and are not subject to claims that arise out of our business. The timing of the related cash flows is
unpredictable due to contract holder discretion.

(5)

Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and longduration group paid-up life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business. Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves
associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts, including an estimate for claims incurred but not reported as of
December 31, 2005. Refer to Note 2 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Estimated payments for reserves for
future policy benefits and unpaid claims are computed in accordance with actuarial standards and certain reserves are based on the present value of
future net payments. Future policy benefits and unpaid claims also include certain reserves ceded to other independent insurance companies through
reinsurance contracts. Reserves for contracts subject to reinsurance have been excluded from the table above. The reinsurance carrier, not us, is
responsible for cash flows associated with the reinsured contract. Our reinsured reserves are supported by reinsurance recoverables included in total
assets. In the event of insolvency of the reinsurance carrier, we would be primarily responsible for cash flows. We monitor the solvency of our
reinsurance carriers and do not believe the risk of insolvency is significant. Approximately $1.2 billion (of which, approximately $25 million is
included in current liabilities) of ceded insurance liabilities have been excluded from the table.

(6)

Policyholders’ funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and customer
funds associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses (refer to Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information). Policyholders’ funds include approximately $187 million related to reserves ceded to other independent
insurance companies through reinsurance contracts. Reserves for contracts subject to reinsurance have been excluded from the table above. The
reinsurance carrier, not us, is responsible for cash flows associated with the reinsured contract. Our reinsured reserves are supported by reinsurance
recoverables included in total assets. In the event of insolvency of the reinsurance carrier, we would be primarily responsible for cash flows. We monitor
the solvency of our reinsurance carriers and do not believe the risk of insolvency is significant. Customer funds associated with group life and health
contracts of approximately $391 million have been excluded from the table, as such funds may be used primarily at the customer’s discretion to offset
future premiums and/or refunds, and the timing of the related cash flows cannot be determined. Additionally, net unrealized capital gains on debt and
equity securities supporting experience-rated products of $104 million have been excluded from the table.

(7)

Other long-term liabilities include the following liabilities excluded from the table above:

•

Employee-related benefit obligations of approximately $665 million including our pension, other post retirement and post employment benefit
obligations and certain deferred compensation arrangements. These liabilities do not necessarily represent future cash payments required to be
made by us, or such payment patterns cannot be determined. However, the payments for other long-term liabilities include anticipated voluntary
pension contributions to our defined pension plan of approximately $245 million in 2006 and the expected benefit payments of approximately
$286 million for the next ten years for our non qualified pension plan and our post-retirement benefit plans, which are primarily funded by us
when paid by the plans.

•

Deferred gains of approximately $113 million related to prior cash payments which will be recognized in earnings in accordance with GAAP.

•

Net unrealized capital gains on debt and equity securities of $210 million supporting discontinued products.

•

Minority interest of approximately $23 million represents subsidiaries less than 100% owned by us and does not represent future cash payments

•

Minority interest of approximately $23 million represents subsidiaries less than 100% owned by us and does not represent future cash payments
required by us.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have guarantees or other off-balance sheet arrangements that we believe, based on historical experience and current business plans, are reasonably
likely to have a material impact on current or future results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Refer to Notes 8 and 18 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional detail of our variable interest entities and guarantee arrangements, respectively, at December 31, 2005.

Restrictions on Certain Payments
In addition to general state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and
insurance companies are subject to further regulations that, among other things, may require those companies to maintain certain levels of equity (referred to as
surplus) and restrict the amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. These regulations are not directly
applicable to Aetna as a holding company, since Aetna is not an HMO or an insurance company. The additional regulations applicable to our HMO and
insurance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect our ability to service our debt, meet our other financing obligations or pay dividends, or the ability
of any of our subsidiaries to service other financing obligations, if any. Under regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that may be paid to us by our
insurance and HMO subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 without prior approval by regulatory authorities is approximately $1.2 billion in the aggregate.

We receive dividends from our subsidiaries for liquidity to meet our requirements, which include the payment of interest on debt, shareholder dividends, share
repurchase programs, investments in new businesses, maintaining appropriate levels of capitalization in our operating subsidiaries and other purposes as
considered necessary. Excess capital at operating subsidiaries above targeted and/or regulatory capital levels are periodically remitted to us as permitted by
regulatory requirements.

Ratings
As of February 28, 2006, the ratings of Aetna Inc. and Aetna Life Insurance Company (“ALIC”) were as follows:
A.M. Best

Aetna Inc. (senior debt) (1)
Aetna Inc. (commercial paper)
ALIC (financial strength) (1)
(1)

bbb+
AMB-2
A

(1)

Fitch

BBB+
F2
A+

Moody’s Investors
Service

A3
P-2
Aa3

Standard
& Poor’s

BBB+
A-2
A

A.M. Best’s outlook for the senior debt rating of Aetna Inc. and the financial strength rating of ALIC is stable. Fitch’s outlook for the senior debt rating
of Aetna Inc. and the financial strength rating of ALIC is positive. Moody’s outlook for the senior debt rating of Aetna Inc. and the financial strength
rating of ALIC is stable. Standard & Poor’s outlook for the senior debt rating of Aetna Inc. and the financial strength rating of ALIC is positive.

Solvency Regulation

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) utilizes risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards for life insurance companies that are designed
to identify weakly capitalized companies by comparing each company’s adjusted surplus to its required surplus (“RBC ratio”). The RBC ratio is designed to
reflect the risk profile of life insurance companies. Within certain ratio ranges, regulators have increasing authority to take action as the RBC ratio decreases.
There are four levels of regulatory action, ranging from requiring insurers to submit a comprehensive plan to the state insurance commissioner to requiring the
state insurance commissioner to place the insurer under regulatory control. At December 31, 2005, the RBC ratio of each of our primary insurance
subsidiaries was above the level that would require regulatory action. The RBC framework described above for insurers has been extended by the NAIC to
health organizations, including HMOs. Although not all states had adopted these rules at December 31, 2005, at that date, each of our active HMOs had a
surplus that exceeded either the applicable state net worth requirements or, where adopted, the levels that would require regulatory action under the NAIC’s
RBC rules. External rating agencies use their own RBC standards as part of determining a company’s rating.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The application of GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect our consolidated financial statements and related notes. The accounting estimates described below are those we consider critical in
preparing our consolidated financial statements. We use information available to us at the time the estimates are made; however, as described below, these
estimates could change materially if different information or assumptions were used. Also, these estimates may not ultimately reflect the actual amounts of the
final transactions that occur.

Health Care Costs Payable
Health care costs payable reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported and those which have been reported but
not yet paid. We develop such estimates using actuarial principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected claim
submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, medical cost trends, utilization of health care services, claim inventory levels, changes in
membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors. In developing our estimate of health care costs payable, we consistently apply these
actuarial principles and assumptions each period, with consideration to the variability of these factors.

Historical claim payment patterns are analyzed by comparing the claim incurred dates (i.e., the date the service was provided) to the claim payment dates to
determine “completion factors.” We calculate completion factors by aggregating claim data based on the month of service and month of claim payment and
estimating the percentage of claims incurred for a given month that are complete by each month thereafter. For any given month, substantially all claims are
paid within six months of the date of service, but it can take up to 48 months or longer before all of the claims are completely resolved and paid. These
historically derived completion factors are then applied to claims paid through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim cost for a given
month’s incurred claim activity. The difference between the estimated ultimate claim cost and the claims paid through the financial statement date represents
our estimate of claims remaining to be paid as of the financial statement date and is included in our health care costs payable.
Completion factors are used predominantly to estimate reserves for claim activity greater than three to four months prior to the financial statement date.
However, the actual completion factors used reflect judgments and possible adjustments for such data as claim inventory levels, claim submission patterns
and claim processing rates.

Because claims incurred within three to four months prior to the financial statement date have less activity (i.e., a large portion of health care claims are not
submitted to us until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to members), estimates of the ultimate claims incurred for these
months are not based solely on the historically derived completion factors. Rather, the estimates for these months also reflect analysis of medical cost trends,
historical and projected claim submission and processing times as well as seasonal patterns and changes in membership and product mix.

For each reporting period, an extensive degree of judgment is used in the estimation process, and as a result, considerable variability is inherent in such
estimates, and the adequacy of such estimates is highly sensitive to changes in medical claims submission and payment patterns (including completion
factors) and changes in medical cost trends.
We believe our estimate of health care costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover our obligations as of December 31, 2005; however, actual claim
payments may differ from established estimates. A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend (the rate of increase in per member health care costs) or
changes in claim submission and payment patterns from those that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2005 would cause
these estimates to change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For example, if changes in claim submission and/or processing patterns
resulted in a 100-basis point change in the estimated medical cost trend for Commercial Risk products, annual after tax results for 2005 would have changed
by approximately $77 million.
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Each quarter, we re-examine previously established health care costs payable estimates based on actual claim payments for prior periods and other changes in
facts and circumstances. Given the extensive degree of judgment in this estimate, it is possible that estimates of health care costs payable could develop either
favorably or unfavorably. We include the impacts of changes in estimates in earnings when they are identified. The changes in the estimate of health care costs
payable may relate to a prior fiscal quarter, prior fiscal year or earlier periods.
Health care costs payable as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:
(Millions)

Commercial Risk
Medicare
Total health care costs payable

2005

2004

$1,737.5
79.5
$ 1,817.0

$ 1,834.7
92.4
$1,927.1

In cases where estimated future health care costs will exceed existing reserves plus anticipated future premiums, we would establish premium deficiency
reserves for the amount of the expected loss in excess of expected future premiums. Any such reserves established would normally cover expected losses until
the next policy renewal dates for the related policies.

Insurance Liabilities (Other Than Health Care Costs Payable)
We establish insurance (other than health care costs payable) liabilities for benefit claims that have been reported but not paid, claims that have been incurred
but not reported and future policy benefits earned under insurance contracts. These reserves and the related benefit expenses are developed using actuarial
principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected claim submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing
time, benefit cost trends, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors. In establishing reserves for
Group Insurance, the important factors we consider are the level of interest rates, expected investment returns, mortality rates, the rate that covered individuals
suffer disability, and the recovery rate of those with disabilities.

Each period, we estimate the relevant factors, based primarily on historical data and use this information to determine the assumptions underlying our reserve
calculations. Given the extensive degree of judgment in these estimates, it is possible that estimates could develop either favorably or unfavorably. For Group
Insurance, and specifically disability reserves, a 100 basis point change in interest rates would result in approximately a 10 basis point change in the portfolio
return rate for assets supporting these liabilities, due to the long-term nature of disability liabilities and related assets supporting these liabilities. A 10 basis
point change in the portfolio rate assumption would have changed after-tax results by approximately $2 million for 2005.
In cases where estimated future group insurance costs will exceed existing reserves plus anticipated future premiums, we would establish premium deficiency
reserves for the amount of the expected loss in excess of expected future premiums. Any such reserves established would normally cover expected losses until
the next policy renewal dates for the related policies.

We discontinued certain Large Case Pensions products in 1993 and established a reserve to cover losses expected during the run-off period. Since 1993, there
have been several adjustments to reduce this reserve that have increased net income. These adjustments occurred primarily because investment experience as
well as mortality and retirement experience have been better than the experience that was projected at the time the products were discontinued. In 2005,
$67 million ($43 million after tax) of reserves were released for these reasons. There were no reserve adjustments in 2004 or 2003. There can be no assurance
that adjustments to the discontinued products reserve will occur in the future or that they will increase net income. Future adjustments could negatively impact
operating earnings.
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Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
We have made previous acquisitions that included a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill is subject to an annual (or under
certain circumstances more frequent) impairment test based on its estimated fair value. Other intangible assets that meet certain criteria continue to be
amortized over their useful lives and are also subject to an impairment test, based on estimated fair value. For these impairment evaluations, we are using an
implied fair value approach, which uses a discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation methodologies. These impairment evaluations use many
assumptions and estimates in determining an impairment loss, including certain assumptions and estimates related to future earnings. If we do not achieve our
earnings objectives, the assumptions and estimates underlying these impairment evaluations could be adversely affected.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans
We sponsor defined benefit pension (“pension”) and other post-retirement benefit (“OPEB”) plans. Refer to Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. Major assumptions used in the accounting for these plans include the expected return on plan assets and the discount rate. Assumptions are
determined based on our information and market indicators, and are evaluated at each annual measurement date (September 30). A change in any of these
assumptions would have an effect on our pension and OPEB plan costs.

The expected return on plan assets assumption is based on many factors, including forecasted capital market real returns over a long-term horizon, inflation
rate assumptions, historical compounded asset returns and patterns and correlations on those returns. Expectations for modest increases in interest rates,
normal inflation trends and average capital market real returns led to an expected return on pension plan assets assumption of 8.75% for both 2004 and 2005
and an expected return on OPEB plan assets assumption of 6.50% for both 2004 and 2005. The 8.75% expected return on pension plan assets is based on
asset range allocations assumptions of 60% – 70% U.S. and international public and private equity securities, 20% – 30% fixed income securities and 5% –
15% real estate and other assets. We regularly review actual asset allocations and periodically rebalance our investments to the mid-point of our targeted
allocation ranges when it is considered appropriate. At December 31, 2005, our actual asset allocations were consistent with our asset allocation assumptions.
A one-percentage point increase/decrease in the expected return on plan assets assumption would decrease/increase annual pension costs by approximately
$31 million after tax and would decrease/increase annual OPEB costs by approximately $.5 million after tax.

The discount rates used for our pension and OPEB plans were calculated using a yield curve as of September 30, 2005. The yield curve consists of a series of
individual discount rates, with each discount rate corresponding to a single point-in-time, based on high quality bonds (e.g., bonds with a rating of Aa or better
from Moody’s Investors Service or a rating of AA or better from Standard and Poor’s). We project the benefits expected to be paid from each plan at each point
in the future based on each participant’s current service (but reflecting expected future pay increases). These projected benefit payments are then discounted to
the measurement date using the corresponding rate from the yield curve. A lower discount rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases
costs. In 2005, we reduced our assumed discount rate to 5.77% and 5.59% from our pension and OPEB plans, respectively, (from 6.00% for both plans
used at the previous measurement date in 2004 which was set by benchmarking against investment grade corporate bonds). A one-percentage point decrease in
the assumed discount rate would increase annual pension costs by approximately $46 million after tax and would increase annual OPEB costs by
approximately $.2 million after tax.
The declining interest rate environment and varying asset returns compared to expectations in 2002 through 2004 resulted in an accumulated actuarial loss of
$1.2 billion at September 30, 2005 (our measurement date). The accumulated actuarial loss is amortized over the remaining service life of pension plan
participants (9.3 years as of September 30, 2005) to the extent the loss is outside of a corridor established in accordance with GAAP. The corridor is
established based on the greater of 10% of the plan assets or 10% of the projected benefit obligation. As of September 30, 2005, $724 million of the actuarial
loss was outside of the corridor and will impact 2006 pension expense. Our pension expense related to the amortization of actuarial losses in 2006 will be
approximately $51 million after tax.
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Our expected return on plan assets and discount rate discussed above will not impact required cash contributions to the pension and OPEB plans, as we have
met all minimum funding requirements as set forth by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and further, we will not have a
minimum funding requirement in 2006. However, we currently intend to make voluntary pension contributions of $245 million in 2006.

Investment Securities
Investment securities are classified as available for sale and recorded at fair value. Investment income is recorded when earned, and capital gains and losses are
recognized in results of operations when investments are sold. Investments are reviewed periodically to determine if they have suffered an impairment of value
that is considered other-than-temporary. If investments are determined to be impaired, an impairment charge is recognized in results of operations at the date of
determination.
Testing for impairment of investments requires significant management judgment. The identification of potentially impaired investments, the determination of
their fair value and the assessment of whether any decline in value is other-than-temporary are key judgment elements. The discovery of new information and
the passage of time can significantly change these judgments. Revisions of impairment judgments are made when new information becomes known, and any
resulting impairment increases are made at that time.

Revenue Recognition (Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts )
Our revenue is principally derived from premiums and fees billed to customers in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. In Health Care, revenue is
recognized based on customer billings, which reflect contracted rates per employee and the number of covered employees recorded in our records at the time the
billings are prepared. Billings are generally sent monthly for coverage during the following month. In Group Insurance, premium for group life and disability
products is recognized as revenue, net of allowances for uncollectable accounts, over the term of coverage. Amounts received before the period of coverage
begins are recorded as unearned premiums.
Health Care billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in the number of covered employees due to terminations or other factors. These
adjustments are known as retroactivity adjustments. We estimate the amount of future retroactivity each period and adjust the recorded revenue accordingly.
We also estimate the amount of uncollectable receivables each period and establish an allowance for uncollectable amounts. Such estimates are based on
historical trends, premiums billed, the amount of contract renewal activity during the period and other relevant information. As information regarding actual
retroactivity and uncollectable amounts becomes known, we refine our estimates and record any required adjustments to revenues in the period they arise. A
significant difference in the actual level of retroactivity or uncollectable amounts when compared to the estimates of such would have a significant effect on
Health Care’s results of operations.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently issued accounting standards.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

General
Our operations are subject to comprehensive state and federal regulation throughout the United States in the jurisdictions in which we do business.
Supervisory agencies, including state health, insurance, managed care and securities departments, have broad authority to:

•

Grant, suspend and revoke our licenses to transact business;

•

Regulate many aspects of the products and services we offer;

•

Assess fines, penalties and/or sanctions;

•

Monitor our solvency and reserve adequacy; and

•

Regulate our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria.
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Our operations and accounts and other books and records are subject to examination at regular intervals by these agencies. In addition, our current and past
business practices are subject to review by, and we from time to time receive subpoenas and other requests for information from, these agencies and other state
and federal authorities. These reviews may result, and have resulted, in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, as well as fines, penalties or
other sanctions.
In addition, the federal and state governments continue to enact and seriously consider many legislative and regulatory proposals that have or could materially
impact various aspects of the health care system. Many of these changes are described below. While certain of these measures would adversely affect us, at
this time we cannot predict the extent of this impact.

Health Care Regulation
General
The federal and state governments have adopted laws and regulations that govern our business activities in various ways. These laws and regulations restrict
how we conduct our business and result in additional burdens and costs to us. Areas of governmental regulation include:

•

Licensure

•

Policy forms, including plan design and disclosures

•

Premium rates and rating methodologies

•

Underwriting rules and procedures

•

Benefit mandates

•

Eligibility requirements

•

Service areas

•

Market conduct

•

Utilization review activities

•

Payment of claims, including timeliness and accuracy of payment

•

Member rights and responsibilities

•

Sales and marketing activities

•

Quality assurance procedures

•

Disclosure of medical and other information

•

Provider rates of payment

•

Surcharges on provider payments

•

Provider contract forms

•

Pharmacy operations

•

Delegation of risk and other financial arrangements

•

Producer licensing and compensation

•

Financial condition (including reserves) and

•

Corporate governance

•

Required participation in coverage arrangements for high-risk insureds, either directly or through an assessment or other risk pooling mechanism.

These laws and regulations are different in each jurisdiction.
States generally require health insurers and HMOs to obtain a certificate of authority prior to commencing operations. To establish a new insurance company
or an HMO in a state, we generally would have to obtain such a certificate. The time necessary to obtain such a certificate varies from state to state. Each
health insurer and HMO must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in which it does business. In addition, health insurers and HMOs
are subject to state examination and periodic license renewal.
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Group Pricing and Underwriting Restrictions

Pricing and underwriting regulation by states limits the underwriting and rating practices of Aetna and other health insurers, particularly for small employer
groups. These laws and regulations vary by state. In general they apply to certain business segments and limit our ability to set prices or renew business, or
both, based on specific characteristics of the group or the group’s prior claim experience.
Many of these laws and regulations limit the differentials in rates insurers and other carriers may charge between new and renewal business, and/or between
groups based on differing characteristics. They may also require that carriers disclose to customers the basis on which the carrier establishes new business
and renewal rates, restrict the application of pre-existing condition exclusions and limit the ability of a carrier to terminate coverage of an employer group.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) generally requires insurers and other carriers that write small business in
any market to accept for coverage any small employer group applying for a basic and standard plan of benefits. HIPAA also mandates guaranteed renewal of
health care coverage for most employer groups, subject to certain defined exceptions, and provides for specified employer notice periods in connection with
product and market withdrawals. The law further limits exclusions based on preexisting conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the extent
the individuals had prior creditable coverage within a specified time frame. HIPAA is structured as a “floor” requirement, allowing states latitude to enact more
stringent rules governing each of these restrictions. For example, certain states have modified HIPAA’s definition of a small group (2-50 employees) to include
groups of one employee.

In addition, a number of states provide for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread small group risk among participating insurers and other carriers. In
a small number of states, participation in this pooling mechanism is mandatory for all small group carriers. In general, Aetna has elected not to participate in
voluntary pools, but even in the voluntary pool states, the Company may be subject to certain supplemental assessments related to the state’s small group
experience.

HIPAA Administrative Simplification; Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
The regulations under the administrative simplification section of HIPAA also impose a number of additional obligations on issuers of health insurance
coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. The law authorizes the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) to issue standards for
electronic transactions, as well as privacy and security of medical records and other individually identifiable health information (“Administrative
Simplification”).

Administrative Simplification requirements apply to self-funded group health plans, health insurers and HMOs, health care clearinghouses and health care
providers who transmit health information electronically (“Covered Entities”). Regulations adopted to implement Administrative Simplification also require
that business associates acting for or on behalf of these Covered Entities be contractually obligated to meet HIPAA standards. The Administrative
Simplification regulations establish significant criminal penalties and civil sanctions for noncompliance.
Under Administrative Simplification, HHS has released rules mandating the use of standard formats in electronic health care transactions (e.g., health care
claims submission and payment, plan eligibility, precertification, claims status, plan enrollment and disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan
premium payments and coordination of benefits). HHS also has published rules requiring the use of standardized code sets and unique identifiers for
employers and providers. We have met all applicable requirements to date. We are required to comply with the provider identifier rules by May 2007.
Page 29

The HIPAA privacy regulations adopted by HHS established limits on the use and disclosure of medical records and other individually identifiable health
information by Covered Entities. In addition, the HIPAA privacy regulations provide patients new rights to understand and control how their health
information is used. The HIPAA privacy regulations do not preempt more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us and other Covered Entities,
and complying with additional state requirements could require us to make additional investments beyond those we have made to comply with the HIPAA
regulations. HHS has also adopted security regulations designed to protect member health information from unauthorized use or disclosure. We complied with
HIPAA’s privacy and security regulations by their effective dates.
In addition, states have adopted regulations to implement provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”) which generally require insurers to provide
customers with notice regarding how their non-public personal health and financial information is used and the opportunity to “opt out” of certain disclosures
before the insurer shares such information with a non-affiliated third party. In addition to health insurance, the GLBA regulations apply to life and disability
insurance. Like HIPAA, this law sets a “floor” standard, allowing states to adopt more stringent requirements governing privacy protection. GLBA also gives
banks and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the insurance and health benefits
businesses.

Legislative and Regulatory Initiatives
There has been a continuing trend of increased health care regulation at both the federal and state levels. The federal government and many states have enacted
or are considering additional legislation or regulation related to health care plans. Legislation, regulation and initiatives relating to this trend include among other
things, the following:

• Amending or supplementing ERISA to impose greater requirements on the administration of employer-funded benefit plans or limit the scope of current
ERISA pre-emption, which would among other things expose health plans to expanded liability for punitive and other extra-contractual damages.
• Imposing assessments on (or to be collected by) health plans or health carriers, which may or may not be passed onto their customers. These assessments
may include assessments for insolvency, assessments for uninsured or high-risk pools, assessments for uncompensated care, or assessments to defray
provider medical malpractice insurance costs.
• Extending malpractice and other liability exposure for decisions made by health plans.
• Mandating coverage for certain conditions and/or specified procedures, drugs or devices (for example, infertility treatment and experimental
pharmaceuticals).
• Mandating direct access to specialists for patients with chronic conditions, and direct access to OB/GYNs, chiropractors or other practitioners.
• Mandating expanded employer and consumer disclosures and notices.
• Mandating expanded coverage for emergency services.
• Prohibiting or limiting certain types of financial arrangements with providers, including among other things incentives based on utilization of services.
• Imposing substantial penalties for failure to pay claims within specified time periods.
• Regulating the composition of provider networks, such as any willing provider and pharmacy laws (which generally provide that providers and
pharmacies cannot be denied participation in a managed care plan where the providers and pharmacies are willing to abide by the terms and conditions of
that plan).
• Imposing payment levels for out-of-network care.
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• Exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal restraints on competition.
• Restricting health plan claim processing, review, payment and related procedures.
• Requiring the application of treatment and financial parity between mental health benefits and medical benefits within the same health plan.
• Extending benefits available to workers who lose their jobs and other uninsured.
• Mandating liberalized definitions of medical necessity.
• Mandating internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision making and access to external claim review).
• Enabling the creation of new types of health plans or health carriers, which in some instances would not be subject to the regulations or restrictions that
govern our operations.
• Allowing individuals and small groups to collectively purchase health care coverage without any other affiliations.
• Imposing requirements and restrictions on operations of pharmacy benefit managers, including restricting or eliminating the use of formularies for
prescription drugs.
• Making health plans responsible for provider payments in the event of financial failure by a capitated physician group or other intermediary.
• Creating or expanding state-sponsored health benefit purchasing pools, in which we may be required to participate.
• Creating a single payer system where the government oversees or manages the provision of health care coverage.
• Imposing employer or individual health coverage mandates.
It is uncertain whether we can counter the potential adverse effects of such potential legislation or regulation, including whether we can recoup, through higher
premiums or other measures, the increased costs of mandated benefits, assessments or other increased costs.

We also may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and regulations or impose medical
malpractice or bad faith liability. Among other issues, the courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court and federal and state courts, continue to consider cases
addressing the pre-emptive effect of ERISA on state laws. In general, limitations to this pre-emption have the effect of increasing our costs, liability exposures,
or both. Legislative initiatives discussed above include proposals in the U.S. Congress to restrict the pre-emptive effect of ERISA and state legislative activity
in several states that, should it result in enacted legislation that is not preempted by ERISA, could increase our liability exposure and could result in greater
state regulation of our operations.

Patients’ Rights Legislation
Various state legislatures and the U.S. Congress continue to debate legislation containing various patient protection initiatives, including provisions that could
expose us to unlimited economic damages and certain punitive damages, for making a determination denying benefits or for delaying members’ receipt of
benefits as a result of “medical necessity” and other coverage determinations. We cannot predict whether these measures will be enacted into law in 2006 or
what form any such legislation might take.
Page 31

ERISA
The provision of services to certain employee benefit plans, including certain Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions benefit plans, is subject
to ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor (the
“DOL”). ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee benefit plans subject to ERISA. Some of our
administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under ERISA. In addition, some states require licensure or registration of
companies providing third-party claims administration services for benefit plans.
DOL regulations under ERISA set standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated notice and disclosure requirements. We have
invested significant resources to comply with these standards, which represent an additional regulatory burden for us.
Certain Large Case Pensions and Group Insurance products and services are also subject to potential issues raised by certain judicial interpretations relating to
ERISA. Under those interpretations, together with DOL regulations, we may have ERISA fiduciary duties with respect to certain general account assets held
under contracts that are not guaranteed benefit policies. As a result, certain transactions related to those assets are subject to conflict of interest and other
restrictions, and we must provide certain disclosures to policyholders annually. We must comply with these restrictions or face substantial penalties.

Medicare
As a result of funding reforms contained in the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”), we elected to
expand our participation in the Medicare Advantage program in selected markets in 2005 and 2006. We are encouraged that these funding reforms will allow
further expansion within the Medicare Advantage program, although it is not possible to predict the longer term adequacy of reimbursement under this
program.

The Medicare Act also added out-patient pharmaceutical products as a benefit under Medicare starting in 2006 and incorporated a number of other reforms to
the Medicare program. Among other changes, the Medicare Act added disease management and case management programs and preventive medicine coverage to
Medicare, authorized Health Savings Accounts (HSAs) for non-Medicare beneficiaries and established a drug discount card (for 2004 -May 15, 2006) for
Medicare beneficiaries. We began to offer HSAs in connection with our consumer-directed health plans beginning January 1, 2004. In September 2005, we
began participating in a three year CMS-sponsored pilot program in the Chicago metropolitan area to provide disease management and case management
services to members in the Medicare Fees-for-Service program. In January 2006, we began covering Medicare Part D prescription drug plans in all 34 CMSdesignated regions. It is not possible to predict the long term adequacy of reimbursement under these new Medicare programs.

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws
A number of states, including Pennsylvania and Connecticut, regulate affiliated groups of HMOs and insurers such as Aetna under holding company
statutes. These laws may require us and our subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of equity. Holding company laws and regulations generally require
insurance companies and HMOs within an insurance holding company system to register with the insurance department of each state where they are domiciled
and to file reports with those states’ insurance departments regarding capital structure, ownership, financial condition, intercompany transactions and general
business operations. In addition, various notice or prior regulatory approval requirements apply to transactions between insurance companies, HMOs and
their affiliates within an insurance holding company system, depending on the size and nature of the transactions. For information regarding restrictions on
certain payments of dividends or other distributions by HMO and insurance company subsidiaries of our company, refer to “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”
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The holding company laws for the states of domicile of Aetna and its subsidiaries also restrict the ability of any person to obtain control of an insurance
company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those statutes, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any voting
security of an insurance holding company (such as our parent company, Aetna Inc.) that controls an insurance company or HMO, or merge with such a
holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would “control” the insurance holding company. “Control” is generally defined as the direct or
indirect power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or
controls 10% or more of the voting securities of another person.

Guaranty Fund Assessments
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain obligations of
insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to our premiums in the state compared to
the premiums of other insurers. While we historically have recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax
offsets, significant increases in assessments could jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs.

Regulation of Pharmacy Operations
We own two mail-order pharmacies facilities and one specialty pharmacy facility. One mail order pharmacy is located in Missouri and the specialty pharmacy
and our second mail order pharmacy are located in Florida. These facilities dispense pharmaceuticals throughout the U.S. The pharmacy practice is generally
regulated at the state level by state boards of pharmacy. Each of our pharmacies is licensed in the state where it is located, as well as in the states that require
registration or licensure with the state’s board of pharmacy or similar regulatory body.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION/RISK FACTORS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “1995 Act”) provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements, so long as (1) those
statements are identified as forward-looking, and (2) the statements are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements that identify important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We want to take advantage of these safe harbor provisions.

Certain information contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking within the meaning of the 1995 Act or Securities and
Exchange Commission rules. This information includes, but is not limited to: (1) the information in the “Overview” discussion of results of operations and
(2) “Investments — Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments.” Throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, where we use the
following words, or variations or negatives of these words and similar expressions, we intend to identify forward-looking statements:

•

Expects

•

Intends

•

Seeks

•

Will

•

Potential

•

Projects

•

Plans

•

Estimates

•

Should

•

Continue

•

Anticipates

•

Believes

•

May

Forward-looking statements rely on a number of assumptions concerning future events, and are subject to a number of significant uncertainties and other
factors, many of which are outside our control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those statements. You should not put undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.
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Risk Factors
You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this MD&A or elsewhere in the Form 10-K. These risks
and other factors may affect forward-looking statements, including those in this MD&A or made by the Company elsewhere, such as in investor calls or
conference presentations. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business.

If any of the following risks or uncertainties develops into actual events, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline materially.

We must continue to differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors; we operate in an evolving industry that requires us to
anticipate changes in customer preferences and deliver products and services that demonstrate value to our customers.
We operate in a highly competitive environment and in an industry that is subject to significant ongoing changes from market pressures brought about by
customer demands, as well as business consolidations, strategic alliances, legislative reform and marketing practices. These factors require us to differentiate
our products and services by anticipating changes in customer preferences and delivering products and services that demonstrate value to our customers.
Failure to anticipate changes in customer preferences and deliver products and services that demonstrate value to our customers can affect our ability to retain
or grow profitable membership which can adversely affect our results of operations.

Our ability to manage health care costs affects our profitability.
Our profitability depends in large part on our ability to appropriately manage future health care costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation
of favorable provider contracts and medical management programs. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, advances in medical
technology and other factors continue to contribute to rising health care costs. Government-imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement have
also caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care costs. Changes in health care practices, inflation, new technologies, increases in
the cost of prescription drugs, direct-to-consumer marketing by pharmaceutical companies, clusters of high cost cases, changes in the regulatory environment,
health care provider or member fraud and numerous other factors affecting the cost of health care are beyond any health plan’s control and may adversely
affect our ability to manage health care costs, as well as our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to manage general and administrative expenses affects our profitability.
Our profitability depends in part on our ability to appropriately manage general and administrative expenses in line with competitive levels through controlling
salaries and related benefits, selling costs, information technology and other general and administrative costs, while being able to attract and retain key
employees and profitable membership and implement improvements in technology.

Our business success and the profitability of our membership depend in part on effective information technology systems and on continuing to
develop and implement improvements in technology; certain significant multiyear strategic information technology projects are currently in
process.
Our businesses depend in large part on our information and other technology systems for processing claims and interacting with providers, employer plan
sponsors and members, and our business strategy involves providing customers with easy to use products that leverage information to meet the needs of those
customers. Our success is dependent in large part on maintaining the effectiveness of existing technology systems and on continuing to develop and enhance
technology systems that support our business processes in a cost efficient manner. Certain of our technology systems (including software) are older, legacy
systems that are less efficient and require an ongoing commitment of significant capital and human resources to upgrade to industry standards and maintain.
We also need to develop new systems to meet current standards and keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology, evolving
industry and regulatory standards, and customer demands. System development projects are long-term in nature and may cost more than we expect to
complete and may not deliver the benefits we project once they are complete.
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In order to remain competitive, we must further integrate our businesses and processes; significant acquisitions could make this integration more
challenging.
Ineffective integration of our businesses and processes may adversely affect our ability to compete by, among other things, increasing our costs relative to
competitors. This integration task may be made more complex by significant acquisitions, and our strategy includes effectively investing our capital in
appropriate acquisitions in addition to share repurchases or current operations to seek to generate returns. In addition to integration risks, some additional
risks we face with respect to acquisitions include:

•

The acquired business may not perform as projected;

•

We may assume liabilities, including those that were not disclosed to us;

•

We may be unable to successfully integrate acquired businesses and other processes to realize anticipated economic and other benefits on a timely
basis, which could result in substantial costs or delays or other operational or financial problems;

•

Acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management, divert resources and make it difficult to maintain our current business
standards, controls and procedures;

•

We may finance future acquisitions by issuing common stock for some or all of the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of our
shareholders;

•

We may also incur additional debt related to future acquisitions; and

•

We could be competing with other firms, some of which may have greater financial and other resources, to acquire attractive companies.

We face risks from industry and economic forces that can impact the fundamentals of the health and related benefits industry.
Various factors particular to the health and related benefits industry including, among others, rapid evolution of the business model, consumerism, potential
pricing actions by competitors, competitor consolidation, and a shrinking number of commercially insured people may impact our business model. We also
face the potential of competition from existing or new companies that have not historically been in the health or group insurance industries. For example, the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act gives banks and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors
with significant financial resources in the insurance and health benefits fields. If we are unable to anticipate, detect and deploy meaningful responses to these
external factors, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We would be adversely affected if we failed to protect member health related and other sensitive information.
We maintain large amounts of personal health information and other sensitive data about our members in the ordinary course of our business. Our business
therefore depends substantially on our members’ and customers’ willingness to entrust us with their health related and other sensitive information. Events that
negatively affect that trust, including failing to keep sensitive information secure, whether as a result of our action or inaction or that of one of our vendors,
could adversely affect our reputation and also expose us to litigation and other proceedings, fines and/or penalties, any of which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

Our ability to forecast health care and other benefit costs, detect changes in these costs, and achieve appropriate pricing affects our profitability.
We continue to be vigilant in our pricing and have increased our premiums for new and renewal business in 2006. Premiums in the health business are
generally fixed for one-year periods. Accordingly, future cost increases in excess of medical cost projections reflected in pricing cannot be recovered in the
contract year through higher premiums. As a result, the Company’s results are particularly sensitive to the price increases it projects in advance of renewal of
the business. There can be no assurance regarding the accuracy of medical cost projections assumed for pricing purposes, and if the rate of increase in
medical costs in 2006 were to exceed the levels projected for pricing purposes, our results would be materially adversely affected.
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We face a wide range of risks, and our success depends on our ability to identify, prioritize and appropriately manage our enterprise risk
exposures.
As a large company operating in a complex industry, we encounter a variety of risks. The risks we face include, among other matters, the range of industry,
competitive, regulatory, financial, operational or external risks identified in this Risk Factor discussion. In recent periods, we have devoted additional
resources to developing enterprise-wide risk management processes, in addition to the processes we have for risk management within our businesses. Failure to
appropriately identify, prioritize and manage or mitigate these risks, including risk concentrations across different industries and geographies, can affect our
profitability, our ability to retain or grow business, or, in the event of extreme circumstances, our financial condition or viability.

We would be adversely affected if there were a significant loss of or significant shift in the type of our core insured membership, or if we fail to
achieve profitable growth in that membership.
Competitive factors and ongoing changes in the health benefits industry create pressure to contain premium price increases despite being faced with increasing
medical costs. Our customer contracts are subject to negotiation as customers seek to contain their costs, and customers may elect to reduce benefits in order to
constrain increases in their benefit costs; such an election may result in lower premiums for our products, although it may also reduce our health care costs.
Alternatively, our customers may purchase different types of products from us that are less profitable, or move to a competitor to obtain more favorable
premiums. Among other matters, we compete on the basis of overall cost, plan design, customer services, quality and sufficiency of provider networks and
the quality of our medical management programs. In addition to competitive pressures affecting our ability to obtain new customers or retain existing
customers, our membership can be affected by reductions in workforce by existing customers (as it was in 2003 and 2004) due to soft general economic
conditions.

Loss of membership or failure to achieve profitable membership growth in our core insured membership, including strategies to increase membership for
targeted product types, such as commercial or public sector business, could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to contract with providers on favorable terms and otherwise maintain favorable
provider relationships.
Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract competitively while maintaining favorable relationships with hospitals, physicians and other
health benefits providers, which is affected both by the rates for provider services and our business processes, provider payment and other provider relations
practices, as well as factors not associated with us that impact these providers. The sufficiency and quality of our networks of available providers is also an
important factor when customers consider our products and services. The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-effective health care provider contracts may
result in a loss in membership and/or higher medical costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Negative public perception of the health benefits industry, or of the industry’s or our Company’s practices, can adversely affect our profitability.
The health benefits industry is subject to negative publicity, which can arise either from perceptions regarding the industry or our Company’s business
practices and/or products. This risk may be increased as we offer new products, such as products with limited benefits, targeted at market segments, such as
the uninsured, beyond those in which we traditionally have operated. Negative publicity may further increase our costs of doing business and adversely affect
our profitability by:

•

Adversely affecting the Aetna brand particularly,

•

Adversely affecting our ability to market our products and/or services,

•

Requiring us to change our products and/or services, or

•

Increasing the regulatory and legislative requirements with which we must comply.

We are dependent on our ability to manage and engage a very large workforce.
Our products and services and our operations require a large number of employees, and we would be adversely affected if our retention, development,
succession and other human resource management techniques are not aligned with our strategic objectives.
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Epidemics, pandemics, terrorists attacks, natural disasters or other extreme events or the continued threat of these extreme events could
materially increase health care utilization, pharmacy costs, life and disability claims and impact our business continuity, although we cannot
predict whether any such increases will occur.
Extreme events, including terrorism, can affect the U.S. economy in general, our industry and us specifically. Such events could materially adversely affect
our business and results of operations, and in the event of extreme circumstances, our financial condition or viability. Beyond obtaining coverage for our
facilities, there are few, if any, commercial options through which to transfer the exposure from terrorism away from the Company. In particular, in the event
of bioterrorism attacks, epidemics or other extreme events, we could face significant health care costs depending on the government’s actions and the
responsiveness of public health agencies and other insurers. In addition, our Group Insurance members are concentrated in certain large, metropolitan areas
which may be likely targets of these events. In addition, we could also be adversely affected if we do not maintain adequate procedures to ensure disaster
recovery and business continuity for our facilities and operations in the event of such occurrences.

We face risks related to litigation.
We are party to a number of lawsuits, certain of which may be purported to be class actions. The majority of these cases relate to the conduct of our health care
business and allege various violations of law. Many of these cases seek substantial damages (including punitive damages) and may also seek changes in our
business practices. We may also be subject to additional litigation in the future. Litigation could materially adversely affect our business or results of
operations because of the costs of defending these cases, the costs of settlement or judgments against us, or the changes in our operations that could result from
litigation. For example, we made certain changes to our business practices in connection with the settlement in 2003 of a large provider class action that we
must continue to effectively implement. Refer to Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

We expect that management will need to focus simultaneously on multiple strategic and operational initiatives as we seek to further improve our
financial performance, profitably grow our business and differentiate our products and services; if we do not successfully implement these
initiatives, or if these initiatives do not achieve their objectives, our results could be materially adversely affected.
Management will need to continue to focus on simultaneously executing multiple strategic and operational projects and initiatives, including, among other
things, addressing rising medical costs, further improving the efficiency of operations, managing certain significant technology projects, further improving
relations with health care providers, negotiating customer or provider contracting changes, and implementing other business process improvements. The future
performance of our business will depend in large part on our ability to design and implement these initiatives. If these initiatives do not achieve their objectives
or result in increased medical costs, our results of operations could be adversely affected. Refer to “Overview” for more information.

Sales of our products and services are dependent on our ability to attract, retain and provide support to a network of internal sales personnel
and third party brokers and consultants.
Our products are sold primarily through our sales personnel, who frequently work with independent brokers and consultants who assist in the production
and servicing of business. Our sales would be adversely affected if these sales networks deteriorate or if we do not adequately provide support, training and
education to this sales network regarding our product portfolio, which is complex.

Managing key executive succession is critical to our success.
We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately plan for succession of our senior management and other key executives. While we have succession
plans and we have employment arrangements with certain key executives, these do not guarantee that the services of these executives will continue to be
available to us.

We would be adversely affected if we do not effectively deploy our capital .
Our operations have generated significant capital in recent periods, and we have significant ability to raise additional capital. In deploying our capital to fund
our investments in operations, share repurchases, potential acquisitions or other capital uses, we would be adversely affected if we do not appropriately
balance our risks and opportunities.
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We hold reserves for expected claims, which are estimated, and these estimates involve an extensive degree of judgment; if actual claims exceed
reserve estimates, our results could be materially adversely affected.
Health care costs payable reflect estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported or reported but not yet paid. Health care
costs payable are estimated periodically, and any resulting adjustments are reflected in current-period operating results within health care costs. Health care
costs payable are based on a number of factors, including those derived from historical claim experience. A large portion of health care claims are not
submitted to the Company until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to members. As a result, an extensive degree of
judgment is used in this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimate is highly sensitive to
changes in medical claims payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends (the rate of increase in medical costs). A worsening (or improvement) of
medical cost trend or changes in claim payment patterns from those that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2005 would
cause these estimates to change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For example, a 100 basis point change in the estimated medical cost
trend for Commercial Risk products would have changed annual after-tax results for 2005 by approximately $77 million. This estimation process is a critical
accounting estimate for the Company. Refer to “Health Care” and “Critical Accounting Estimates” for more information.

We are subject to potential changes in public policy that can adversely affect the markets for our products and our profitability.
It is not possible to predict whether fundamental public policy changes that adversely affect us will occur. Examples of these changes include policy changes
that fundamentally change the dynamics of our industry, such as the federal or state government assuming a much larger role in the health care arena.

We outsource and obtain certain information technology systems or other services from independent third parties, and also delegate selected
functions to independent practice associations and specialty service providers; portions of our operations are subject to their performance.
Although we take steps to monitor and regulate the performance of independent third parties who provide services to us or to whom we delegate selected
functions, these arrangements may make our operations vulnerable if those third parties fail to satisfy their obligations to us, whether because of our failure to
adequately monitor and regulate their performance, or changes in their own financial condition or other matters outside our control. In recent years, certain
third parties to whom we delegated selected functions, such as independent practice associations and specialty services providers, have experienced financial
difficulties, including bankruptcy, which may subject us to increased costs and potential network disruptions, and in some cases cause us to incur
duplicative claims expense. Certain legislative authorities have in recent periods also discussed or proposed legislation that would restrict outsourcing and, if
enacted, could materially increase our costs. We also could become overly dependent on key vendors, which could cause us to lose core competencies if not
properly monitored.

Our business activities are highly regulated; further regulation could also materially adversely affect our business.
Our business is subject to extensive regulation and oversight by state and federal governmental authorities. The federal and many state governments have
enacted and continue to consider legislative and regulatory changes related to health products. We must monitor these changes and timely implement any
revisions to our business processes that these changes require. At this time, we are unable to predict the impact of future changes, although we anticipate that
some of these measures, if enacted, could adversely affect our health operations through:

•

Affecting premium rates,

•

Reducing our ability to manage medical costs,

•

Increasing medical costs and operating expenses,

•

Increasing our exposure to lawsuits and other adverse legal proceedings,

•

Regulating levels and permitted lines of business,

•

Imposing financial assessments, and

•

Regulating business practices.
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Recently, there has been heightened review by regulators of the health care insurance industry’s business practices, including utilization management and
claim payment practices, as well as review of the general insurance industry’s brokerage practices. As one of the largest national health insurers, we are
regularly the subject of regulatory market conduct reviews and several such reviews currently are pending, some of which may be resolved during 2006.
These regulatory reviews could result in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, and also could result in material fines, penalties or other
sanctions. Our business also may be adversely impacted by judicial and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and
regulations, impose medical or bad faith liability, increase our responsibilities under ERISA, or reduce the scope of ERISA pre-emption of state law claims. We
also have received subpoenas for information from the New York Attorney General and the Connecticut Attorney General and inquiries from other regulatory
authorities with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices.
For more information regarding these matters, please refer to “Regulatory Environment” and “Litigation”.

Our pension plan expenses are affected by general market conditions, interest rates and the accuracy of actuarial estimates of future benefit
costs.
We have a pension plan that covers a large number of current employees and retirees. Unfavorable investment performance, interest rate changes or changes in
estimates of benefit costs, if significant, could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition by significantly increasing our pension plan
expenses.

General market conditions affect our investments in debt and equity securities, mortgage loans and other investments and our income on those
investments.
As an insurer, we have substantial investment portfolios of assets that support our policy liabilities. Generally low levels of interest rates on investments, such
as those experienced in United States financial markets during recent years, have negatively impacted the level of investment income we earned in recent
periods, and such lower levels of investment income would continue if these lower interest rates were to continue. Although we seek, within guidelines we deem
appropriate, to match the duration of our assets and liabilities and to manage our credit exposures, a failure to adequately do so could materially adversely
affect our results of operations and our financial condition. See “Investments” for more information. Financial market conditions also affect our capital gains
or losses from investments.

We must demonstrate that our products and processes lead to access by members to quality care by their providers.
Failure to demonstrate that our products and processes (such as disease management and patient safety programs, provider credentialing and other quality of
care and information management initiatives) lead to access by members to quality care by providers would adversely affect our ability to differentiate our
product and/or service offerings from those of competitors and could adversely affect our results of operations.

Government payors can determine premiums.
We are increasing our focus on the non-Commercial part of our Health Care business as part of our business diversification efforts. In government-funded
health programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, the government payor determines the premium levels. If the government payor reduces the premium levels or
increases premiums by less than our costs increase and we cannot offset these with supplemental premiums and changes in benefit plans, then our business
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In addition, premiums for certain federal government employee groups are subject to
retroactive adjustments by the federal government. Nine percent of our consolidated revenues, and over 10% of the revenues of the Health Care business, were
derived from the federal government in 2005. Any such adjustments could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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We also face other risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition, which include:
•

Any requirement to restate financial results in the event of inappropriate application of accounting principles;

•

Financial loss from inadequate insurance coverage due to self insurance levels or unavailability of coverage for credit or other reasons;

•

Failure of our processes to prevent and detect unethical conduct of employees;

•

A significant failure of internal controls over financial reporting;

•

Failure of our prevention and control systems related to employee compliance with internal policies, including data system security;

•

Provider fraud that is not prevented or detected and impacts our medical costs or those of self-insured customers; and

•

Failure of our corporate governance policies or procedures.
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Selected Financial Data
(Millions, except per common share data)

Total revenue
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)
Net realized capital gains, net of tax (included above)
Total assets
Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity

Per common share data:
Dividends declared
Earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted (1)
Net income (loss):

Basic
Diluted (1)
(1)

For the Years Ended December 31,
2003

2005

2004

$22,491.9
1,634.5
1,634.5
21.1
44,364.6
—
1,605.7
10,104.9

$19,904.1
1,215.1
2,245.1
45.9
42,133.7
—
1,609.7
9,081.4

$17,976.4
933.8
933.8

$

$

$

.02

.01

42.0

40,950.2
—
1,613.7
7,924.0

.01

2002

2001

$19,878.7
393.2
(2,522.5)
22.3
40,047.5
—
1,633.2
6,980.0

$25,190.8
(291.5)
(279.6)
73.6
43,196.7
109.7
1,591.3
9,890.3

$

$

.01

.01

2.82
2.70

2.01
1.94

1.53
1.48

.66
.64

(.51)
(.51)

2.82
2.70

3.71
3.58

1.53
1.48

(4.23)
(4.12)

(.49)
(.49)

Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001, the effect of common stock equivalents has been excluded from earnings per
common share computations for that year since including such securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per common share
amounts for 2001 are the same.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A for significant events affecting the comparability of results as well as material uncertainties.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the Years Ended December 31,
2005

2004

2003

$16,924.7

22,491.9

$14,862.8
1,813.9
2,094.1
1,062.5
70.8
19,904.1

$ 13,235.5
1,668.5
1,912.2
1,095.0
65.2
17,976.4

13,107.9
2,364.5

11,637.7
2,191.5

10,135.8
2,090.8

700.0

(Millions, except per common share data)

Revenue:

Health care premiums
Other premiums
Fees and other revenue *
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Total revenue
Benefits and expenses:
Health care costs **
Current and future benefits
Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Interest expense
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Total benefits and expenses
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 21)
Net income

Earnings per common share:
Basic:
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income

2,003.0

2,428.9
1,103.0
32.3

843.5
3,515.1
4,358.6
122.8
57.4
(66.7)
19,944.5
2,547.4
912.9
1,634.5
—
$ 1,634.5

$ 2,245.1

567.4
3,587.1
4,154.5
102.9
50.8
—
16,534.8
1,441.6
507.8
933.8
—
$
933.8

$

$

2.01
1.70
3.71

$

$

2.82
—
2.82

$

1.53
—
1.53

$

2.70

$

1.48

$

$

1.94
1.64
3.58

$

—
2.70

$

1.48

3,328.8
4,028.8
104.7
42.5
—
18,005.2
1,898.9
683.8
1,215.1
1,030.0

$

—

*

Fees and other revenue includes administrative services contract member co-payment revenue and plan sponsor reimbursements related to the
Company’s mail order pharmacy of $21.3 million, $14.7 million and $1.3 million (net of pharmaceutical and processing costs of $884.5 million,
$632.7 million and $137.5 million) for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

**

Health care costs have been reduced by fully insured member co-payment revenue related to the Company’s mail order pharmacy of $78.5 million,
$59.5 million and $38.8 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31,
(Millions)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Other investments
Premiums receivable, net
Other receivables, net
Accrued investment income
Collateral received under securities loan agreements
Loaned securities
Income taxes receivable
Deferred income taxes

Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Mortgage loans
Investment real estate
Reinsurance recoverables
Goodwill
Other acquired intangible assets, net
Property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term assets
Separate Accounts assets

Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Heath care costs payable
Future policy benefits
Unpaid claims
Unearned premiums
Policyholders’ funds
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements
Current portion of long-term debt
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Future policy benefits
Unpaid claims
Policyholders’ funds
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Separate Accounts liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 1.4 billion shares authorized, 566.5 million
shares issued and outstanding in 2005; 732.5 million shares authorized, 586.0 million shares issued and
outstanding in 2004)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2005

2004

$ 1,192.6
13,366.2
96.8
349.2
366.7
184.9
1,138.8
1,115.7
—
—

$ 1,396.0
14,242.6
57.7
256.1
314.0

198.6
1,173.8
1,150.1
226.8
196.0

423.8

304.5

18,234.7
1,662.1
1,460.8
207.2
1,143.7
4,523.2
724.9
272.8
—
1,602.8
14,532.4
$ 44,364.6

19,516.2
1,718.1
1,348.2
274.8
1,173.0
3,687.8

$ 1,817.0
806.1
752.1
156.9
757.7
1,138.8

460.3
233.6
300.0

405.9
13,015.8
$ 42,133.7

1,155.7
15.1
848.5
14,532.4
34,259.7

$ 1,927.1
837.6
707.7
121.8
672.5
1,173.8
—
—
—
1,570.8
7,011.3
7,859.5
1,081.5
1,453.1
1,609.7
—
1,021.4
13,015.8
33,052.3

1,885.1
8,169.5
50.3
10,104.9
$ 44,364.6

3,076.5
6,546.4
(541.5)
9,081.4
$ 42,133.7

450.0

36.7
10.4

1,691.1
7,616.8
7,642.1
1,144.9
1,304.2

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Common

(Millions)

Balance at December 31, 2002
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative gains (1)
Pension liability adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Common shares issued for benefit
plans
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends declared ($.01 per share)

Balance at December 31, 2003
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive loss:
Net unrealized losses on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative gains (1)
Pension liability adjustment
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income

Common shares issued for benefit
plans
Repurchases of common shares and
other

Dividends declared ($.01 per share)

Balance at December 31, 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized losses on
securities (1)
Net foreign currency gains
Net derivative losses (1)
Pension liability adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Common shares issued for benefit
plans
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends declared ($.02 per share)

Balance at December 31, 2005
(1)

Number of

Stock and

Common

Shares
Outstanding

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

599.9

$ 4,070.9

$ 3,379.5

—

—

933.8

—

933.8

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

5.6

5.6

4.3

4.3

.7
51.8
62.4

.7
51.8
62.4

399.1

41.0
(30.6)

(445.2)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$

$ 6,980.0

—
—
(6.1)

—

—

610.3

4,024.8

4,307.2

—

—

2,245.1

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

(470.4)

—
—
—
(408.0)

—
(41.9)
1.5
1.2
(94.3)
(133.5)

2,245.1

(64.5)
—

(1,494.8)
—

—
(5.9)

—
—

(1,494.8)
(5.9)

586.0

3,076.5

6,546.4

—

—

1,634.5

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
566.5

$ 1,885.1

Net of reclassification adjustments (refer to Note 10).

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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—
—
(11.4)

$8,169.5

$

1,634.5

$

(133.5)
2,111.6

$

1,634.5

$

591.8
2,226.3

(141.6)
.7
(.3)

733.0

733.0

591.8

50.3

2,245.1

9,081.4

591.8

—
—
—

$

(41.9)
1.5
1.2
(94.3)
(133.5)

546.5

477.7
(1,669.1)
—

62.4
996.2

7,924.0

—

22.3
(41.8)

$

(6.1)

—

(141.6)
.7
(.3)

933.8

399.1

546.5

—

$

(445.2)

40.2

(541.5)

Comprehensive
Income

477.7
(1,669.1)
(11.4)

$ 10,104.9

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31,
(Millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Discontinued operations
Physician class action settlement charge
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of net investment premium
Net realized capital gains
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accrued investment income
(Increase) decrease in premiums due and other receivables
Net change in income taxes
Net change in other assets and other liabilities
Decrease in health care and insurance liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Note 21)
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and investment maturities of:
Debt securities available for sale
Other investments
Cost of investments in:
Debt securities available for sale
Other investments
Increase in property, equipment and software
Cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Deposits and interest credited for investment contracts
Withdrawals of investment contracts
Common shares issued under benefit plans
Common shares repurchased
Dividends paid to shareholders
Other, net
Net cash used for financing activities

2005

2004

$ 1,634.5

$ 2,245.1

—
—
204.4

22.6
(32.3)

13.7
(95.6)
596.5
(251.6)
(223.7)
(43.9)
1,824.6
68.8
1,893.4

—
115.4
199.6
54.2
(65.2)

—
182.2
45.5
(70.8)

22.9

(7.2)
150.1
16.3
(369.4)
(597.2)
(59.8)
370.6
—
370.6

34.0

350.9
(621.7)
(366.3)
(21.2)
770.6
666.2
1,436.8

12,623.6
3,113.2

(10,108.5 )
(1,130.0)
(271.6)
(1,107.6)
(710.1)

(9,469.3)
(2,231.1)
(190.3)
(9.5)
67.4

(13,250.3 )
(2,386.6)
(210.8)
(53.5)
(164.4)

(203.4)
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(1,030.0)

933.8

9,471.7
2,495.9

1,396.0
$ 1,192.6

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

$

10,604.7
1,302.9

41.6
(54.5)
271.3
(1,650.0)
(11.4)
16.3
(1,386.7)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

2003

54.5
(423.2)

94.4
(502.4)

316.0
(1,493.0)

(445.2)

293.6

(5.9)

(6.1)

10.0

(10.0)

(1,541.6)

(575.7)

(37.4)
1,433.4

(369.5)
1,802.9

$ 1,396.0

$

1,433.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Organization
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) (“Aetna”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company”). The Company’s operations include three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. Health Care consists of
medical, dental and pharmacy benefits management plans offered on both a risk basis (where the Company assumes all or a majority of the risk for medical
and dental care costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor under an administrative services contract (“ASC”) assumes all or a majority of
this risk). Medical plans include point-of-service (“POS”), health maintenance organization (“HMO”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and indemnity
benefit (“Indemnity”) products. Medical plans also include Health Savings Accounts (“HSAs”) and Aetna HealthFund ®, consumer-directed plans that
combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account (which may be funded by the plan
sponsor or member in the case of HSAs). The Company also provides specialty products, such as medical management and data analytics, as well as
products that provide access to our provider network. The Group Insurance segment includes group life insurance products offered on a risk basis, as well as
group disability and long-term care insurance products offered on both a risk and an employer-funded basis. Large Case Pensions manages a variety of
retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for tax qualified pension plans. These products provide a variety of funding and
benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain discontinued products. (Refer to Note 20 for
additional information.)

The three segments are distinct businesses that offer different products and services. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer evaluates financial performance
and makes resource allocation decisions at these segment levels. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies in Note 2. The Company evaluates performance of these business segments based on operating earnings (net income or loss,
excluding net realized capital gains and losses and any other items) (Refer to Note 19 for segment financial information).

On January 27, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock which was
effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend. All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 7, 2006 received one additional share
of common stock for each share held on that date distributed in the form of a stock dividend on February 17, 2006. On February 9, 2005, the Board declared
a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend. All shareholders of record at the
close of business on February 25, 2005 received one additional share of common stock for each share held on that date distributed in the form of a stock
dividend on March 11, 2005. All share and per share amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have been adjusted to
reflect these two stock splits for all periods presented.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and
include the accounts of Aetna and subsidiaries that the Company controls. All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2004 and 2003 financial information to conform to the 2005 presentation.
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Future Application of Accounting Standards

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 123 Revised,
“Share-Based Payment ” (“FAS 123R”). FAS 123R, which is effective January 1, 2006, replaces FAS 123, “ Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ”
(“FAS 123”) and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “ Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees ” (“APB 25”). FAS 123 permitted
companies to account for stock-based compensation using either the fair value method or the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB 25. If a company
applied the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based compensation, it was required to provide pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings
per share as if it had applied the fair value method to such compensation. As described in “Stock-Based Compensation” below, the Company applied the
intrinsic value method of accounting to its stock-based compensation awards and provided the required pro forma disclosures. FAS 123R also amended FAS
No. 95, “ Statement of Cash Flows ” to require the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as financing cash inflows
rather than as a reduction in income taxes paid, which is included within operating cash flows.
FAS 123R requires companies to expense the fair value of all stock-based payment awards (including stock options) issued to employees and non-employees,
eliminating the alternative of measuring such awards using the intrinsic value method. FAS 123R requires the fair value to be calculated using a valuation
model (such as the Black-Scholes or binomial-lattice models). Consistent with the Company’s historical practice of measuring the fair value of stock-based
compensation for its pro forma disclosures, the Company expects to utilize the Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of its stock-based
compensation awards in the future.

FAS 123R allows companies the option of adopting its provisions using a modified-prospective approach or a modified-retrospective approach. The Company
will utilize the modified-retrospective approach. Under this approach, beginning in the first quarter of 2006, all prior period financial information will be
adjusted to reflect the Company’s stock compensation activity since 1995. Prior period balances of shareholders’ equity and deferred taxes (as well as the
beginning balances of these accounts for the earliest period presented) will be increased to reflect the results of the modified retrospective application of FAS
123R to those years. Additionally, the Company will reclassify certain amounts from cash flows from operations to cash flow from financing activities for all
prior periods. Prior period net income and earnings per common share will be adjusted as illustrated in the presentation of pro forma net income and pro forma
earnings per common share in “Stock-Based Compensation” below. The full effect of this retrospective application to the Company’s prior period financial
position and cash flows has not yet been determined.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments
In November 2005, the FASB released FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. ” An impairment of an investment occurs when the fair value of the investment is less than its
amortized cost. This FSP, effective January 1, 2006, provides accounting guidance regarding the determination of when an impairment of debt and equity
securities should be considered other-than-temporary, as well as the subsequent accounting for these investments. The adoption of this FSP is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes. The Company considers the following accounting estimates
critical in the preparation of its Consolidated Financial Statements: Health Care Costs Payable, Insurance Liabilities (other than Health Care Costs Payable),
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans, Investment Securities and Revenue Recognition. The
Company uses information available to management at the time estimates are made; however, these estimates could change materially if different information
or assumptions were used. Additionally, these estimates may not ultimately reflect the actual amounts of the final transactions that occur.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and other debt securities with a maturity of 90 days or less when purchased. The carrying value of cash
equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of these investments.

Investments

Investment Securities
Investment securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, corporate and foreign bonds, money market
instruments and other debt and equity securities. The Company has determined that its investment securities are available for use in current operations and,
accordingly, has classified such securities as current without regard to contractual maturity dates. The cost for mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the interest method over the estimated remaining term of the
securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments. The Company regularly reviews its debt and equity securities to determine whether a decline in fair value
below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. If a decline in fair value is considered other-than-temporary, the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is
written down, and the amount of the write-down is included in results of operations for the period in which the write-down occurs. The Company does not
accrue interest on debt securities when management believes the collection of interest is unlikely.

Long-Term Investments
Long-term investments consist primarily of equity securities subject to restrictions on disposition, limited partnerships and restricted assets. Limited
partnerships are accounted for under the equity method when the Company exercises significant influence. Restricted assets consist of debt securities on
deposit as required by regulatory authorities.

Fair Value of Investments
The Company has classified its investment securities as available-for-sale and carries them at fair value. Fair values for such securities are based on quoted
market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third party vendor, and non-traded equity securities are priced based
on an internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections.

Securities Lending
The Company engages in securities lending whereby certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to other institutions for short periods of time. Such
securities are classified as loaned securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Initial collateral, primarily cash, is required at a rate of 102% of the fair value
of a loaned domestic security and 105% of the fair value of a loaned foreign security. The fair value of the loaned securities is monitored on a daily basis, with
additional collateral obtained or refunded as the fair value of the loaned securities fluctuates. The collateral is deposited by the borrower with an independent
lending agent, and retained and invested by the lending agent according to the Company’s guidelines to generate additional income.

Mortgage Loans
Mortgage loans are carried at unpaid principal balances, net of impairment reserves. A mortgage loan may be impaired when it is a problem loan (i.e., more
than 60 days delinquent, in bankruptcy or in process of foreclosure), a potential problem loan (i.e., high probability of default within 3 years) or a
restructured loan. For impaired loans, a specific impairment reserve is established for the difference between the recorded investment in the loan and the
estimated fair value of the collateral. The Company applies its loan impairment policy individually to all loans in the portfolio and does not aggregate loans for
the purpose of applying this policy. The Company records full or partial charge-offs of loans at the time an event occurs affecting the legal status of the loan,
typically at the time of foreclosure or upon a loan modification giving rise to forgiveness of debt. The Company accrues interest income on impaired loans to
the extent it is deemed collectable and the loan continues to perform under its original or restructured terms. Interest income on problem loans is generally
recognized on a cash basis. Cash payments on loans in the process of foreclosure are generally treated as a return of principal. Mortgage loans with a maturity
date of less than one year from the balance sheet date are reported in other investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Page 48

Investment Real Estate
Investment real estate, which the Company intends to hold for the production of income, is carried at depreciated cost, including capital additions, net of writedowns for other-than-temporary declines in fair value. Depreciation is generally calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of
each asset. Properties held-for-sale are carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less estimated selling costs. Adjustments to the carrying value of
properties held for sale are recorded in a valuation reserve when the fair value less estimated selling costs is below carrying value. Fair value is generally
estimated using a discounted future cash flow analysis in conjunction with comparable sales information. Property valuations are reviewed by the Company’s
investment management group. At the time of the sale, the difference between the sales price and the carrying value is recorded as a realized capital gain or loss.

Net Investment Income and Realized Capital Gains and Losses
Net investment income and realized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Group Insurance and Health Care’s liabilities and Large Case
Pensions’ products (other than experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in the Company’s results of operations. Realized capital gains and
losses are determined on a specific identification basis. Unrealized capital gains and losses are reflected in shareholders’ equity, net of related income taxes, as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Purchases and sales of debt and equity securities are recorded on the trade date. Purchases and sales
of mortgage loans and investment real estate are recorded on the closing date.
Realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting experience-rated products in the Large Case Pensions business are reflected in
policyholders’ funds in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are determined on a specific identification basis. Experience-rated products are products in the
Large Case Pensions business where the contract holder, not the Company, assumes investment (including realized capital gains and losses) and other risks,
subject to, among other things, minimum guarantees provided by the Company. The effect of investment performance is allocated to contract holders’
accounts daily, based on the underlying investment’s experience and, therefore, does not impact the Company’s results of operations (as long as minimum
guarantees are not triggered). Net investment income supporting Large Case Pensions’ experience-rated products is included in net investment income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income, which is credited to contract holders in current and future benefits.

When the Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pensions products, it established a reserve for anticipated future losses from these
products and segregated the related investments. These investments are managed as a separate portfolio. Investment income and net realized capital gains and
losses on this separate portfolio are ultimately credited/charged to the reserve and, therefore, do not impact the Company’s results of operations. Unrealized
capital gains or losses on this separate portfolio are reflected in other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. (Refer to Note 20 for additional
information.)

Derivative Instruments
The Company uses derivative instruments (“derivatives”) in order to manage interest rate, foreign exchange and price risk (collectively, “market risk”). By
using derivatives to manage market risk, the Company exposes itself to credit risk and additional market risk.
Credit risk is the exposure to loss if a counterparty fails to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. The Company generally does not require
collateral or other security for its derivatives, but may be required to post collateral under certain circumstances. However, the Company minimizes its credit
risk by entering into transactions with counterparties that maintain high credit ratings, as well as by limiting single counterparty exposure and monitoring the
financial condition of counterparties. Market risk is the exposure to changes in the market price of the underlying instrument and the related derivative. Such
price changes result from movements in interest rates and foreign exchange and equity markets, and as a result, assets and liabilities will appreciate or
depreciate in market value.

The Company uses primarily futures contracts, forward contracts, forward starting swap agreements and warrants to manage market risk.
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Futures contracts represent commitments either to purchase or to sell securities at a specified future date and specified price. Futures contracts trade on
organized exchanges and, therefore, have minimal credit risk. Forward contracts are agreements to exchange fixed amounts of two different financial
instruments or currencies at a specified future date and specified price. Forward starting swap agreements are contracts to exchange interest payments on a
specified principal (notional) amount of indebtedness for a specified period.

From time to time, the Company uses option contracts for the purpose of increasing net investment income. Option contracts grant the purchaser, for a fee, the
right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a financial instrument at a given price during a specified period.
Derivatives are reflected at fair value in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets in other investments. The fair value of derivatives is estimated based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes. These fair value amounts reflect the estimated
amounts that the Company would have to pay or would receive if the derivative contracts were terminated.

The Company’s financial instruments and insurance products are reviewed to determine whether a derivative may be “embedded” in such instruments or
products. The Company assesses whether the economic characteristics of the embedded derivative are clearly and closely related to the remaining component of
the financial instrument or insurance product (i.e., the host contract). If the Company determines that the embedded derivative is not clearly and closely related
to the host contract and that a separate instrument with the same terms would qualify as a derivative, the embedded derivative is separated from the host
contract and carried at fair value.
When the Company enters into a derivative contract, if certain criteria are met, it may designate the derivative as one of the following: (i) a hedge of the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (a “fair value hedge”); (ii) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability
of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (a “cash flow hedge”); or (iii) a foreign currency fair value or cash flow hedge (a
“foreign currency hedge”).

At hedge inception, the Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for the hedge transaction. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific
assets and liabilities reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also
formally assesses, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of hedged items. If the Company determines that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, the Company discontinues hedge
accounting prospectively, as discussed below.
For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative, along with the gain or loss on the related hedged asset or liability,
are recorded in current period results of operations. For a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income when the hedged item affects
results of operations. Any amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness, as well as the ineffective portion of the gain or loss, are reported in
results of operations immediately. If a derivative is not designated as a hedge, any gain or loss in its fair value is recognized in the Company’s results of
operations in the period of change.
The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined that one of the following has occurred: (i) the derivative is no longer highly
effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (iii) the derivative is
undesignated as a hedge instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (iv) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition
of a firm commitment; or (v) management determines that the designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.
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If hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative will continue to be carried in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at its fair value. When hedge
accounting is discontinued because the derivative no longer qualifies as an effective fair value hedge, the related hedged asset or liability will no longer be
adjusted for fair value changes. When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, the accumulated
gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in the Company’s results of operations. When hedge
accounting is discontinued because the hedged item no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, any asset or liability that was recorded pursuant to
the firm commitment will be recognized in current period results of operations. In all other situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued, changes in the
fair value of the derivative are recognized in the Company’s current period results of operations.

Reinsurance
The Company utilizes reinsurance agreements primarily to facilitate the acquisition or disposition of certain insurance contracts. Ceded reinsurance agreements
permit recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge the Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the risks reinsured.
Only those reinsurance recoverables deemed probable of recovery are reflected as assets. In the normal course of business, the Company enters into agreements
with other insurance companies to assume reinsurance, primarily related to its health and group life products (refer to Note 17 for additional information). The
Company does not transfer any portion of the financial risk associated with its HMO products to third parties.
Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment (at the reporting unit level) annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment by
comparing an estimate of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, the
Company compares the implied fair value of the applicable goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill to measure the amount of goodwill impairment,
if any. The Company’s only reporting unit with goodwill is its Health Care segment. Impairments, if any, would be classified as an operating expense. During
the fourth quarter of 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company performed an annual impairment test, in conjunction with its annual planning process, and
determined there were no impairment losses related to goodwill.

The Company’s annual impairment tests were based on an evaluation of future discounted cash flows. These evaluations utilized the best information
available to the Company at the time, including reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections. The discounted cash flow evaluations considered
several earnings scenarios and the likelihood of possible outcomes. Collectively, these evaluations were management’s best estimates of projected future cash
flows. The Company’s discounted cash flow evaluations used a range of discount rates that corresponds to the Company’s weighted-average cost of capital.
This discount rate range is consistent with that used for investment decisions and takes into account the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies of
the Health Care reporting unit. Certain other key assumptions utilized, including changes in membership, revenue, medical costs, operating expenses and
effective tax rates, are based on reasonable estimates consistent with those utilized in the Company’s annual planning process. If the Company does not
achieve its earnings objectives, the assumptions and estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely affected.

Property and Equipment and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
Property and equipment and other acquired intangible assets are reported at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation or amortization. At December 31,
2005 and 2004, the historical cost of property and equipment was approximately $.9 billion and $.8 billion, respectively, and the related accumulated
depreciation was approximately $.6 billion. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets ranging from three to forty years.

The Company regularly evaluates whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of property and equipment and other acquired
intangible assets may not be recoverable. If it is determined that an asset may not be recoverable, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from future use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying
amount of the asset, an impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
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Separate Accounts
Separate Account assets and liabilities in the Large Case Pensions business generally represent funds maintained to meet specific objectives of contract holders
who bear the investment risk. Investment income and capital gains and losses generally accrue directly to such contract holders. The assets of each account are
legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out of any other business of the Company. These assets and liabilities are carried at fair value.
Deposits, withdrawals, net investment income and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on Separate Account assets are not reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Income or Cash Flows. Management fees charged to contract holders are included in fees and other revenue and recognized over the
period earned.

In 1996 the Company entered into a contract with UBS Realty Investors, LLC (formerly known as Allegis Realty Investors, LLC) whereby mortgage loan
and real estate Separate Account assets would transition out of the Company. This transition is expected to occur over the next several years. The impact of this
transition will be a reduction of Separate Account assets and corresponding liabilities as shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. While their value is
approximately $9.2 billion at December 31, 2005, their value at the time of transition cannot be predicted. This transition is not expected to materially impact
the Company’s results of operations or cash flows.

Health Care and Insurance Liabilities
Health care costs payable consist principally of unpaid fee-for-service medical, dental and pharmacy claims, capitation costs and other amounts due to health
care providers pursuant to risk-sharing arrangements related to Health Care’s POS, HMO, PPO and Indemnity products. Unpaid health care claims include
estimates of payments to be made on claims reported but not yet paid and health care services rendered to members but not yet reported to the Company as of
the balance sheet date. Also included in these estimates is the cost of services that will continue to be rendered after the balance sheet date if the Company is
obligated to pay for such services in accordance with contractual or regulatory requirements. Such estimates are developed using actuarial principles and
assumptions which consider, among other things, historical and projected claim submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, medical
cost trends, utilization of health care services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors.
Changes in estimates are recorded in health care costs in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period they are determined. Capitation costs represent
contractual monthly fees paid to participating physicians and other medical providers for providing medical care. Amounts due under risk-sharing
arrangements are based on the terms of the underlying contracts with the providers and consider experience under the contracts through the balance sheet date.
Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and long-duration
group paid-up life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business. Reserves for limited payment contracts are computed in accordance
with actuarial principles and are based upon assumptions reflecting anticipated mortality, retirement, expense and interest rate experience. Such assumptions
generally vary by plan, year of issue and policy duration. Assumed interest rates on such contracts ranged from 2.0% to 11.3% in 2005 and in 2004. Mortality
assumptions are periodically reviewed against both industry standards and experience. Reserves for group paid-up life and long-term care contracts represent
the present value of future benefits to be paid to or on behalf of policyholders less the present value of future net premiums. Assumed interest rates on such
contracts ranged from 2.5% to 9.5% in 2005 and 2004. The present value of future benefits is based upon mortality, morbidity and interest rate assumptions.

Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts in the Group Insurance
business, including an estimate for claims incurred but not yet reported to the Company as of the balance sheet date. Reserves associated with certain shortduration group disability and term life insurance contracts are based upon the present value of future benefits, which is based on assumed investment yields
and assumptions regarding mortality, morbidity and recoveries from government programs (e.g., social security). Reserves for claims incurred but not yet
reported are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, contractual requirements, claim incidence rates, claim
recovery rates, seasonality and other relevant factors. The Company discounts certain claim liabilities related to group long-term disability and premium
waiver contracts. The discounted unpaid claim liabilities were $1.4 billion and $1.3 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The undiscounted
value of these unpaid claim liabilities were $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The discount rates generally reflect the
expected investment
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returns for the asset portfolios that support these liabilities and ranged from 6.1% to 6.2% in 2005 and 5.9% to 6.1% in 2004. The discount rates for
retrospectively-rated contracts are set at contractually specified levels. The estimates of unpaid claims are subject to change due to changes in the underlying
experience of the insurance contracts, changes in investment yields or other factors, and these changes are recorded in current and future benefits in the
Consolidated Statements of Income in the period they are determined.
Policyholders’ funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and customer funds
associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Reserves on such contracts are equal to cumulative
deposits less withdrawals and charges plus credited interest thereon, net of experience rated adjustments. In 2005, interest rates for pension and annuity
investment contracts ranged from 3.3% to 9.6% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from .8% to 4.6%. In 2004, interest rates for pension and
annuity investment contracts ranged from 1.7% to 11.5% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from .7% to 5.0%. Reserves on contracts subject
to experience rating reflect the rights of policyholders, plan participants and the Company.
Health care and insurance liabilities are reviewed periodically, with any necessary adjustments reflected during the current period in results of operations.
While the ultimate amount of claims and related expenses are dependent on future developments, it is management’s opinion that the liabilities that have been
established are adequate to cover such costs. The health care and insurance liabilities that are expected to be paid within one year from the balance sheet date
are classified as current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Deferred Acquisition Costs
Health care products included in the Health Care segment are cancelable by either the customer or the member monthly upon written notice. Acquisition costs
related to the Company’s prepaid health care and health indemnity contracts are expensed as incurred. The Company defers certain acquisition costs related to
its long-term care products. Such deferred costs were not material to the Company’s financial position or results of operations as of December 31, 2005 or 2004
and are included in other long-term assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Premium Deficiency
The Company evaluates its health care and insurance contracts to determine if it is probable that a loss will be incurred. A premium deficiency loss would be
recognized when it is probable that expected future claims, including maintenance costs (for example, claim processing costs), will exceed existing reserves
plus anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on existing contracts. Anticipated investment income is considered in the calculation of premium
deficiency losses for short-duration contracts. For purposes of determining premium deficiency losses, contracts are grouped in a manner consistent with the
Company’s method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts.
Revenue Recognition

Health care premiums associated with the Company’s prepaid and other health care plans are recognized as income in the month in which the enrollee is
entitled to receive health care services. Health care premiums are reported net of an allowance for estimated terminations and uncollectable amounts. Other
premium revenue for group life, long-term care and disability products is recognized as income, net of allowances for termination and uncollectable accounts,
over the term of the coverage. Other premium revenue for Large Case Pensions’ limited payment pension and annuity contracts is recognized as revenue in the
period received. Premiums related to unexpired contractual coverage periods are reported as unearned premiums in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The balance of the allowance for estimated terminations and uncollectable accounts on premiums receivable was $69 million and $68 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction of premiums receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of the
allowance for uncollectable accounts on other receivables was $57 million and $61 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is reflected as a
reduction of other receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Some of the Company’s contracts allow for premiums to be adjusted to reflect actual experience. Such adjustments are reasonably estimable (based on actual
experience of the customer emerging under the contract and the terms of the underlying contract) and are recognized as the experience emerges.

Fees and other revenue consists primarily of ASC fees which are received in exchange for performing certain claims processing and member services for selfinsured health and disability members and are recognized as revenue over the period the service is provided. Some of the Company’s contracts include
guarantees with respect to certain functions such as customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing turnaround time, as well
as certain guarantees that claim expenses to be incurred by plan sponsors will fall within a certain range. With any of these guarantees, the Company is
financially at risk if the conditions of the arrangements are not met, although the maximum amount at risk is typically limited to a percentage of fees for the
customer involved.

In addition, fees and other revenue includes charges assessed against contract holders’ funds for contract fees, participant fees and asset charges related to
pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business. Other amounts received on pension and annuity investment-type contracts are reflected as
deposits and are not recorded as revenue. When annuities with life contingencies are purchased under contracts that were initially investment contracts, the
accumulated balance related to the purchase is treated as a single premium and reflected as an offsetting amount in both other premiums and current and future
benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Fees and other revenue also includes co-payments and ASC plan sponsor reimbursements related to the
Company’s mail order pharmacy, network access fees and other fees charged for health care data analytics.

Allocation of Operating Expenses
The Company allocates to the business segments centrally incurred costs associated with specific internal goods or services provided to the Company, such as
employee services, technology services and rent, based on a reasonable method for each specific cost (such as membership, usage, headcount, compensation
or square footage occupied). Interest expense on third-party borrowings is not allocated to the reporting segments since it is not used as a basis for measuring
the operating performance of the segments. Such amounts are reflected in Corporate Interest in segment financial information. (Refer to Note 19 for additional
information.)

Income Taxes
The Company is taxed at regular corporate rates after adjusting income reported for financial statement purposes for certain items. The Company is
responsible for filing two separate consolidated and various standalone federal income tax returns. The results of these separate tax filings are combined for
financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities based
on enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. Deferred income tax
expense or benefit primarily reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year. The current income tax provision reflects the tax
results of revenues and expenses currently taxable or deductible.

Stock-Based Compensation
At December 31, 2005, the Company had various stock-based employee incentive plans. (Refer to Note 12 for additional information). The Company uses the
intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based awards granted to employees. Accordingly, compensation cost is not recognized when the exercise price of
an employee stock option equals or exceeds the fair value of the stock on the date the option is granted. The following table illustrates the pro forma net income
and pro forma earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 as if the Company had applied the fair value based method
of accounting to all awards of stock-based employee compensation.
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2005

2004

2003

$ 1,634.5

$2,245.1

$ 933.8

.4

11.9

40.1

(Millions, except per common share data)

Net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of related
taxes
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method
for all awards, net of related taxes
Pro forma net income

Earnings per common share:
Basic — as reported
Basic — pro forma

(61.6)
$ 1,573.3

$2,154.8

$ 892.9

$

$

$

2.82
2.72
2.70
2.60

Diluted — as reported
Diluted — pro forma

(102.2)

3.71
3.56

(81.0)

3.58
3.43

1.53
1.46
1.48
1.41

The fair value of the employee stock options included in the pro forma amounts was estimated as of the grant date using a modified Black-Scholes optionpricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2005

Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life

2004

2003

.1%

.1%

.1%

31%
4%

34%
3%

40%
3%

5 years

4 years

5 years

The weighted-average grant date fair values for the Company’s options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $10.83, $6.16 and $4.10, respectively.

3. Acquisitions
On February 27, 2006, the Company announced that it entered into an agreement with Broadspire Services, Inc. and Broadspire Management Services, Inc.
(collectively, “Broadspire”) to acquire its disability and leave management businesses, which operate as a third party administrator offering absence
management services, including short-term and long-term disability administration and leave management to employers. The Company will acquire
Broadspire’s disability and leave management businesses for approximately $160 million and expects to finance the transaction from available cash. The
transaction is subject to customary closing conditions and federal Hart-Scott-Rodino antitrust regulatory approval. The Company expects to close the
transaction in the second quarter of 2006.
In December 2005, the Company purchased the assets and operations of Magellan Health Services (“Magellan”) previously used to provide behavioral health
care services to our members. The transaction is a result of an agreement the Company negotiated with Magellan in March 2003. The purchase price was not
material to the Company’s financial condition.

In December 2005, the Company purchased the remaining interest in Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC (“ASP”), a joint venture the Company launched with
Priority Health Care Corporation (“PHCC”) in 2004 to better serve Aetna members with conditions that required specialty pharmaceuticals. The Company had
owned 40% of the joint venture, with an option to purchase the remaining interest, which accelerated upon the change in control of PHCC in October 2005. The
purchase price was not material to the Company’s financial condition. ASP compliments the Company’s mail-order pharmacy, Aetna Rx Home Delivery ®,
which was launched in 2003 and has operations in Missouri and Florida.
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In July 2005, the Company acquired HMS Healthcare, Inc. (“HMS”), a privately held regional health care network with operations in Michigan, Colorado
and other states, for $394 million. This transaction was financed from available cash. The Company recorded approximately $291 million of goodwill
associated with the acquisition of HMS, representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which includes approximately
$117 million of customer list, non-compete and trade name intangible assets).
In May 2005, the Company acquired Active Health Management, Inc. (“Active Health”), a privately held health management and health care data analytics
company, for approximately $405 million. This transaction was financed from available cash. The Company recorded approximately $309 million of
goodwill associated with the acquisition of Active Health, representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which includes
approximately $92 million of customer list, technology, and trademark intangible assets).

In January 2005, the Company acquired Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”), a privately-held administrator of group limited benefit products for part-time
and hourly workers. For approximately $256 million, financed through available cash, Aetna acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the insurance
contracts administered by SRC. At December 31, 2005, approximately $67 million of the purchase price was held in escrow pending resolution of certain
future events (of which $20 million was released in February 2006 upon resolution of one of the contingencies). The Company recorded approximately
$140 million of goodwill associated with the acquisition of SRC representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired (which
includes approximately $82 million of customer list, trademark and non-compete intangible assets).

4. Earnings Per Common Share
A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per common share (“EPS”) is as follows:
2005

2004

2003

Weighted average shares used to compute basic EPS
Dilutive effect of stock options and other
Weighted average shares used to compute diluted EPS

$1,634.5
579.0
25.9
604.9

$1,215.1
605.6
22.2
627.8

$ 933.8
610.7
21.6
632.3

Basic EPS

$

2.82

$

2.01

$

1.53

Diluted EPS

$

2.70

$

1.94

$

1.48

(Millions, except per common share data)

Income from continuing operations

5. Operating Expenses
For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, selling expenses (which include broker commissions, the variable component of the Company’s
internal sales force compensation and premium taxes) and general and administrative expenses were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

$

Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and related benefits
Other general and administrative expenses
Total general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses

843.5

2,153.1
1,362.0
3,515.1
$ 4,358.6

$

2004

2003

700.0

$ 567.4

2,016.5(1)
1,312.3
3,328.8
$ 4,028.8

2,111.0
1,476.1(2)
3,587.1
$4,154.5

(1)

Salaries and related benefits for the year ended December 31, 2004 include a curtailment benefit of $31.8 million related to the elimination of the dental
subsidy for all retirees.

(2)

Other general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 include a charge of $115.4 million in connection with the settlement of
a national class action lawsuit by physicians. Refer to Note 18 for further information.
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6. Health Care Costs Payable
The following table shows the components of the change in health care costs payable for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:
2005

2004

2003

$ 1,927.1
5.6
1,921.5
18.6

$ 1,888.7
6.5
1,882.2
—

$ 2,194.1
6.7
2,187.4
—

(Millions)

Health care costs payable, beginning of the period
Less: Reinsurance recoverables
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period — net
Acquisition of business
Add: Components of incurred health care costs
Current period health care costs
Changes in prior periods’ estimates (1)
Total incurred health care costs
Less: Claims paid
Current period
Prior periods
Total claims paid
Health care costs payable, end of period — net
Add: Reinsurance recoverables
Health care costs payable, end of the period

13,357.6
(249.7) (2)
13,107.9
11,745.8
1,490.7
13,236.5
1,811.5
5.5
$ 1,817.0

11,727.2
(89.5)
11,637.7
10,097.2
1,501.2
11,598.4
1,921.5
5.6
$ 1,927.1

10,363.5
(227.7)
10,135.8
8,806.5
1,634.5
10,441.0

1,882.2
6.5
$ 1,888.7

(1)

Changes in prior periods’ estimates represents the effect of favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates on current year results of
operations, at each financial statement date. The favorable development is primarily a result of the actual claim submission time being shorter than the
Company had anticipated, and lower than expected health care cost trends, in determining health care costs payable at the prior financial statement date.

(2)

Included in the favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates reflected in 2005 is approximately $103 million related to the release of
reserves related to the New York Market Stabilization Pool (refer to Note 18 for additional information).

7. Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
(Millions)

Balance, beginning of the period
Goodwill acquired:
Active Health
HMS
SRC
Other
Balance, end of the period
(1)

2005

2004

$3,687.8

$3,679.5

309.1
290.8
139.8
95.7(1)
$ 4,523.2

—
—
—
8.3

$ 3,687.8

Primarily includes goodwill recorded related to the 2005 acquisitions of certain assets from Magellan and the remaining interest in ASP. Refer to Note 3
for additional information.
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Other acquired intangible assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were comprised of the following:
Accumulated
Cost

(Millions)

Amortization

Net Balance

Amortization
Period (Years)

2005

Other acquired intangible assets:
Customer lists
Provider networks
Technology
Other
Trademarks and tradenames
Total other acquired intangible assets

$ 1,132.4
696.2

$

44.1

29.9
22.3
$1,924.9

937.5
253.2
6.2

$

3.1

—
$

194.9

4-9

443.0

12-25

37.9
26.8
22.3
724.9

3-5
3-12
Indefinite

5-7
20-25
3-5

1,200.0

$

917.5
225.1
—
$ 1,142.6

$

1.5
454.8

$

460.3

2004

Other acquired intangible assets:
Customer lists
Provider networks
Technology
Total other acquired intangible assets

$ 919.0
679.9
4.0

$1,602.9

$

4.0

Annual pretax amortization for other acquired intangible assets over the next five calendar years is estimated to be as follows at December 31, 2005:
(Millions)

$ 82.9
79.7
70.1
61.5
56.1

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

8. Investments
Total investments at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
2005
(Millions)

Debt securities:
Available for use in current
operations
Loaned securities
On deposit, as required by
regulatory authorities
Debt securities
Equity securities
Short-term investments
Mortgage loans
Investment real estate
Other investments
Total investments

Current

$13,216.9(1)
1,115.7
—
14,332.6
34.5(1)
114.8(1)
86.7(2)
7.4(2)
2.7(2)
$ 14,578.7

2004

Long-term

$

—
—
522.4(3)
522.4
26.7(3)
—
1,460.8
207.2
1,113.0(3)

$ 3,330.1

Total

Current

$13,216.9
1,115.7

$ 14,013.6(1)
1,150.1

522.4
14,855.0
61.2
114.8
1,547.5
214.6
1,115.7
$ 17,908.8

—
15,163.7
34.5(1)
194.5(1)
52.7(2)
—
5.0(2)
$ 15,450.4

Total

Long-term

$

—
—

$ 14,013.6
1,150.1

553.4(3)
553.4

553.4
15,717.1
74.7
194.5
1,400.9
274.8
1,129.5
$18,791.5

40.2(3)

—
1,348.2
274.8
1,124.5(3)
$ 3,341.1

(1)

Included in investment securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $13.4 billion and $14.2 billion for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(2)

Included in other investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $96.8 million and $57.7 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(3)

Included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $1.7 billion for each of 2005 and 2004.
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Debt and equity securities available-for-sale (including loaned securities) at December 31, 2005 were as follows:
Amortized
Cost

(Millions)

Bonds:
U.S. government and government agencies and authorities
States, municipalities, and political subdivisions
U.S. corporate securities:
Utilities
Financial
Transportation and capital goods
Health care and consumer products
Natural resources

$ 1,222.6
1,584.1

Gross

Unrealized
Losses

$

$

761.5
2,064.8

Other corporate securities
Total U.S. corporate securities
Foreign:
Government, including political subdivisions
Utilities and other
Total foreign securities
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial and multifamily mortgage-backed securities (1)
Other asset-backed securities
Total bonds
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total debt securities
Equity securities
Total debt and equity securities
(1)

Gross

Unrealized
Gains

22.1
23.1

774.0

40.5
50.8
62.4

769.3
626.2
1,186.1
8,988.6

54.8
94.5
380.6

653.6
1,585.3
2,238.9
1,170.4
1,170.2
542.7
14,110.8
250.7
14,361.5
50.9
$ 14,412.4

7.3

48.9
1.8
597.6
25.3
622.9
10.5
$ 633.4

11.2
9.4

$ 1,233.5
1,597.8

7.6

794.4
2,101.5
831.6
789.0
675.6
1,272.9
9,296.3

14.1
4.8

12.7
5.4
7.7
72.9

32.4

39.8
119.2
159.0

Fair

Value

2.8
10.3

13.1
19.1
15.2
9.1
129.4
—
129.4
.2
$ 129.6

690.6
1,694.2
2,384.8
1,158.6
1,203.9
535.4
14,579.0
276.0
14,855.0
61.2
$14,916.2

Includes approximately $137.4 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31, 2005 from a 1997 commercial mortgage loan
securitization which was retained by the Company.

Debt and equity securities available for sale (including loaned securities) at December 31, 2004 were as follows:
Amortized
Cost

(Millions)

Bonds:
U.S. government and government agencies and authorities
States, municipalities, and political subdivisions
U.S. corporate securities:
Utilities
Financial
Transportation and capital goods
Health care and consumer products
Natural resources

$ 1,355.9
1,403.1

690.6
1,745.1
830.7

1,161.2
688.5
1,244.4

Other corporate securities
Total U.S. corporate securities
Foreign:
Government, including political subdivisions
Utilities and other
Total foreign securities
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial and multifamily mortgage-backed securities (1)
Other asset-backed securities
Total bonds
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total debt securities
Equity securities
Total debt and equity securities
(1)

9,119.5
682.4
1,283.6
1,966.0
1,628.3
1,254.8
587.8
14,556.4
250.9
14,807.3
61.5
$ 14,868.8

Gross

Gross

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

$

32.6
39.8

$

55.3
78.4
86.0
88.3
77.8
147.8
606.0

4.9
2.7
1.1
5.3
.5
3.4

.2
1.0

19.1

40.5

.4

144.0

1.8
2.2

184.5
23.8
95.2
5.2
914.7
34.5
949.2
13.2
$ 962.4

4.4

$

9.2
4.5
39.4
—
39.4
—
39.4

Fair

Value

$ 1,383.6
1,440.2
744.8

1,818.2
916.2
1,246.1
766.1
1,391.2
9,706.4
722.5
1,425.8
2,148.3
1,647.7
1,340.8

588.5
15,431.7
285.4
15,717.1
74.7
$15,791.8

Includes approximately $143.8 million and $70.3 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31, 2004 from a 1997 and 1995,
respectively, commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.
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Net realized capital gains and losses on debt securities supporting the Company’s discontinued products and experience-rated products do not impact the
Company’s results of operations (refer to Note 2 for additional information). As a result, changes in net unrealized capital gains (losses) on these securities are
not reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Debt securities (including loaned securities) supporting discontinued, experience-rated and
remaining products at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

(Millions)

Gross

Gross

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

$ 3,093.3
1,817.9
9,450.3
$14,361.5

$ 269.7
119.7
233.5
$ 622.9

$

20.1
16.8
92.5
$ 129.4

$ 3,342.9
1,920.8
9,591.3
$ 14,855.0

$ 3,358.3
1,907.1
9,541.9
$ 14,807.3

$

$

$ 3,727.3
2,083.9
9,905.9
$15,717.1

Fair

Value

2005

Supporting discontinued products
Supporting experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total available for sale debt securities
2004

Supporting discontinued products
Supporting experience-rated products
Supporting remaining products
Total available for sale debt securities

374.2

181.1
393.9
$ 949.2

5.2
4.3

$

29.9
39.4

The fair value of debt securities as of December 31, 2005 is shown below by contractual maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because securities may be restructured, called or prepaid.
Fair

Value

(Millions)

Due to mature:
One year or less
After one year, through five years
After five years, through ten years
After ten years
Mortgage-backed securities
Other asset-backed securities
Total

$

666.7
2,456.2
3,471.1
5,363.1
2,362.5
535.4
$14,855.0
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As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the amount of gross unrealized losses and related fair value for debt and equity securities were as follows:
Greater than 12 months (1)
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses

Less than 12 months
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Losses

(Millions)

Total
Unrealized
Losses

Fair

Value

2005

Debt securities:
U.S. treasury obligations
States and political subdivisions
Foreign governments
Corporate
Federal agency mortgage-backed
securities
Other
Total debt securities
Equity securities
Total debt and equity securities

$

350.9
623.1
199.5

$

$

3.4

5.8
3.3

54.6

2,330.3

578.5
570.4
4,652.7

10.4

4.1

$4,656.8

$

$

$

11.4
88.9
.2
89.1

213.1
76.5
36.3
387.6

$

5.5
1.9
.8
10.2

291.3
302.5

13.0

1,307.3

40.5

$

9.1

564.0
699.6
235.8
2,717.9

$

8.9
7.7
4.1

64.8

869.8
872.9
5,960.0

19.5
24.4

—
$ 1,307.3

—

4.1

$

40.5

$5,964.1

129.4
.2
$ 129.6

$

$

.1
.2
.1
2.7

$

$

2004

Debt securities:
U.S. treasury obligations
States and political subdivisions
Foreign governments
Corporate
Federal agency mortgage-backed
securities
Other
Total debt securities
Equity securities
Total debt and equity securities
(1)

712.1
164.2
117.6
876.5

5.1
2.1
.7

7.0
8.0

8.2
77.3

10.3

424.7

2.5

612.6
2,907.7
—
$ 2,907.7

8.3

$

85.1
62.3
247.9

29.0
—
29.0

1.8
5.5
10.4

4.3

$

252.2

$

719.1
172.2
125.8
953.8

2.3

.8
13.0

509.8
674.9
3,155.6

—

4.3

10.4

$3,159.9

5.2

4.3

13.8
39.4

—
$

39.4

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, debt and equity securities in an unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months of $7 million and $3 million,
respectively, and related fair value of $186 million and $78 million, respectively, related to discontinued and experience-rated products.

Based on the Company’s evaluation, there has not been an adverse change in the expected cash flows for investments that have been in an unrealized loss
position for greater than twelve months, and therefore no other-than-temporary impairment was determined to have occurred on these investments during 2005
or 2004.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s mortgage loan balances, net of specific impairment reserves, by geographic region and property type were as
follows:

(Millions)

South Atlantic
Middle Atlantic
New England
South Central
North Central
Pacific and Mountain
Non-U.S.
Total

$

2005

2004

373.3
308.7
100.7

$ 414.5

69.1
259.0
436.7
—
$1,547.5

Office

232.4

Retail

60.7
31.8
280.6

Apartment

380.8

.1
$ 1,400.9

2005

2004

578.3
227.9
239.7
25.5
421.6
54.4
.1
$1,547.5

$ 448.6
249.9

(Millions)

Hotel/Motel

Industrial
Mixed Use
Other
Total

$

241.3

28.9
386.3
45.8
.1
$ 1,400.9

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the total recorded investment in mortgage loans that are considered to be impaired (including problem, restructured and
potential problem loans) were $1.9 million and $19.8 million, respectively, with a related specific reserve of $3.5 million at December 31, 2004. The
Company had no specific reserves at December 31, 2005.
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The Company does not have any material relationships with variable interest entities (“VIEs”) which would require consolidation. The Company does have
relationships with certain real estate and hedge fund partnerships that are considered VIEs. However, the Company would not be considered the primary
beneficiary of these investments. The Company records the amount of its investment in these partnerships as investment real estate and other long-term assets
on its Consolidated Balance Sheet and recognizes its share of partnership income or losses in earnings. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result
of its investment in these partnerships is its investment balance at December 31, 2005 and 2004 of approximately $124 million and $153 million,
respectively, and the risk of recapture of tax credits related to the real estate partnerships previously recognized, which the Company does not believe is
significant. The real estate partnerships construct, own and manage low-income housing developments and had total assets of approximately $1.9 billion and
$1.8 billion as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The hedge fund partnerships had total assets of approximately $123 million and $93 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Investment real estate holdings at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

$

Properties held for sale
Investment real estate
Gross carrying value of real estate
Valuation reserve
Investment real estate

7.4
220.7

228.1
(13.5)
$ 214.6

2004

$

—
285.8
285.8
(11.0)

$ 274.8

Accumulated depreciation for investment real estate was $15 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
Total real estate write-downs included in the net carrying value of the Company’s real estate holdings at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $9 million and
$12 million, respectively.
Sources of net investment income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

$ 838.2
136.8
166.2
1,141.2

Debt securities
Mortgage loans
Other
Gross investment income
Less: Investment expenses
Net investment income (1)
(1)

(38.2)

$ 1,103.0

2003

2004

$

872.4
133.2
95.4
1,101.0
(38.5)
$1,062.5

$ 855.0
129.5
160.5
1,145.0
(50.0)

$1,095.0

Includes amounts related to experience-rated contract holders of $143.6 million, $156.4 million and $167.5 million during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Interest credited to contract holders is included in current and future benefits in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

9. Capital Gains and Losses on Investments and Other
Net realized capital gains (losses) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, excluding amounts related to experience-rated contract holders and
discontinued products, on investments were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

$

Debt securities
Equity securities
Other
Pretax net realized capital gains

$
$

After tax net realized capital gains
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$

32.3

$
$

21.1

2003

2004

15.8
.8
15.7

57.0

$

13.0

.8
70.8

45.9

$
$

81.7
(.5)
(16.0)
65.2
42.0

Net realized capital gains of $5 million, $13 million and $45 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to experience-rated contract holders were
deducted from net realized capital gains and an offsetting amount was reflected in policyholders’ funds. Net realized capital gains of $22 million, $38 million
and $111 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to discontinued products were deducted from net realized
capital gains and an offsetting amount was reflected in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products.
Proceeds from the sale of debt securities and the related gross realized capital gains and losses were as follows (excludes experience-rated contract holders and
discontinued products):
2005

2004

2003

$ 10,324.9
66.5
53.8

$9,269.4
101.5

$ 12,328.0
139.2
53.5

(Millions)

Proceeds on sales
Gross realized capital gains
Gross realized capital losses

44.0

10. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Shareholders’ equity included the following activity in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (excluding amounts related to experience-rated contract
holders and discontinued products) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
Net Unrealized Gains (Losses)
Foreign
(Millions)

Balance at December 31, 2002
Net unrealized gains on securities ($35.7 pretax)
Net foreign currency gains ($6.7 pretax)
Net derivative gains ($.5 pretax)
Pension liability adjustment ($79.6 pretax)
Reclassification to earnings ($(26.5) pretax)

Currency

Securities

Pension

Derivatives

$ (2.7)

Liability

$ 282.0
23.2

$ 5.5

$(755.2)

-

-

-

23.2

-

4.3

-

-

-

-

.3

-

4.3
.3

-

-

-

51.8

(17.6)

-

.4

-

Balance at December 31, 2003
Net unrealized losses on securities ($(40.0) pretax)
Net foreign currency gains ($2.4 pretax)
Net derivative gains ($1.2 pretax)
Pension liability adjustment ($(145.0) pretax)
Reclassification to earnings ($(23.9) pretax)

287.6
(26.0)

9.8

Balance at December 31, 2004
Net unrealized losses on securities ($(223.9)
pretax)
Net foreign currency gains ($1.1 pretax)
Net derivative losses ($(4.0) pretax)
Pension liability adjustment ($1,127.7 pretax)
Reclassification to earnings ($9.6 pretax)

Balance at December 31, 2005

Total Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Minimum

(2.0)
-

-

-

1.5

-

-

-

-

.8

-

-

-

(15.9)

-

.4

245.7
(145.5)

11.3

-

.7

-

-

(.8)

(26.0)
1.5
.8
(94.3)
(15.5)

-

(797.7)
-

-

-

(2.6)

(408.0)

(94.3)

-

(470.4)

51.8
(17.2)

(703.4)

-

-

$

(541.5)
(145.5)
.7
(2.6)

-

-

-

-

733.0

733.0

3.9

-

2.3

-

6.2

$ 104.1

$ 12.0
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$ (1.1)

$ (64.7)

$

50.3

11. Income Taxes
Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following:
(Millions)

Current taxes:
Federal
State
Total current taxes
Deferred taxes (benefits):
Federal
State
Total deferred income taxes
Total income taxes

$

2005

2004

2003

674.4
52.1
726.5

$ 450.7
39.5
490.2

$ 352.4
44.6
397.0

187.5

206.2
(12.6)
193.6
$ 683.8

94.6
16.2
110.8
$ 507.8

(1.1)

186.4
$ 912.9

Income taxes were different from the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate to income before income taxes as follows:
2005

(Millions)

$2,547.4
35%
891.6

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Tax rate
Application of the tax rate
Tax effect of:
State income taxes
Tax credits
Tax-exempt interest
Other, net
Income taxes

38.0

(27.1)
(13.4)
23.8
$ 912.9

2003

2004

$1,898.9
35%
664.6

$

26.4
(21.8)
(11.5)
26.1
683.8

$1,441.6
35%
504.6
33.1

(22.5)
(10.1)
2.7
$ 507.8

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:
(Millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Employee and post-retirement benefits (including minimum pension liability)
Deferred income
Deferred policy costs
Investments, net
Net operating loss carry forwards
Insurance reserves
Physician class action settlement
Other
Total gross assets
Less: Valuation allowance
Assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill and other acquired intangible assets
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Depreciation and amortization
Employee and post-retirement benefits
Physician class action settlement
Other
Total gross liabilities
Net deferred tax (liability) asset (1)
(1)

2005

2004

$ 219.1
—

$ 199.6
278.8
22.1

23.3

49.2
97.6
28.2
66.2
—
65.4
549.0
15.7

44.3

98.8
35.1
60.4
30.2

533.3

51.9
821.2
32.8
788.4

166.8
61.9
101.9
205.3
22.6

81.5
137.9
70.6
—
—

.3

558.8
$ (25.5)

2.4

292.4
$ 496.0

Includes ($10.4) million and $196.0 million classified as current (liabilities) assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and ($15.1) million
and $300.0 million classified as noncurrent (liabilities) assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance has been established on certain
acquired net operating losses and state net operating losses, which are subject to limitations as to future utilization. The Company has recognized $92 million
of net deferred tax assets on Aetna Life Insurance Company (which was not consolidated for tax purposes in 2005 or 2004) and $118 million of net deferred
tax liabilities on the remaining consolidated group. Management’s views on the future realization of deferred tax assets are based on historic and anticipated
taxable income for each group. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of taxable income
are revised.

The Policyholders’ Surplus Account, which arose under prior tax law, is generally that portion of a life insurance company’s statutory income that has not
been subject to taxation. As of December 31, 1983, no further additions could be made to the Policyholders’ Surplus Account for tax return purposes under the
Deficit Reduction Act of 1984. The balance in such account was $374 million at December 31, 2005, adjusted for Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) audits
finalized to date. This amount would be taxed only under certain conditions. On October 11, 2004 the President signed into law the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (the “Job Act”) which suspends taxation of the Policyholders’ Surplus Account for a two year period. The Job Act allows the Company to reduce the
Policyholders’ Surplus Account in 2005 and 2006 at no tax cost. Management believes that its current capital plans will result in elimination of the potential
tax on Policyholders’ Surplus Account by the end of the suspension period.
In 2004, the IRS completed the audit of Aetna’s former parent company’s 1984 through 2000 (prior to December 13, 2000) tax returns and the Company’s 2000
(subsequent to December 13, 2000) through 2001 tax returns. In conjunction with the completion of these audits, the Company was notified that the
Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation (the “Joint Committee”) approved a tax refund of approximately $740 million, including interest, relating to
businesses that were sold in the 1990s by Aetna’s former parent company. Also in 2004, the Company filed for, and was approved for, a $35 million tax
refund related to businesses that were sold by Aetna’s former parent company. As a result of the resolution of these audits, the Company recorded favorable
adjustments of approximately $255 million to existing tax liabilities for a total of $1.03 billion of income from discontinued operations in 2004. The Company
received approximately $666 million of the tax refunds during 2004, $69 million during 2005, and the remainder in February 2006 (refer to Note 21).

In 2004, the IRS commenced an audit of the Company’s 2002 through 2003 returns and a limited examination of the Company’s 2001 life insurance
subsidiary return. In 2005 the IRS completed these audits and the Company agreed to the final audit results. The Company had established adequate reserves
for the additional taxes and interest that resulted from these recently completed audits.

The Company paid (received refunds of) net income taxes of $247 million, $(331) million and $488 million in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Income taxes were reduced as a result of deductions of approximately $203 million, $190 million and $76 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, due to employee exercises of stock options.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans — The Company sponsors various noncontributory defined benefit plans, including two pension plans that cover
substantially all employees and other post-retirement plans (“OPEB”) that provide certain health care, dental and life insurance benefits for retired employees,
including those of Aetna’s former parent company.
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The Company provides for certain of its employees a noncontributory, defined benefit pension benefit under two plans, the Aetna Pension Plan, a tax-qualified
pension plan, and the Supplemental Pension Plan, which provides benefits for wages above the Internal Revenue Code wage limits applicable to tax qualified
pension plans. The pension benefits accrued by employees are based on formulas which are dependant on the employee’s effective date of hire. Employees
hired or rehired after December 31, 1998 accrue benefits based on a cash balance formula, which credits employees annually with an amount equal to eligible
pay based on age and years of service, as well as an interest credit based on individual account balances. Employees hired before December 31, 1998 accrue
benefits using the greater of a final average pay formula or the Company’s cash balance formula, until December 31, 2006.

Effective January 1, 2007, all pension plan participants will accrue future benefits under the same cash balance formula. In addition, as of January 1, 2007,
no new benefits will accrue under the Supplemental Pension Plan. Participants will continue to participate in the Aetna Pension Plan, up to the applicable wage
limits each year.
In addition, the Company currently provides certain medical care, dental and life insurance benefits for retired employees, including those of Aetna’s former
parent company. A comprehensive medical plan is offered to all full-time employees who terminate employment at age 45 or later with at least five years of
service. The Company provides subsidized health benefits to certain employees as of December 31, 2002 whose sum of age and service is at least equal to 65
(due to a plan amendment, employees hired after January 1, 2002 and all employees under the age of 35 at that date are not eligible for subsidized retiree health
benefits). There is a cap on the portion of the cost paid by the Company relating to medical and dental benefits. The plan assets are held in trust, administered
by an affiliated company, Aetna Life Insurance Company.
In January 2003, the Company amended its post-retirement medical and dental plans. Beginning January 1, 2004, the Company began phasing-out the retiree
medical subsidy for active employees (and eligible dependents) who terminate employment after December 31, 2004. The subsidy will decrease 25% each year
until it is eliminated for employees terminating employment on or after January 1, 2007. The 2003 amendment also included the elimination of the retiree dental
subsidy for active employees who terminate employment on or after January 1, 2003. As a result of the 2003 amendment, the Company recorded a curtailment
benefit of approximately $34 million pretax in 2003. In January 2004, the Company made an additional plan amendment to eliminate the dental subsidy for all
retirees. As a result of the 2004 amendment, the Company recorded a curtailment benefit of approximately $32 million pretax in 2004. All current and future
retirees and employees who terminate employment at age 45 or later with at least 5 years of service are eligible to participate in the Company’s group health
plans at their own cost.
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”) was signed into law. The Medicare
Act expands Medicare, primarily by adding a voluntary prescription drug benefit for Medicare eligible individuals beginning in 2006. The Medicare Act
provides employers currently sponsoring prescription drug programs for Medicare-eligible individuals with a range of options for coordinating with the new
Medicare prescription drug program that can potentially reduce employer program cost. These options include: (1) supplementing the Medicare program on a
secondary payer basis; (2) accepting a direct subsidy from the federal government to support a portion of the cost of the employer’s program; and (3) direct
contracting with a Medicare Prescription Drug Plan (“PDP”) to provide prescription drug benefits to the employer’s Medicare-eligible retirees.

In 2004, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003 (“FSP 106-2”), which required employers to recognize the potential savings from the direct federal subsidy if their plans were
expected to qualify for the subsidy. At the time of adoption of this FSP, the Company’s post-retirement medical plan was expected to qualify for the direct
federal subsidy. Adoption of FSP 106-2 in 2004 resulted in a reduction in the Company’s accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation of approximately $23
million.
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In 2005, the Company elected to pursue a direct contracting strategy with a PDP beginning in 2006 rather than file for the direct federal subsidy, consistent
with its strategy of offering a PDP as part of its overall product offerings to consumers. The loss of the previously recognized savings from the federal subsidy
was offset by the prescription drug cost savings due to the direct contracting strategy and pursuant to FSP 106-2, the net impact was accounted for as a
negative prior service cost in 2005.
The Company uses a September 30 measurement date for determining benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets of its pension and OPEB plans.
The following table shows the changes in the benefit obligations during 2005 and 2004 for the pension and OPEB plans. For the pension plans, the benefit
obligation is the projected benefit obligation. For the OPEB plans, the benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation.
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

(Millions)

$4,699.7
92.7
273.9

Benefit obligation, beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/other
Plan amendments/other
Curtailment benefit
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation, end of year

240.1

—
—
(262.0)
$ 5,044.4

2004

$ 4,302.9
75.9
261.4
328.5
—
—
(269.0)
$4,699.7

2005

2004

$ 494.6

$ 477.8

.4

.4

28.2
16.9

24.7

79.6

(13.8)

—
(49.9)
$ 476.4

(10.7)
(30.7)

(46.5)
$ 494.6

For 2005 and 2004, the Company’s pension plans had accumulated benefit obligations of approximately $5.0 billion and $4.6 billion, respectively.
The weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations of the pension and OPEB plans as of the Company’s measurement date
(September 30) for 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

2004

5.77%
4.51

Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels

2005

2004

5.59%
—

6.00%
3.00

6.00%

—

The discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation of Company’s pension and OPEB plans at September 30, 2005 were calculated using a yield curve
as of that date (the discount rate used at September 30, 2004 was set by benchmarking against investment grade corporate bonds). The yield curve consisted of
a series of individual discount rates, with each discount rate corresponding to a single point-in-time, based on high quality bonds. Projected benefit payments
are discounted to the measurement date using the corresponding rate from the yield curve. The discount rates for 2005 differ for the Company’s pension and
OPEB plans due to the nature of projected benefit payments for each plan.

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets during 2005 and 2004 for the pension and OPEB plans:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

(Millions)

$ 4,221.2
597.6
264.9
(262.0)
$ 4,821.7

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year
Actual return of plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets, end of year
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2004

2005

$ 3,494.5

$

421.4
574.3
(269.0)
$ 4,221.2

2.7
47.9
(49.9)
$ 70.9

70.2

2004

$

69.0
3.4
44.3

$

(46.5)
70.2

The funded status of the plans is calculated as the difference between the benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. The funded status as of the
Company’s measurement date (September 30), as well as the amounts not yet recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and
2004 for the pension and OPEB plans were as follows:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

(Millions)

2004

$ (222.7)
1,228.2
27.7

Funded status at September 30
Unrecognized net losses
Unrecognized prior service cost
Net amount recognized at September 30
Contributions made in the fourth quarter
Net amount recognized at December 31

2005

$ (478.5)
1,290.0
30.7

842.2
4.7
$ 846.9

1,033.2

5.8
$ 1,039.0

2004

$ (405.5)
157.6
(32.0)
(279.9)

$ (424.4)
144.8

(19.6)
(299.2)
13.2
$ (286.0)

13.4

$ (266.5)

The net amount recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 for the pension and OPEB plans were comprised of the
following:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

(Millions)

2004

$1,199.6
(260.1)
—
99.5
$ 1,039.0

Prepaid pension asset (1)
Accrued benefit liabilities (2)
Intangible asset
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized
(1)

Included in other long-term assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(2)

Included in other long-term liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

$

2005

—

2004

$

—
(266.5)
—
—
$ (266.5)

(413.5)
33.3

1,227.1
$ 846.9

$

—
(286.0)
—
—
$ (286.0)

Components of the net periodic benefit cost (income) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the pension and OPEB plans were as follows:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

(Millions)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial loss
Net periodic benefit cost before curtailment
benefit
Curtailment benefit
Net periodic benefit cost (income)

$

92.7
273.9

$

75.9
261.4

(370.2)

(310.6)

5.3
74.5

5.6
64.2

76.2

96.5
—
96.5

(2.3)(1)

$

73.9

2003

2004

$

$

74.8

2005

$

258.5
(255.4)
4.6
76.0
158.5
—
$ 158.5

.4

28.2

$

2003

2004

$

$

.4

.3

28.2

24.7

(4.5)

(4.4)

(4.7)

(1.3)

(1.3)

5.8

2.5

(.6)
.2

28.6
—
28.6

$

21.9

23.4

(31.8)(2)

(34.0)(3)

(9.9)

$

(10.6)

(1)

Reflects a plan amendment eliminating the accrual of new benefits under the Supplemental Pension Plan, as discussed above.

(2)

Reflects a plan amendment eliminating the dental subsidy for all retirees, as discussed above.

(3)

Reflects plan amendments related to the phase-out of the retiree medical subsidy for certain employees and elimination of the retiree dental subsidy for
certain employees, as discussed above.

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost (income) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the pension
and OPEB plans were as follows:
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans
2005

Discount rate
Expected long-term return on plan assets
Rate of increase in future compensation
levels

6.00%

8.75
3.00

2004

2003

6.25%
8.75

6.75%
9.00

3.25

3.75
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2005

6.00%

6.50
—

2004

2003

6.25%
6.50

6.75%

—

—

7.00

The Company assumes different health care cost trend rates for medical costs and prescription drug costs in estimating the expected costs of its OPEB plans.
The assumed medical cost trend rate for 2006 is 9%, decreasing gradually to 5% by 2010. The assumed prescription drug cost trend rate for 2006 is 14%,
decreasing gradually to 5% by 2015. These assumptions reflect the Company’s historical as well as expected future trends for its retirees. In addition, the
trend assumptions reflect factors specific to the Company’s retiree medical plan, such as plan design, cost-sharing provisions, benefits covered and the
presence of subsidy caps. An increase in the health care cost trend rate of one percentage point would increase the post-retirement benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2005 by approximately $15 million and would increase service and interest costs by approximately $1 million. Conversely, a decrease in the
assumed health care cost trend rate of one percentage point would decrease the post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2005 by approximately
$14 million and would decrease service and interest costs by approximately $1 million.
The asset allocation of the pension and OPEB plans as of the measurement date (September 30) and the target asset allocation, presented as a percentage of the
total plan assets, were as follows :
OPEB Plans

Pension Plans

Target
(Millions)

2005

2004

Real estate/other

68%
25
7

67%
26
7

Total

100%

100%

Equity securities
Debt securities

Allocation

Target
2005

60-70%

10%

20-30

87

5-15

2004

12%
85

3

3

100%

100%

Allocation

5-15%
80-90
2-10

The Company’s pension plans invest in a diversified mix of traditional asset classes. Investments in U.S. and international equity securities, fixed income
securities, real estate and cash are intended to maximize long-term returns while recognizing the need for adequate liquidity to meet on-going benefit and
administrative obligations. Risk tolerance of unexpected investment and actuarial outcomes is continually evaluated by understanding the pension plan’s
liability characteristics. This evaluation is performed through forecasting and assessing ranges of investment outcomes over short and long-term horizons, and
by assessing the Company’s financial condition and its future potential obligations from both the pension and general corporate requirements. Complementary
investment styles, such as growth and value equity investing techniques, are utilized by multiple investment advisors to further improve portfolio and
operational risk characteristics. Equity investments, both active and passively managed, are used primarily to increase overall plan returns. Real estate
investments are viewed favorably for their diversification benefits and above-average dividend generation. Fixed income investments provide diversification
benefits and liability hedging attributes that are desirable, especially in falling interest rate environments.
Asset allocations and investment performance are formally reviewed quarterly by the plan’s Benefit Finance Committee. Forecasting of asset and liability
growth is performed at least annually. More thorough analysis of assets and liabilities are also performed periodically.

The Company has several benefit plans for retired employees currently supported by the OPEB plan assets. OPEB plan assets are directly and indirectly
invested in a diversified mix of traditional asset classes, primarily high-quality fixed income securities.
The expected long-term rate of return is estimated based on many factors including the expected forecast for inflation, risk premiums for each asset class,
expected asset allocation, current and future financial market conditions, and diversification and rebalancing strategies. Historical return patterns and
correlations, consensus return forecasts and other relevant financial factors are analyzed to check for reasonability and appropriateness.

The Company’s current funding strategy is to fund an amount at least equal to the minimum funding requirement as determined under applicable regulatory
requirements with consideration of factors such as the maximum tax deductibility of such amounts. The Company may elect to voluntarily contribute
amounts to its tax-qualified pension plan. The Company does not have any regulatory contribution requirements for 2006; however, the Company made a
voluntary contribution of $180 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in January 2006 and intends to make an additional $65 million contribution in 2006.
Employer contributions related to the Supplemental Pension Plan and OPEB plans represent payments to retirees for current benefits.
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Expected benefit payments, which reflect future employee service, as appropriate, of the pension and OPEB plans to be paid for each of the next five years and
in the aggregate for the next five years thereafter, as of December 31, 2005 were as follows:
(Millions)

Pension Plans

OPEB Plans

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011-2015

$

$

274.6
285.3
291.9
298.2
397.9
1,723.0

45.7
43.6
39.9
39.1
38.3

172.6

401(k) Plan – Substantially all of the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in a defined contribution retirement savings plan under which
designated contributions, which may be invested in common stock of the Company or certain other investments, are matched by the Company. The Company
provides for a match of up to 50% of the first 6% of eligible pay contributed to the plan. The matching contributions are made in cash and invested according
to each participant’s investment elections. The costs to the Company in 2005, 2004 and 2003 associated with this plan, including a performance-based
contribution made in 2003, were $36 million, $33 million and $75 million, respectively. The plan trustee held 14.5 million shares of the Company’s common
stock for plan participants at December 31, 2005.

Employee Incentive Plans

Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans — The Company’s Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans (the “Plans”) provide for stock option awards, deferred
contingent common stock and the ability for employees to purchase common stock at a discount. At December 31, 2005, 68.0 million shares were available
for grant under the Plans. In 2006, the Company granted stock appreciation rights as well as restricted stock units to certain employees (refer to Note 14 for
additional information).

Stock Options — Executive, middle management and non-management employees may be granted options to purchase common stock of the Company at or
above the market price on the date of grant. Options generally become 100% vested three years after the grant is made, with one-third of the options vesting each
year. From time to time, the Company has issued options with different vesting provisions (refer to Note 14). Vested options may be exercised at any time
during the 10 years after grant, except in certain circumstances, generally related to employment termination or retirement. At the end of the 10-year period, any
unexercised options expire.

The Company’s stock option transactions for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
2005

(Number of shares in millions)

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired or forfeited
Outstanding, end of year
Options exercisable, end of year

Number of
Shares

67.2
8.8
(21.5)
(1.1)
53.4
42.7

2003

2004

Weighted

Weighted

Average

Average

Exercise
Price

$ 11.21
33.61
11.34
14.49
$ 14.80
$ 12.76
Page 70

Number of
Shares

91.3
15.2
(37.6)
(1.7)
67.2
50.6

Exercise
Price

$

8.74
19.47
8.45
13.61
$ 11.21
$ 11.50

Weighted

Average
Number of
Shares

113.1
21.2
(38.4)
(4.6)
91.3
60.0

Exercise
Price

$

8.14
10.61
7.90
9.56
$ 8.74
$ 8.10

The following is a summary of information regarding options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2005 (Number of options in millions):
Options Outstanding
Options Exercisable
Weighted

Weighted

Range of Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding

$4.53 - $9.06
9.06 - 13.59
13.59 - 18.12
18.12 - 22.65
22.65 - 27.18
27.18 - 31.71
31.71 - 36.24

17.5
17.8

36.24 - 40.77
40.77 - 45.30
$4.53 - $45.30

.2
.1
53.4

.3

9.3
.1
.1
8.0

Average

Weighted

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Average

4.8

5.7
7.6
7.7
8.4

9.0
8.7
9.4
9.6
6.2

$

Average

Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

7.68
10.45
15.39
19.47

17.5
13.1
.1
9.2
—
—
2.8
—
—
42.7

23.43
30.50
33.38
38.60
42.08
$ 14.80

Exercise
Price

$

7.68
10.44

15.36
19.46
23.68
27.54
33.38

36.84
—
$ 12.76

Performance Units – During 2005 and 2004, the Company granted performance unit awards to certain executives as part of a long-term incentive program.
The value of the performance units is equal to $100. The performance units granted in 2004 vested on December 31, 2005 and the performance units granted
in 2005 will vest on December 31, 2006. The number of vested performance units at December 31, 2005 and 2006 is dependent upon the degree to which the
Company achieves performance goals as determined by the Board’s Committee on Compensation and Organization (the “Compensation Committee”). If
certain defined performance metrics are achieved, the vesting could go as high as 260% for the 2005 grants. In January 2006, the Compensation Committee
determined that the 2004 grants vested at 158.7% of target.

During 2002, the Company granted performance stock units to certain executives. The value of the performance stock units were equal to the Company’s
stock price, although the units were not actual shares of stock and did not pay dividends (but were payable in shares of stock or cash, except as discussed
below). The performance stock units were granted with the ability to vest as early as December 31, 2003 (“accelerated vesting”) if the Company met or
exceeded performance goals set by the Board. The determination of whether or not performance goals were achieved was made by the Compensation
Committee. The number of vested performance stock units was dependent upon the degree to which the Company achieved the performance goals. The vesting
could go as high as 200% if operating earnings, as defined, were 25% above performance goals. In 2003, the Compensation Committee determined that
accelerated vesting at 200% of target applied to these grants as the Company exceeded performance goals set by the Board. Accordingly, the Company
recognized all remaining compensation expense associated with these grants in 2003. Distributions to participants occurred after approval by the Compensation
Committee in the first quarter of 2004.
The Company’s performance and incentive unit transactions for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
Number of Incentive Units
(Millions)

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Vested
Expired or forfeited
Outstanding, end of year

2005

2004

2003

.2

—
.2
—
—
.2

1.9
—
(1.9)
—
—

.3
(.2)
(.1)

.2

The costs to the Company associated with the Company’s performance and incentive units for 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $43 million, $17 million and
$60 million, respectively.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan — The Company’s shareholders approved the Aetna Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) at the Company’s
Annual Meeting on April 26, 2002. At December 31, 2005, 23.3 million of the Company’s common shares were reserved for issuance in accordance with the
ESPP’s provisions. All employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the ESPP if employed immediately prior to the first day of the offering period.
Employees may contribute a percentage of their base salary through payroll deductions. Contributions are accumulated for a six-month period and used to
purchase stock at the end of the offering period (the “Purchase Date”). On the Purchase Date, stock is purchased for all participating employees based on the
contributions accumulated (subject to a $25,000 annual limit per employee). For all accumulation periods except the one commencing on December 19, 2005,
the purchase price of the stock was based on a ten percent discount of the lesser of the stock price at the beginning or the end of the offering period. On
December 19, 2005, another six-month accumulation period commenced. This accumulation period ends June 16, 2006, and the purchase price for this
offering is at a 5% discount of the stock’s fair market value on June 16, 2006. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, activity in the ESPP was as follows (in millions,
except per share purchase price):
Approximate
Number of
Shares Purchased

Six-month Accumulation Period (Offering Period)

January 3, 2003 to June 20, 2003
July 3, 2003 to December 19, 2003
January 2, 2004 to June 18, 2004
June 21, 2004 to December 17, 2004
December 20, 2004 to June 17, 2005
June 20, 2005 to December 16, 2005
(1)

.4
.4
.4
.3
.3
.3

Per Share
Purchase
Price (1)

$

9.53
13.94
15.23
18.89
27.80
38.29

The purchase price of the stock is based on the lesser of the fair market value of the stock price at the beginning or end of the offering period, reduced
by the discount offered. The shares were purchased at the end of the offering period.

13. Debt
The carrying value of long-term debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
2005

(Millions)

Senior notes, 7.375%, due 2006
Senior notes, 7.875%, due 2011
Senior notes, 8.50%, due 2041
Total long-term debt
Less current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, less current portion
(1)

$

450.0
448.1

707.6
1,605.7
(450.0)

(1)

$1,155.7

2004

$

449.6

447.7
712.4
1,609.7
—
$1,609.7

At December 31, 2005, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. The 7.375% senior notes due March 2006 have been classified as current in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005.

In February 2001, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission to sell debt securities, from time to time, up
to a total of $2 billion, with the amount, price and terms to be determined at the time of the sale. In March 2001, the Company issued $900 million of senior
notes under this shelf registration statement consisting of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006 and $450 million of 7.875% senior notes due in
2011. In June 2001, the Company issued, under this shelf registration statement, an additional $700 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041.

In December 2005, the Company filed a new shelf registration statement to sell debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, purchase contracts, warrants
to purchase common stock or warrants to purchase debt securities, or units that may include any of these securities or securities of other entities. Specific
terms of these securities will be provided in prospectus supplements. This registration statement replaced the February 2001 shelf registration statement which
was not fully utilized. The Company has not yet issued any securities under this shelf registration statement. The Company may publicly offer securities
from time to time at prices and terms to be determined at the time of offering.
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During 2005, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. The Company’s short-term borrowing capacity consisted of an $800 million credit facility
which was scheduled to terminate in November 2009. The credit facility also provided for the issuance of letters of credit at the Company’s request, up to
$150 million, which counted as usage of the available commitments under the facility. The credit facility permitted the aggregate commitments under the
facility to be expanded to a maximum of $1 billion upon the agreement of the Company and one or more financial institutions. Various interest rate options
were available under the facility. Any revolving borrowings matured on the termination date of the credit facility. The Company paid facility fees on the facility
ranging from .08% to .225% per annum, depending upon its long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee at December 31, 2005 was at an annual
rate of .11%.
On January 20, 2006, the Company entered into an amended and restated unsecured $1 billion, five-year revolving credit agreement (the “new credit facility”)
superceding the above mentioned previously existing credit facility. The new credit facility also provides letters of credit at the Company’s request, up to
$150 million, which count as usage of the available commitments under the facility. The new credit facility permits the aggregate commitments under the
facility to be expanded to a maximum of $1.35 billion upon the Company’s agreement with one or more financial institutions. Various interest rate options are
available under the new credit facility. Any revolving borrowings mature on the termination date of the new credit facility. The Company pays facility fees on
the new credit facility ranging from .05% to .175% per annum, depending upon the Company’s long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The new credit facility
contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain its ratio of total debt to consolidated capitalization as of the end of each fiscal quarter
ending on or after December 31, 2005 at or below .4 to 1.0. For this purpose, consolidated capitalization equals the sum of shareholders’ equity, excluding any
minimum pension liability adjustment and any net unrealized capital gains and losses, and total debt (as defined in the facility). The Company met this
requirement at December 31, 2005.

Total interest paid by the Company was $121 million in 2005 and $104 million in each of 2004 and 2003.
In January 2006, certain subsidiaries of the Company entered in a one-year $45 million variable funding credit program with a bank to provide short-term
liquidity to those subsidiaries. Any borrowings under this program will be secured by certain assets of those subsidiaries.

14. Capital Stock
On February 10, 2006, the Compensation Committee approved a grant of approximately 5.0 million shares of stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) as well as
approximately .6 million restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain employees. The SARs will be settled in stock, net of taxes, based on the appreciation in the
Company’s stock price over $50.21 per share. The SARs will become 100% vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of the SARs vesting each
year, although 1.0 million of the SARs will vest over a one-year period. For each RSU granted, employees receive one share of common stock at the end of the
vesting period. The RSUs will become 100% vested three years from the grant date. On February 11, 2005, the Compensation Committee granted
approximately 8.0 million stock options to employees to purchase common shares of the Company at $33.38 per share. The February 11, 2005 grants will
become 100% vested three years from the grant date (one-third of the options vesting on June 30, 2005 and the remaining grants will vest on the second and
third anniversaries of the grant date). On January 30, 2004, the Compensation Committee approved a grant to employees of approximately 14.4 million stock
options to purchase common shares of the Company at $19.38 per share. The January 30, 2004 grants vested December 31, 2004. On February 27, 2003, the
Compensation Committee approved a grant to employees of approximately 20.0 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at $10.47
per share. The February 27, 2003 grants will become 100% vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of the options vesting each year. During
2005, the Company issued approximately 22.3 million shares of common stock for benefit plans, predominately related to stock option exercises.

On September 29, 2005, the Board declared an annual cash dividend of $.02 per common share to shareholders of record at the close of business on
November 16, 2005. The $11 million dividend was paid on November 30, 2005.
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From time to time, the Board authorizes the Company to repurchase its common stock. The activity in Board authorized share repurchase programs for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
Shares Purchased

2003

(Millions)

Authorization date:
June 28, 2002
June 27, 2003
December 5, 2003 (1)
April 30, 2004
September 24, 2004
February 25, 2005
September 29, 2005
Total repurchases

Number of
Shares
Authorized

Purchase
Not to
Exceed

20.0

$ 250.0

30.0
40.0

500.0
750.0
750.0
750.0
750.0
750.0

N/A(2)
N/A(2)
N/A(2)
N/A(2)

Repurchase authorization remaining as of December 31,

2004

Shares

Cost

Shares

13.2
17.0

$ 189.0
249.2

—
—
34.0
30.4

.4

7.0

—
—
—
—
30.6

—
—
—
—
$ 445.2

39.6

$

743.0

2005

$

Cost

Shares

—
—

—
—
—
—

Cost

—
—
—
64.4

750.0
—
—
—
$ 1,493.0

17.8
3.6
41.8

—
—
—
—
750.0
750.0
169.1
$1,669.1(3)

N/A(2)

$ 750.0

N/A(2)

$

743.0

(1)

The December 5, 2003 Board authorization replaced the June 27, 2003 authorization.

(2)

The 2004 and 2005 Board authorizations do not limit the number of shares of common stock that may be repurchased.

(3)

Approximately $19 million of the 2005 repurchases were settled in early January 2006.

20.4

$

580.9

On January 27, 2006, the Company’s Board authorized an additional $750 million share repurchase program which will commence upon completion of the
September 29, 2005 authorization.
In connection with the stock splits described in Note 1, the Board approved two amendments to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. The amendments
increased the number of authorized common shares of the Company to 1.5 billion shares effective March 11, 2005 and again to 2.9 billion effective
February 17, 2006. These increases are in the same proportion that the shares distributed in the stock dividend increased the number of issued common
shares.

In addition to the capital stock disclosed on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, Aetna has authorized 7.6 million shares of Class A voting preferred stock, $.01
par value per share. At December 31, 2005, there were also 104.8 million undesignated shares that the Board has the power to divide into such classes and
series, with such voting rights, designations, preferences, limitations and special rights as the Board determines. At December 31, 2005, 98.6 million
common shares of Aetna were reserved for issuance under its stock option plans and 34.2 million common shares were reserved for issuance under its 401(k)
plan.
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15. Financial Instruments

Estimated Fair Value
The carrying values and estimated fair values of certain of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
2005

Carrying
Value

(Millions)

Assets:
Debt securities
Equity securities
Mortgage loans
Derivatives
Liabilities:
Investment contract liabilities:
With a fixed maturity
Without a fixed maturity
Derivatives
Long-term debt

2004

Estimated
Fair

Estimated
Fair

Value

Carrying
Value

$14,885.0
61.2
1,547.5
3.9

$14,885.0
61.2
1,599.9
6.3

$15,717.1
74.7
1,400.9
23.2

$15,717.1
74.7
1,464.4
24.1

93.2
696.4
.7
1,605.7

95.1
579.0

128.6
667.2

127.0
606.7

Value

3.0

4.1

4.1

1,674.4

1,609.7

1,743.9

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on available market information and judgments about a given financial instrument, such as
estimates of timing and amount of future cash flows. Such estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time
the Company’s entire holdings of a particular financial instrument, and do not consider the tax impact of the realization of unrealized capital gains or losses. In
many cases, the fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets, and the disclosed value cannot be realized upon
immediate settlement of the instrument. In evaluating the Company’s management of interest rate, price and liquidity risks, the fair values of all financial
instruments are taken into consideration.

The following valuation methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments included in the table
above:

Debt and equity securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third
party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. Cost
for mortgage-backed securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the interest method over the estimated
remaining term of the securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments and any collateral shortfall issues.

Mortgage loans: Fair values are estimated by discounting expected mortgage loan cash flows at market rates that reflect the rates at which similar loans would
be made to similar borrowers. These rates reflect management’s assessment of the credit quality and the remaining duration of the loans. The fair value
estimates of mortgage loans of lower credit quality, including problem and restructured loans, are based on the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral.

Derivatives: Fair values are estimated based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes.
Investment contract liabilities:
• With a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows at interest rates currently being offered by, or available to, the Company for
similar contracts.
• Without a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated as the amount payable to the contract holder upon demand. However, the Company has the right under
such contracts to delay payment of withdrawals that may ultimately result in paying an amount different than that determined to be payable on demand.
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Long-term debt : Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issued debt or, if no quoted market prices were available, on the
current rates estimated to be available to the Company for debt of similar terms and remaining maturities.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company is using interest rate swap agreements to manage certain exposures related to changes in interest rates on investments supporting experience-rated
and discontinued products in the Large Case Pensions business. The use of these derivatives does not impact the Company’s results of operations.

During 2005, the Company entered into two forward starting swaps in order to hedge the change in cash flows associated with interest payments generated by
the forecasted future issuance of long-term debt (expected to be issued between March 1, 2006 and December 31, 2006). These transactions qualify as cash
flow hedges in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for derivatives. The changes in the fair value of the forward starting swaps are expected to be
highly effective in offsetting changes in the future cash flows (i.e., changes in interest payments) attributable to fluctuations in the benchmark LIBOR swap
curve interest rates. The swaps have a combined notional value of $500 million.

At December 31, 2005, and during the year then ended, the cash flow hedges did not experience any ineffectiveness. Based on the Company’s assessment, the
cash flow hedges remain effective. As a result, at December 31, 2005, the Company recorded a liability of $.5 million (representing the fair value of the
forward starting swaps), a charge to accumulated other comprehensive income of $.3 million, and a deferred tax asset of $.2 million. Subsequent to the
issuance of the forecasted future debt, any balance remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income will be amortized or accreted into earnings.
In December 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on $200 million of its senior notes to a variable
rate of three-month LIBOR plus 254.0 basis points. In December 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of
8.5% on $350 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus 159.5 basis points. Based on the terms of the swap agreements, they
qualified as fair value hedges. In May 2005, the Company sold both of these interest rate swap agreements. At the time of the sale of the interest rate swap
agreements, the cumulative fair value adjustment of the debt on the balance sheet was a gain of $7.8 million. As a result of the sale, the cumulative fair value
adjustment will be amortized as a reduction of interest expense over the remaining life of the applicable senior notes.

16. Dividend Restrictions and Statutory Surplus
The Company’s business operations are conducted through subsidiaries that principally consist of HMOs and insurance companies. In addition to general
state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are
subject to further regulations that, among other things, may require such companies to maintain certain levels of equity, and restrict the amount of dividends
and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. These regulations generally are not directly applicable to Aetna, as a holding company,
since it is not an HMO or insurance company. The additional regulations applicable to Aetna’s HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are not expected to
affect Aetna’s ability to service its debt or to pay dividends or the ability of any Aetna subsidiary to service its debt or other financing obligations.

Under regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that may be paid during 2006 to Aetna by its insurance and HMO subsidiaries without prior
approval by regulatory authorities as calculated at December 31, 2005 is approximately $1.2 billion in the aggregate. There are no such restrictions on
distributions from Aetna to its shareholders.
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The combined statutory net income for the years ended and combined statutory capital and surplus as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the insurance
and HMO subsidiaries of the Company, were as follows:
(Millions)

Statutory net income
Statutory capital and surplus

2005

2004

2003

$1,568.3
4,547.3

$1,276.6
4,001.6

$1,084.5
3,902.2

17. Reinsurance
The Company utilizes reinsurance agreements primarily to facilitate the acquisition or disposition of certain insurance contracts. These reinsurance agreements
permit recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge the Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the risks reinsured.
Failure of reinsurers to indemnify the Company could result in losses, however, management does not expect charges for unrecoverable reinsurance to have a
material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of its reinsurers. As of December 31, 2005,
reinsurance recoverables consisted primarily of amounts due from third parties that maintain independent agency ratings that are consistent with those
companies that are considered to have a strong ability to meet their obligations.
Earned premiums for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
Ceded to
Other
Companies

Assumed
from Other
Companies

$

—
8.8
62.1
70.9

$

Life Insurance
Total premiums

$ 11,640.8
5,609.8
1,482.2
$ 18,732.8

2004 (1)
Accident and Health Insurance-HMO (2)
Accident and Health Insurance-Other (3)

$ 10,894.6
4,361.9

$

—
8.8
79.0
87.8

$

—

$

(Millions)

2005 (1)
Accident and Health Insurance-HMO (2)
Accident and Health Insurance-Other (3)

Direct
Amount

$

1,408.4

Life Insurance
Total premiums

$16,664.9

$

2003 (1)
Accident and Health Insurance-HMO (2)
Accident and Health Insurance-Other (3)
Life Insurance
Total premiums

$ 10,053.2
3,519.3
1,360.3
$ 14,932.8

$

$ 11,640.8
5,758.5
1,528.4
$ 18,927.7

—%
2.7
7.1

—
13.6
86.0
99.6

$ 10,894.6
4,366.7
1,415.4
$16,676.7

—%

.1

$ 10,053.3
3,542.6
1,308.1
$ 14,904.0

108.3

$ 265.8

$

14.1

115.1
$ 129.2

—
157.5

37.4

62.9
$

Net
Amount

Percentage
of Amount
Assumed
to Net

100.4

(1)

Excludes intercompany transactions.

(2)

Includes Commercial HMO (includes premiums related to POS members who access primary care physicians and referred care through an HMO
Network), Medicare HMO and Medicaid HMO business.

(3)

Includes all other medical, dental and Group Insurance products offered by the Company, except life insurance and HMO products.

1.4%

.3

6.1
.6%
—%
1.1
4.8

.6%

Effective November 1, 1999, the Company reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to paid-up group life insurance. Effective
October 1, 1998, the Company reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to individual life insurance (in conjunction with Aetna’s
former parent company’s sale of this business). These transactions were in the form of indemnity reinsurance arrangements, whereby the assuming
companies contractually assumed certain policyholder liabilities and obligations, although the Company remains directly obligated to policyholders. The
liability related to the Company’s obligation is recorded in future policy benefits and policyholders’ funds on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assets related
to and supporting these policies were transferred to the assuming companies, and the Company recorded a reinsurance recoverable. Reinsurance recoverables
related to these obligations were approximately $1.1 billion at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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There is not a material difference between premiums on a written basis versus an earned basis. Reinsurance recoveries were approximately $72 million,
$85 million and $96 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At December 31, 2005, reinsurance recoverables with a carrying value of approximately
$1.1 billion were associated with three reinsurers.

18. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company, certain other carriers and the New York State Insurance Department entered into an agreement as to
the Company’s participation in the New York State Market Stabilization Pool under New York Regulation 146 (“Regulation 146”) for the years 1999 through
2004. Regulation 146 requires all carriers with small group and/or individual business in New York State to participate in a market stabilization pooling
mechanism under which carriers that experience higher than average cost factors in providing services to members with specified medical conditions receive
payments from the pool, and carriers that experience lower than average cost factors make payments to the pool. From 1999 through 2004, in the absence of
any pool data regarding relative average cost factors of the carriers doing business in New York State, the Company made provisions for its estimate of
liabilities incurred in this pool based on discussions with the New York State Insurance Department and historical experience. As of December 31, 2004, the
Company had recorded reserves (included in health care costs payable) of approximately $89 million based on these estimates.

In June 2005, the Company and other carriers participating in the pool, along with the New York State Insurance Department, entered into an agreement that
modified the mechanism by which the amounts due to (or receivable from) the pool were to be settled. Under this agreement, the Company was a net receiver of
approximately $14 million in cash from the pool in satisfaction of all of the Company’s remaining obligations relating to the pool for the years 1999 through
2004. Accordingly, in 2005, the Company released the $89 million liability recorded as of December 31, 2004, resulting in a $103 million pretax reduction in
health care costs in 2005. This agreement also eliminates any further payment obligation of the Company for 2005. The New York State Insurance
Department intends to propose a new pooling mechanism for years subsequent to 2005.

Guarantees
The Company has the following guarantee arrangements as of December 31, 2005.

Mortgage-Backed Securities Obligation — In June of 1992, the Company securitized 98 apartment mortgage loans totaling $325 million into 21 FNMA
(“Fannie Mae”) mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”). The Company subsequently sold those MBSs for cash. Fannie Mae required that the Company continue
to retain a portion of the risk of default of the underlying loans, and therefore the Company guaranteed the first $59 million of such losses. As of
December 2005, $18 million of the original mortgage loans were outstanding, and the Company’s guarantee was reduced to the first $19 million of losses.
Therefore, the maximum exposure the Company had on its guarantee to Fannie Mae for loans default, as of December 31, 2005 was $18 million. The
Company has no recourse for this guarantee.

ASC Claim Funding Accounts — The Company has arrangements with certain banks for the processing of claim payments for its ASC customers. The
banks maintain accounts to fund claims of the Company’s ASC customers. The customer is responsible to fund the amount paid by the bank each day. In
these arrangements, the Company guarantees that the banks will not sustain losses if the responsible ASC customer does not properly fund its account. The
aggregate maximum exposure under these arrangements is $250 million. The Company could limit its exposure to this guarantee by suspending the payment
of claims for ASC customers that have not adequately funded the amount paid by the bank.
Indemnification Agreements - In connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions of assets and/or businesses, the Company has incurred certain
customary indemnification obligations to the applicable seller or purchaser, respectively. In general, the Company has agreed to indemnify the other party for
certain losses relating to the assets or business that the Company purchased or sold. Certain portions of the Company’s indemnification obligations are capped
at the applicable purchase price, while other arrangements are not subject to such a limit. As of December 31, 2005, the Company does not believe that its
future obligations under any of these agreements will be material to the Company.
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Separate Account assets – Certain Separate Account assets associated with the Large Case Pensions business represent funds maintained as a contractual
requirement to fund specific pension annuities that are guaranteed by the Company. Contractual obligations in these Separate Accounts were $3.9 billion and
$4.1 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Refer to Note 2 for additional information on Separate Accounts. Contract holders assume all
investment and mortality risk and are required to maintain Separate Account balances at or above a specified level. The level of required funds is a function of
the risk underlying the Separate Accounts’ investment strategy. If contract holders do not maintain the required level of Separate Account assets to meet the
annuity guarantees, the Company would establish an additional liability. Contract holders’ balances in the Separate Accounts exceeded the value of the
guaranteed benefit obligation; hence, the Company was not required to maintain an additional liability for its guarantees.

Guaranty Fund Assessments, Market Stabilization and Other Non-Voluntary Risk Sharing Pools
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain obligations of
insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to the Company’s premiums in the state
compared to the premiums of other insurers. Certain states allow recoverability of assessments as offsets to premium taxes. While the Company has
historically recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments
could jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs. HMOs in certain states in which the Company does
business are subject to assessments, including market stabilization and other risk sharing pools for which the Company is assessed charges based on
incurred claims, demographic membership mix and other factors. The Company establishes liabilities for these assessments based on applicable laws and
regulations. In certain states, the ultimate assessments to be paid by the Company are dependent upon the Company’s experience relative to other entities
subject to the assessment and the ultimate liability is not known at the balance sheet date. While the ultimate amount of the assessment is dependent upon the
experience of all pool participants, the Company believes it has adequate reserves to cover such assessments.
Litigation

Managed Care Class Action Litigation
From 1999 through early 2003, the Company was involved in purported class action lawsuits as part of a wave of similar actions targeting the health care
payor industry and, in particular, the conduct of business by managed care companies. These cases, brought on behalf of health care providers (the “Provider
Cases”), alleged generally that the Company and other defendant managed care organizations engaged in coercive behavior or a variety of improper business
practices in dealing with health care providers and conspired with one another regarding this purported wrongful conduct.
Effective May 21, 2003, the Company and representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies entered into an agreement (the
“Physician Settlement Agreement”) settling the lead physician Provider Case, which was pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of Florida (the “Florida Federal Court”). The Company believes that the Physician Settlement Agreement, which has received final court approval, resolved all
then pending Provider Cases filed on behalf of physicians that did not opt out of the settlement. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a
charge of $75 million ($115 million pretax) (included in other operating expenses) in connection with the Physician Settlement Agreement, net of an estimated
insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax. The Company believes its insurance policies with its third party insurance carriers apply to this matter and is
vigorously pursuing recovery from those carriers. The Company has not received any insurance recoveries as of December 31, 2005. The Company continues
to work with plaintiffs’ representatives in implementing the Physician Settlement Agreement and the issues that may arise thereunder.

Several Provider Cases filed in 2003 on behalf of purported classes of chiropractors and/or all non-physician health care providers also make factual and legal
allegations similar to those contained in the other Provider Cases, including allegations of violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
Act. These Provider Cases seek various forms of relief, including unspecified damages, treble damages, punitive damages and injunctive relief. These
Provider Cases have been transferred to the Florida Federal Court for consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Company intends to defend each of these cases
vigorously.
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Insurance Industry Brokerage Practices Matters
The Company has received subpoenas and other requests for information from the New York Attorney General, the Connecticut Attorney General, other
attorneys general and various insurance and other regulators with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices,
including broker compensation arrangements, bid quoting practices and potential antitrust violations. The Company may receive additional subpoenas and
requests for information from these attorneys general and regulators. The Company is cooperating with these inquiries.

In connection with this industry wide review, the Company may receive additional subpoenas and requests for information from other attorneys general and
other regulators, and the Company could be named in related litigation.

Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings
The Company is involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business operations, including employment
litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with state regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely pay medical
claims, investment activities, intellectual property and other litigation in its Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or
are purported to be class actions. The Company intends to defend these matters vigorously.
In addition, the Company’s current and past business practices are subject to review by, and the Company from time to time receives subpoenas and other
requests for information from, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities and other state and federal authorities. There also continues to be
heightened review by regulatory authorities of the managed health care industry’s business practices, including utilization management, delegated arrangements
and claim payment practices. As a leading national managed care organization, the Company regularly is the subject of such reviews. These reviews may
result, and have resulted, in changes to or clarifications of the Company’s business practices, as well as fines, penalties or other sanctions.
The Company is unable to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of the remaining Provider Cases, the insurance industry brokerage practices investigations
or other litigation and regulatory proceedings, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to the Company.
Other Obligations

The Company has operating leases for office space and certain computer and other equipment. Rental expenses for these items were $156 million,
$174 million and $166 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The future net minimum payments under noncancelable leases for 2006 through 2010
are estimated to be $160 million, $134 million, $110 million, $87 million and $60 million, respectively.

The Company also has funding obligations relating to equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage loans. The funding requirements for
equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage loans for 2006 through 2010 are estimated to be $120 million, $60 million, $40 million,
$16 million and $16 million, respectively.
Page 80

19. Segment Information
Summarized financial information for the Company’s principal operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
Health

Care

(Millions)

2005
Revenue from external customers (1)

Net investment income
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization expense
Income taxes (benefits)
Operating earnings (loss) (2)
Segment assets (3)

$ 19,310.5
295.0
—
204.4

859.6
1,486.9
15,389.6

Group
Insurance

$ 1,835.3
293.1
—
—
52.2
129.7
5,887.2

Large Case
Pensions

$

210.8
514.9
—
—

Corporate
Interest

$

—
—
122.8
—
(43.0)

44.1
33.2

(79.8)
—

23,087.8

Total
Company

$21,356.6
1,103.0

122.8
204.4

912.9
1,570.0
44,364.6

2004
Revenue from external customers (1)

$ 16,914.4
$1,655.5
$
200.9
$
—
$ 18,770.8
Net investment income
262.1
274.1
526.3
—
1,062.5
Interest expense
—
—
—
104.7
104.7
Depreciation and amortization expense
182.2
—
—
—
182.2
Income taxes (benefits)
639.5
59.7
21.3
(36.7)
683.8
Operating earnings (loss) (2)
1,079.4
126.5
31.3
(68.0)
1,169.2
Segment assets (3)
14,684.7
5,322.6
22,126.4
—
42,133.7
2003
Revenue from external customers (1)
$ 15,098.1
$ 1,541.6
$ 176.5
$
—
$16,816.2
Net investment income
244.6
268.7
581.7
—
1,095.0
Interest expense
—
—
—
102.9
102.9
Depreciation and amortization expense
199.6
—
—
—
199.6
Income taxes (benefits)
461.5
61.2
21.1
(36.0)
507.8
Operating earnings (loss) (2)
862.4
134.8
36.5
(66.9)
966.8
Segment assets (3)
14,302.9
5,251.5
21,395.8
—
40,950.2
(1)
Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government) amounting to 9.8%, 9.9% and 10.1% of
total revenue from external customers for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These revenues were generated in the Health
Care and Group Insurance segments.
(2)

Operating earnings (loss) excludes net realized capital gains or losses and the other items described in the reconciliation below.

(3)

Large Case Pensions assets include $5.1 billion, $5.4 billion and $5.2 billion attributable to discontinued products at December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively (excluding the receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products which is eliminated in consolidation).

A reconciliation of operating earnings to income from continuing operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was as follows:
(Millions)

Operating earnings
Net realized capital gains, net of tax
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Other item (2)
Income from continuing operations
(1)

(2)

2005

2004

2003

$ 1,570.0
21.1

$1,169.2
45.9
—
—
$ 1,215.1

$ 966.8
42.0

—
(75.0)
$ 933.8
Refer to Note 20 for additional information on the $43.4 million after tax ($66.7 million pretax) reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses in the
Large Case Pensions segment.
(1)

43.4

—
$1,634.5

The other item excluded from operating earnings in 2003 is the $75.0 million after tax charge in the Health Care segment related to the Physician Class
Action Settlement (refer to Note 18 for additional information).
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Revenues from external customers by product for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
(Millions)

Health risk
Health fees and other revenue
Group life
Group disability

2004

2003

$14,862.8
2,051.6
1,229.8

408.1

342.2

$ 13,235.5
1,862.6
1,150.3
318.1
73.2
176.5
$16,816.2

95.0
210.8
$21,356.6

83.5
200.9
(1)
$ 18,770.8
All within the United States, except approximately $6 million, $5 million and $6 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which were derived
from customers in Canada.

Group long-term care
Large case pensions
Total revenue from external customers
(1)

2005

$ 16,924.7
2,385.8
1,332.2

A reconciliation of reportable segment revenues to total revenues included in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was as follows:
(Millions)

Revenue from external customers
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Total revenue

2005

2004

2003

$21,356.6

$ 18,770.8
1,062.5
70.8
$19,904.1

$16,816.2
1,095.0
65.2
$ 17,976.4

1,103.0
32.3

$ 22,491.9

Long-lived assets, all within the United States, were $273 million and $234 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

20. Discontinued Products
The Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium annuities (“SPAs”) and guaranteed investment
contracts (“GICs”)) in 1993. Under the Company’s accounting for these discontinued products, a reserve for anticipated future losses from these products
was established and is reviewed by management quarterly. As long as the reserve continues to represent management’s then best estimate of expected future
losses, results of operations of the discontinued products, including net realized capital gains and losses, are credited/charged to the reserve and do not affect
the Company’s results of operations. The Company’s results of operations would be adversely affected to the extent that future losses on the products are
greater than anticipated and positively affected to the extent future losses are less than anticipated. The current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of
anticipated future losses.
The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss, realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains
or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the
carrying value of assets sold and any other-than-temporary impairments. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality and retirement experience related to
SPAs. A mortality gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant or a beneficiary dies sooner (later) than expected. A retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant
retires later (earlier) than expected.
At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the net present value of the anticipated cash flow
shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. The
offsetting payable, on which interest is similarly accrued, is reflected in continuing products. Interest on the payable generally offsets the investment income on
the assets available to fund the shortfall. At December 31, 2005, the receivable from continuing products, net of related deferred taxes payable of $127 million
on the accrued interest income, was $372 million. At December 31, 2004, the receivable from continuing products, net of the related deferred taxes payable of
$116 million on the accrued interest income, was $395 million. These amounts were eliminated in consolidation.
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Results of discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows (pretax):

Results

(Millions)

Charged (Credited)
to Reserve for
Future Losses

Net (1)

2005

$ 324.2
22.0
30.6
16.3
393.1

Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products
Other revenue
Total revenue
Current and future benefits
Operating expenses
Total benefits and expenses
Results of discontinued products

$

—
—
(22.0)

342.8

11.2
354.0

$

—
(22.0)

39.1

$

$ 320.6
37.5

$

17.1
—
17.1
(39.1)

$ 324.2
—
30.6
16.3
371.1
359.9
11.2
371.1
$
—

2004

Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products
Other revenue
Total revenue
Current and future benefits
Operating expenses
Total benefits and expenses
Results of discontinued products

30.2

24.8
413.1

356.1
13.0

369.1
$

2003
Net investment income
Net realized capital gains
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products
Other revenue
Total revenue
Current and future benefits
Operating expenses
Total benefits and expenses
Results of discontinued products
(1)

44.0

$

$ 334.6
111.3
28.3
36.9
511.1

$

—
(37.5)
—
—
(37.5)
6.5
—
6.5
(44.0)

$ 320.6
—
30.2

24.8

375.6
362.6
13.0

375.6
$
—

—
$ 334.6
(111.3)
—
—
28.3
—
36.9
(111.3)
399.8
373.1
21.6
394.7
5.1
—
5.1
378.2
21.6
399.8
$ 132.9
$
(132.9)
$
—
Amounts are reflected in the 2005, 2004 and 2003 Consolidated Statements of Income, except for interest earned on the receivable from continuing
products, which was eliminated in consolidation.

Net realized capital gains from the sale of bonds supporting discontinued products were $10 million, $20 million and $83 million (pretax) for 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.
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Assets and liabilities supporting discontinued products at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

(1)

(Millions)

Assets:
Debt securities available for sale
Equity securities available for sale
Mortgage loans
Investment real estate
Loaned securities
Other investments (2)
Total investments
Collateral received under securities loan agreements
Current and deferred income taxes
Receivable from continuing products (3)
Total assets
Liabilities:
Future policy benefits
Policyholders’ funds
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
(1)
Assets supporting the discontinued products are distinguished from assets supporting continuing products.

2005

2004

$ 3,032.3

$ 3,383.6
57.2
560.3
114.8
322.8
514.4
4,953.1
329.6
120.8
511.6
$5,915.1

43.1

644.9
103.6
289.3
603.3

4,716.5
295.4
88.9
498.8
$5,599.6
$ 3,908.4
23.5
1,052.2
295.4
320.1

$5,599.6

(2)

Includes debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $21.3 million and $20.9 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. These securities are considered restricted assets and were included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(3)

The receivable from continuing products is eliminated in consolidation.

$ 4,065.6
24.0

1,079.8
329.6
416.1
$5,915.1

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, net unrealized capital gains on available-for-sale debt securities are included above in other liabilities and are not reflected in
consolidated shareholders’ equity. The reserve for anticipated future losses is included in future policy benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-free rate of return at the time of discontinuance,
consistent with the duration of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash
flows expected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future losses requires projection of
both the amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next 30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results,
participant withdrawal and mortality rates and the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have been no significant changes to the
assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the projection of the amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and performance of mortgage loans and real estate.
Mortgage loan cash flow assumptions represent management’s best estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon
market conditions at each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most recent forecasts available. Since
1997, a bond default assumption has been included to reflect historical default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall
investment portfolio and reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with the decline in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate portfolios.

The previous years’ actual participant withdrawal experience is used for the current year assumption. Prior to 1995, the Company used the 1983 Group
Annuitant Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries (the “Society”). In 1995, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality
table which the Company has used since then.
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The Company’s assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual investment and general expenses allocated over invested
assets.

The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was as follows
(pretax):
2005

(Millions)

$1,079.8
12.4
22.0

Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, beginning of period
Operating income (loss)
Net realized capital gains
Mortality and other
Reserve reduction
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, end of period

4.7

(66.7)
$1,052.2

2003

2004

$ 1,035.8
(6.6)
37.5
13.1
—
$1,079.8

$ 902.9
(3.3)
111.3
24.9
—
$1,035.8

Management reviews the adequacy of the discontinued products reserve quarterly and, as a result, $67 million ($43 million after tax) of the reserve was
released in 2005, primarily due to favorable investment performance and favorable mortality and retirement experience compared to prior assumptions. The
reserve was found to be adequate and no release or charge was required during 2004 and 2003. The current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of
anticipated future losses.

The anticipated run-off of the discontinued products reserve balance as of December 31, 2005 (assuming that assets are held until maturity and that the
reserve run-off is proportional to the liability run-off) is as follows:
(Millions)

$

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011-2015
2016-2020
2021-2025
2026-2030
Thereafter

41.4

41.5
41.8
42.0
42.0

206.0
184.4
149.7
113.9
189.5

The liability expected as of December 31, 1993 and actual liability balances as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the GIC and SPA liabilities are as
follows:
Actual

Expected
(Millions)

$

2003
2004

2005

GIC

SPA

51.7
31.8

$3,984.7
3,849.1
3,708.6

30.0

$

GIC

SPA

35.2

$ 4,217.9
4,065.6
3,908.4

24.0

23.5

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period because several contract holders redeemed their contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA
balances in each period were higher than expected because of additional amounts received under existing contracts.
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21. Discontinued Operations
On July 8, 2004, the Company was notified that the Joint Committee approved a tax refund of approximately $740 million, including interest, relating to
businesses that were sold in the 1990s by Aetna’s former parent company. Also in 2004, the Company filed for, and was approved for, an additional
$35 million tax refund related to other businesses that were sold by Aetna’s former parent company. The tax refunds were recorded as income from
discontinued operations in 2004. The Joint Committee approval also finalizes the IRS’s audits of the Company’s tax returns for the years 1991 through 2001.
In 2004, the Company also finalized the IRS’s audits of the Company’s tax returns for the years 1984 through 1990. As a result of the resolution of these
audits, the Company recorded favorable adjustments of approximately $255 million to existing tax liabilities in 2004 as income from discontinued operations,
for a total of $1.03 billion of income. The Company received approximately $666 million of the tax refunds during 2004, $69 million in 2005 and the
remainder in February 2006.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of Aetna Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”). The internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting process includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositions of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, management
assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment,
management used the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “ Internal Control – Integrated
Framework .” Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2005. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting has been audited by
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report which is included herein. KPMG LLP has also audited the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, which report is also included herein.

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the consolidated financial statements of the Company, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Management
believes the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of and for the periods presented in this report.

The financial statements are the product of a number of processes that include the gathering of financial data developed from the records of the Company’s
day-to-day business transactions. Informed judgments and estimates are used for those transactions not yet complete or for which the ultimate effects cannot be
measured precisely. The Company emphasizes the selection and training of personnel who are qualified to perform these functions. In addition, Company
personnel are subject to rigorous standards of ethical conduct that are widely communicated throughout the organization.

The Company’s Audit Committee engages KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, to audit the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and express their opinion thereon. Members of that firm also have the right of full access to each member of management in conducting their audits.
The report of KPMG LLP on their audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements appears below.

Audit Committee Oversight
The Company’s Audit Committee is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors
and KPMG LLP to oversee and monitor the work of each and to inquire of each as to their assessment of the performance of the others in their work relating to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting. Both KPMG LLP and the Company’s internal auditors have, at
all times, the right of full access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss any matter they believe should be brought to the attention of
the Audit Committee.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aetna Inc.:
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Aetna Inc.
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Aetna Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Aetna Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Aetna Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 1, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aetna Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Aetna Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Aetna Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2006
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Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
(Millions, except per common share data)

$5,426.9
$ 662.4

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

$

Per common share results: (1)
Net income
Basic
Diluted
Common stock data:
Dividends declared
Common stock prices, high
Common stock prices, low

$

$

2004
Total revenue

$5,496.9
$ 637.2
(227.5)
$ 409.7

$ 5,700.7
$ 588.6

.72
.69

$

$

—
38.67
29.93

$

(238.4)
424.0

$ 4,821.3
$ 510.6

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income

(184.8)
40.0(2)

$

Third

Second

First

2005
Total revenue

365.8

.70

$

.68
—
43.24
33.70

$ 4,875.0
$ 447.7
(161.4)
—
$ 286.3

$

(210.8)
377.8

Fourth

$5,867.4
$ 659.2
(236.2)
$ 423.0

.65
.63

$

.02
43.31
37.14

$

$5,039.5
$ 471.7
(169.4)
990.0(2)
$ 1,292.3

.74

.71
—
49.68
40.00

$5,168.3
$ 468.9
(168.2)
—
$ 300.7

Per common share results: (1)
Net income
Basic
$
.59
$
.47
$
2.14
$
.51
Diluted
.57
.45
2.05
.49
Common stock data:
Dividends declared
$
—
$
—
$
.01
$
—
Common stock prices, high
22.48
23.68
24.98
31.72
Common stock prices, low
16.50
19.44
19.75
20.82
(1)
Calculation of the earnings per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each quarter and, accordingly, the sum may not equal the
total for the year.
(2)

Income from discontinued operations of $40 million and $990 million for the first and third quarters of 2004, respectively, related to the completion of
certain Internal Revenue Service audits associated with businesses previously sold. (Refer to Note 21 for additional information).
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Aetna Inc.
Listed below are subsidiaries of Aetna Inc. as of December 31, 2005 with their jurisdictions of organization shown in parentheses. Those subsidiaries not
listed would not, in the aggregate, constitute a “significant subsidiary” of Aetna Inc., as that term is defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.
Aetna Inc. (Pennsylvania)

Aetna Health Holdings, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Arizona)
o
Aetna Health of California, Inc. (California)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Colorado)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Connecticut)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Delaware)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Florida)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Georgia)
o
Aetna Health of Illinois Inc. (Illinois)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Louisiana)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Maryland)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Massachusetts)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Michigan)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Missouri)
o
Aetna Health Inc (New Hampshire)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (New Jersey)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (New York)
o
Aetna Health of the Carolinas Inc. (North Carolina)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Ohio)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Oklahoma)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Pennsylvania)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Tennessee)
o
Aetna Health Inc. (Texas)
o
AET Health Care Plan, Inc. (Texas)
o
Aetna Family Plans of Georgia Inc. (Georgia)
o
Aetna Family Plans of Ohio Inc. (Ohio)
o
Aetna Family Plans of Pennsylvania Inc. (Pennsylvania)
o
Aetna Dental of California Inc. (California)
o
Aetna Dental Inc. (New Jersey)
o
Aetna Dental Inc. (Texas)
o
Aetna RX Home Delivery, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Health Management, LLC (Delaware)
o
NYLCare Health Plans, Inc. (Delaware)
- Aetna Health Inc. (Washington)
- Aetna Health Inc. (Maryland)
- Aetna Health Inc. (Maine)
- NYLCare of New England, Inc. (Delaware)
- Sanus of New York and New Jersey, Inc. (New York)
o
Chickering Claims Administrators, Inc. (Massachusetts)
o
Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC (Delaware)
o
AET Health Care Plan of California, Inc. (California)
o
Aetna Dental Maintenance Organization, Inc. (Texas)
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o

o
o
o



HMS Healthcare, Inc. (Delaware)
Sloan’s Lake Management Corp (Colorado)

Sloans Lake Managed Care, Inc. (Colorado)

PPOM, L.L.C. (Delaware)
Mountain Medical Affiliates, Inc. (Colorado)

Benchmark Physicians, Inc. (Colorado)
HMS Colorado, Inc. (Delaware)
Strategic Resource Company (South Carolina)
Chickering Benefit Planning Insurance Agency, Inc. (Massachusetts)
Provider Networks of America, Inc. (Delaware)

Aetna Life Insurance Company (Connecticut)
o
CMBS Holdings, L.L.C. (Connecticut)
o
AHP Holdings, L.L.C. (Delaware)
Aetna Insurance Company of Connecticut (Connecticut)
CMBS Holdings, Inc. (Texas)
CMBS Holdings, Inc. – II (Connecticut)
Aetna Affordable Housing, Inc. (Connecticut)
AE Fourteen, Incorporated (Connecticut)
Aetna Life Assignment Company (Connecticut)
Aetna/Area Corporation (Connecticut)
Bentana Technologies, Inc. (Connecticut)
o
PE Holdings, LLC (Connecticut)
o
Tanker Six, LLC (Delaware)
o
Azalea Mall, L.L.C. (Delaware)
o
BPC Equity, Inc. (Delaware)
o
BPC Equity, LLC (Delaware)
o
Canal Place, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Ventures, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Government Health Plans, LLC (Delaware)
o
Trumbull One, Inc. (Connecticut)
o
Trumbull Four, Inc. (Connecticut)
o
Aetna Health Administrators, LLC (Pennsylvania)
o
Commercial Avenue and First Street Investors LLC (Delaware)
o
Montebello Town Center Investors LLC (Delaware)
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Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Behavioral Health of Delaware, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Health Information Solutions, Inc. (Delaware)
o
@Credentials Inc. (Delaware)
o
U.S. Healthcare Properties, Inc. (Pennsylvania)
o
Aetna InteliHealth Inc. (Delaware)
o
Integrated Pharmacy Solutions, Inc. (Florida)
o
Aetna Capital Management, LLC (Delaware)
- Aetna Partners Diversified Fund, LLC (Delaware)
- Aetna Partners Diversified Fund (Cayman), Limited (Cayman)
o
Bentana Technologies, Inc. (Connecticut)
o
Aetna Workers’ Comp Access, LLC (Delaware)
o
Aetna Behavioral Health, LLC (Delaware)
o
Managed Care Coordinators, Inc. (Delaware)
o
Aetna Integrated Informatics, Inc. (Pennsylvania)



Aetna Health and Life Insurance Company (Connecticut)



Corporate Health Insurance Company (Pennsylvania)



Aetna Health Insurance Company of New York (New York)



Aetna Risk Indemnity Company Limited (Bermuda)



Aelan Inc. (Connecticut)
o
Aetna Life & Casualty (Bermuda) Limited (Bermuda)



AUSHC Holdings, Inc. (Connecticut)
o
PHPSNE Parent Corporation (Delaware)



Active Health Management, Inc. (Delaware)
o
Health Cost Consultants, Inc. (Delaware)
o
Health Data & Management Solutions, Inc. (Delaware)



Aetna Criterion Communications, Inc. (Delaware)



ASI Wings, L.L.C. (Delaware)



Luettgens Limited (Connecticut)
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Aetna Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-54046 and 333-130126) on Form S-3 and the registration statements
(No. 333-52120, 52122, 52124, 73052, 87722, 87726, 124619, 124620) on Form S-8 of Aetna Inc. of our reports dated March 1, 2006 with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and the related financial statement schedule, management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, which reports appear in the December 31, 2005, Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2006

Exhibit 24.1
Power of Attorney
We, the undersigned Directors of Aetna Inc. (the “Company”), hereby severally constitute and appoint Alan M. Bennett, Ronald M. Olejniczak, and
Christopher M. Todoroff, and each of them individually, our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, with full power to them and each of them to sign for us, and in
our names and in the capacities indicated below, the Company’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by
our said attorneys to such Form 10-K and to any and all amendments thereto.

Dated as of February 24, 2006
/s/ Betsy Z. Cohen
Betsy Z. Cohen, Director

/s/ Michael H. Jordan
Michael H. Jordan, Director

/s/ Molly J. Coye, M.D.
Molly J. Coye, M.D., Director

/s/ Edward J. Ludwig
Edward J. Ludwig, Director

/s/Barbara Hackman Franklin
Barbara Hackman Franklin, Director

/s/ Joseph P. Newhouse
Joseph P. Newhouse, Director

/s/ Jeffrey E. Garten
Jeffrey E. Garten, Director

Earl G. Graves, Director
/s/ Gerald Greenwald
Gerald Greenwald, Director

/s/ Ellen M. Hancock
Ellen M. Hancock, Director

Exhibit 31.1
Certification

I, Ronald A. Williams, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2006

/s/ Ronald A. Williams
Ronald A. Williams
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 31.2
Certification
I, Alan M. Bennett, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2006

/s/ Alan M. Bennett
Alan M. Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Certification
The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna
Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”) solely for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Ronald A. Williams, the Chief Executive Officer of Aetna Inc., certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act; and
2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Aetna Inc.
Date: March 1, 2006

/s/ Ronald A. Williams
Ronald A. Williams
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 32.2
Certification
The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna
Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”) solely for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Alan M. Bennett, the Chief Financial Officer of Aetna Inc., certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act; and
2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Aetna Inc.
Date: March 1, 2006

/s/ Alan M. Bennett
Alan M. Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

